Geographia Technica



Technical Geography an International Journal for the Progress of Scientific Geography

Volume 13, Geographia Technica No. 2/2018

www.technicalgeography.org

Cluj University Press

Editorial Board

Okke Batelaan, Flinders University Adelaide, Australia Yazidhi Bamutaze, Makerere University, Kampala, Uganda Valerio Baiocchi. Sapienza University of Rome. Italy Gabriela Biali, "Gh. Asachi" University of Iasi, Romania Habib Ben Boubaker, University of Manouba, Tunisia Gino Dardanelli, University of Palermo, Italy Ioan Donisa, "Al.I.Cuza" University of Iasi, Romania Qingyun Du, Wuhan University, China Massimiliano Fazzini, University of Ferrara, Italy Oleg Horian, Agrarian State University, Republic of Moldova Edward Jackiewicz. California State University. Northridge CA. USA Shadrack Kithiia, University of Nairobi, Kenya Jaromir Koleika, Masaryk University Brno, Czech Republic Muh Aris Marfai, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia Béla Márkus, University of West Hungary Szekesfehervar, Hungary Jean-Luc Mercier, Université de Strasbourg, France Yuri Sandoval Montes, Universidad Mayor de San Andrés, La Paz, Bolivia Maria Nedealcov, Inst. of Ecology-Geography, Republic of Moldova Dušan Petrovič, University of Lujubjana, Slovenia Hervé Quénol. Université de Rennes 2 et CNRS. France Marieta Staneva. Pennsvlvania State University. USA Wayan Suparta Pembangunan Jaya University, Indonesia Gábor Timár, Eötvös University Budapest, Hungary Eugen Ursu, Université de Bordeaux, France Changshan Wu, University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, USA Chong-yu Xu, University of Oslo, Norway

Editor-in-chief

Ionel Haidu, University of Lorraine, France

Editorial Secretary

Marcel Mateescu, Airbus Group Toulouse, France George Costea, Yardi Systemes, Cluj-Napoca, Romania

Online Publishing

Magyari-Sáska Zsolt, "Babes-Bolyai" University of Cluj-Napoca, Romania

Geographia Technica



Technical Geography

an International Journal for the Progress of Scientific Geography

2018 – No. 2

Cluj University Press

ISSN: 1842 - 5135 (Printed version) ISSN: 2065 - 4421 (Online version)

© 2018. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission from the editor.

Babeş-Bolyai University Cluj University Press Director: Codruța Săcelean Str. Hașdeu nr. 51 400371 Cluj-Napoca, România Tel./fax: (+40)-264-597.401 E-mail: editura@editura.ubbcluj.ro http://www.editura.ubbcluj.ro/

Asociatia Geographia Technica 2, Prunilor Street 400334 Cluj-Napoca, România Tel. +40 744 238093 editorial-secretary@technicalgeography.org http://technicalgeography.org/

Cluj University Press and Asociatia Geographia Technica assume no responsibility for material, manuscript, photographs or artwork.

Contents

Geographia Technica

Volume 13, Issue 1, autumn 2018

An International Journal of Technical Geography ISSN 2065-4421 (Online); ISSN 1842-5135 (printed)

MODELING THE SPATIAL VARIABILITY OF THE ELECTRICAL CONDUCTIVITY OF THE SOIL USING DIFFERENTS SPATIAL INTERPOLATION METHODS: CASE OF THE DAWLING NATIONAL PARK IN MAURITANIA

ROADS ACCESIBILITY TO AGRICULTURAL CROPS USING GIS TECHNOLOGY. METHODOLOGICAL APROACH

A GEOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS OF POST-DISASTER SOCIAL IMPACTS ON A MUNICIPAL SCALE – A CASE STUDY OF A POTENTIAL MAJOR FLOOD IN THE PARIS REGION (FRANCE)

SYNOPTIC PROCESSES GENERATING WINDTHROW. A CASE STUDY FOR APUSENI MOUNTAINS (ROMANIA)

THE INDIAN HIMALAYA`S UNIQUE ATTRIBUTES: HEMKUND SAHIB AND THE VALLEY OF FLOWERS

EMERGENCY RESPONSE DURING DISASTROUS SITUATION IN DENSELY POPULATED URBAN AREAS: A GIS BASED APPROACH

AUTOMATED TOOL FOR THE EXTRACTION OF THE SURFACE PONDS BASED ON LIDAR DATA

PROJECTION OF ANNUAL CROP COEFFICIENTS IN ITALY BASED ON CLIMATE MODELS AND LAND COVER DATA

FLUNETS: A NEW MATLAB-BASED TOOL FOR DRAINAGE NETWORK ORDERING BY HORTON AND HACK HIERARCHIES

Candela	PASTOR-MARTÍN,	Loreto	ANTÓN,	Carlos	FERNÁNDEZ-
GONZÁ	LEZ (Madrid, Spain)				
DOI: 10.	21163/GT_2018.132.09)			

TOURIST FLOWS BETWEEN CENTRAL EUROPEAN METROPOLISES (IN THE CONTEXT OF METROPOLISATION PROCESSES)

Martin ŠAUER, Markéta BOBKOVÁ(Brno, Czech Republic) 125 DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.10

PERCEIVING THE IMPACT OF BROWNFIELDS ON THE REAL ESTATE PRICES: A CASE STUDY FROM FOUR LOCATIONS IN THE CZECH REPUBLIC

DESCENDING MOUNTAIN ROUTES FUTURE: THE NORTH YUNGAS AND FĂGĂRAȘ GEOSYSTEM`S COMPARATIVE STUDY

MODELING THE SPATIAL VARIABILITY OF THE ELECTRICAL CONDUCTIVITY OF THE SOIL USING DIFFERENT SPATIAL INTERPOLATION METHODS: CASE OF THE DAWLING NATIONAL PARK IN MAURITANIA

DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.01

Mohamed Mahmoud Ould ABIDINE^{1,2,3}, Ahmed El ABOUDI¹, Aminetou KEBD², Brahim Baba ALOUEIMINE², Youssef DALLAHI⁴, Ahmedou SOULÉ³, Ahmedou VADEL²

ABSTRACT:

One of the most important indicators for land degradation is the progressive salinization of soils. This work, conducted at the Dawling National Park (southern Mauritania), assess the effects of salinity on soil quality. Analyzes of spatial variation in salinity were performed using interpolation and spatial analysis (GIS) methods. Thus, maps of electrical conductivity have been developed using several methods of interpolation and spatial analysis: Inverse Weighting (IDW), Local Polynomial Interpolation (LPI), Radial Base Function (RBF) and Ordinary Kriging (OK). The obtained results showed that the best estimator is IDW method, which provides a good ability to predict electrical conductivity, with a mean squared error (RMSE) of 0.34 mS/cm and a correlation coefficient (R) of 0.99.

Key-words: Electrical Conductivity, Salinity, Soil, GIS, Interpolation, Diawling National Park, Mauritania.

1. INTRODUCTION

The lower delta of the Senegal River is characterized by the interface between continental and coastal waters. However, these ecosystems are considered the most important in West Africa (Hamerlynck & Cazottes, 1998). This area is home to many unique wetland ecosystems that have been severely disrupted by the droughts of the 1970s and the construction of the anti-salt dam since the 1980s. In addition to the construction of the Diama anti-salt dam in 1986, a formation of many clay dunes with a high salt concentration was observed (Barbiéro et *al.*, 2004; Barbiéro & Caruba, 1998; Hamerlynck, 2000; Ngom et *al.*, 2016). The Diawling National Park (PND) located in the lower delta of the Senegal River was created in 1991 to restore the old flood plains and to preserve the ecosystem values and compensate the negative effects of the Diama dam.

¹ Université Mohammed V, Faculté des Sciences, 1014 Rabat, Maroc, hmd108@yahoo.fr, elaboudi@gmail.com;

²Université de Nouakchott Al Aasriya, Faculté des Sciences et Techniques, 880 Nouakchott, Mauritanie, ahmedou.vadel@yahoo.fr, amikebd@yahoo.fr, ibrahim3933@yahoo.fr;

³Ecole Normale Supérieure, Centre de Recherche pour la Valorisation de la Biodiversité, 990 Nouakchott, Mauritania, ahmdous@yahoo.fr;

⁴ Université Cadi Ayyad, Ecole Normale Supérieure, B.P2400 Marrakech, Maroc, dallahi.youssef@gmail.com.

2

In addition, soil salinization present a common problem in the Senegal River delta (Ngom et al., 2016). It affects plant growth, agricultural productivity, soil and water quality, and increases soil erosion, especially in semi-arid and arid regions(Asfaw et al. 2018; Elgettafi et al. 2011; Elhag, 2016; Yao & Yang, 2010). According to several studies. the phenomenon of salinization can lead to a loss of arable land with soil degradation(Gorji et al. 2017; Sevedmohammadi et al. 2016; Tripathi et al. 2015). The detection, monitoring and mapping of soils affected by salinities have major challenges because of the involvement of certain dynamic processes. Indeed, the spatial variability of electrical conductivity (EC) is an important indicator of soil salinity (Marko et al., 2014; Seyedmohammadi et al., 2016; Tripathi et al., 2015). The interpolation techniques proposed by some geographic information analysis tools are used to model results on a given surface. The accuracy of spatial modeling methods of soil properties has been analyzed in several studies (Saito et al., 2005; Seyedmohammadi et al., 2016; Tripathi et al., 2015; Varouchakis & Hristopulos, 2013). Geostatistical methods have been used in several studies, to estimate electrical conductivity (Bhunia et al., 2018; Friedel, 2006; Khosravi et al., 2016; Seyedmohammadi et al., 2016; Tripathi et al., 2015; Zehtabian et al., 2012). However, it is appropriate to adopt an effective technique to predict the spatial distribution of certain soil characteristics (Emadi & Baghernejad, 2014; Seyedmohammadi et al., 2016; Tripathi et al., 2015; Zarco-Perello & Simões, 2017). The objective of this work is to study the interpolation of the flood basins of the PND in order to evaluate the spatial extent of the zones degraded by soil salinity. Indeed, four interpolation methods will be tested for spatial analysis: IDW, LPI, RBF and OK. In addition, about 100 soil samples were taken from the surface of the PND. A global portable positioning system (GPS) was used to record the coordinates of each sampling point.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Study zone

This study was conducted in the Dawling National Park in southwestern Mauritania. This zone is extended between 16° 35'00"N, 16° 20'00"W and 16° 05'00 N and 16° 30'00"W. It covers an area of 353 km². It is a sub-Sahelian zone with low rainfall (170 mm / year)(Mohamedou et al., 1998) . The park consists of several basins that develop from north to south: Diawling, Bell, Gambar and N'Tiallakh. These basins are surrounded by a coastal dune to the northwest, the dunes Birette and Ziré and the right bank of the Senegal River to the east (**Fig. 1**). The flora of this area is conditioned by the presence of salt and the nature of the soil. The plant cover is marked by species like *Indigofera ablongifolia*, *Iponea*, *Acacia nilotica*, *Sporobulus*, *Tamarix senegalensis*, *Rhizophora mangle*, *Avicennia africana*, *Acacia radiana*, *Balanites aegyptiaca*, *Salvadora persica*, *Mitragyna inermis*, *Zizyphus mauritana*. However, the fauna is represented by common mammals (jackals, warthogs, wildcats, hares, etc.), reptiles (turtles, python, Nile monitor, crocodile), a large variety of birds that coexist according to the season and the salinity of the waters, crabs and mules typical of the river valley.



Fig. 1. Study area and soil sampling sites in the study area located in the DNP, Mauritania.

2.2. Soil sampling and interpolation methods

A sample of 100 soil electrical conductivity values was taken randomly distributed over the study area (**Fig. 1**).Samples were taken from the first 20 cm layer. The coordinates of each sampling point were collected by portable GPS (Garmin 78). The values of the electrical conductivity for each sample were obtained by the diluted extract method(El Oumri & Vieillefon, 1983; Montoroi, 1997). Statistical processing and spatial analysis of field data were performed using SPSS 20 and ArcGIS 10.3 software.

The results of several spatial analysis methods were compared:

IDW

Inverse Distance Weighting (IDW) is one of the interpolation methods used in the field of soil science (Bhunia et *al.*, 2018; Robinson & Metternicht, 2006; Seyedmohammadi et *al.*, 2016). IDW estimates are based on known locations in the vicinity (formula (1)). The weights assigned to the interpolation points are determined by the inverse of the distance from the interpolation point.

$$Z(x_0) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{x_i}{h_{ij}^{\beta}}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{h_{ij}^{\beta}}}$$
(1)

With

Z (x0) is the interpolated value; n represents the total number of sample points; x_i is the measured value, h_{ij} is the separation distance between the interpolated value and the measured value; β indicates the weighting power ($\beta = 2$).

OK

The Ordinary Kriging method is one of the interpolation techniques that is also frequently used (Mousavifard et al., 2013; Poshtmasari et al., 2012). This technique makes it possible to estimate for an area around a sampled point (Pang et *al.*, 2011; Seyedmohammadi et *al.*, 2016; Tripathi et al., 2015). The semivariogram formula is expressed as follows:

$$\gamma(h) = \frac{1}{2N(h)} \sum_{i=1}^{N(h)} [Z(x_i) - Z(x_i + h)]^2$$
⁽²⁾

With

 γ (h) is the semivariance; N (h) is the total number of data pairs separated by a distance; h is the lag distance; Z represents the measured value for soil properties; and x is the position of the soil samples.

Radial basis function (RBF)

This method brings together a series of exact interpolation techniques that involve passing the surface through each evaluated sample value. The RBF function changes according to the distance from a location (Poshtmasari et al., 2012; Seyedmohammadi et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2014). There are five different basic functions: thin-plate spline (TPS), spline with tension (SPT), completely regularized spline (CRS), multi-quadratic function (IMQ)(Bhunia et al., 2018).

Local polynomial interpolation (LPI)

LPI corresponds to the local polynomial obtained by using sampling points in a neighborhood. The interpolation is done by the weighting according to the distance (Baram et al., 2014; Hani and Abari, 2011; Seyedmohammadi et al., 2016). LPI is capable of producing surfaces that capture the short range variation (Bhunia et al., 2018; Johnston, 2004). In addition, it fits the local polynomial using points only within the specified neighborhood instead of all the data(Poshtmasari et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2014)

To compare the interpolation methods, in terms of precision and performance, the interpolated values will be extracted for the 100 sampling sites the interpolated values will be extracted from the 100 sampling sites, then compare with the actual values using the cross-validation procedure. Three performance indicators have been used:

Root Mean Square Error (RMSE): The square root of the arithmetic average of squared deviations between measured and interpolated values (eq. 3).

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - y_i')^2}$$
(3)

The mean absolute error (MAE): the arithmetic mean of the absolute values of the differences between the measured values and those interpolated (eq. 4).

$$MAE = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |y_i - y_i'|$$
(4)

Correlation coefficient (R): the standardization of the covariance by the product of the standard deviations of the variables.

$$R = \sqrt{1 - \left[\frac{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - y_i)^2\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \overline{y_i})^2}\right]}$$
(5)

Where: y_i indicates the measured value; y_i ' is the predicted value, \bar{y}_i is the average of the measured value, and n is the total number of observations.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 1 summarizes the descriptive statistics of the experimental data. We note an average value of the order of 11 ms / cm. However, the measured values show a strong variability in space.

Table 1.

			I					
	Min	Max	average	SD*	CV*	Modal value	Kurtosis	Skewness
EC (ms/Cm)	0,29	64,60	11,48	10,41	0,91	3,01	6,79	2,15

Descriptive statistics of the data used

*SD: Standard Deviation; *CV: Coefficient of Variation

The PND is a special environment, strongly structured under the influence of the arrival of the fresh waters of the Senegal River and the salty waters of the ocean by the action of the tides. The control of the quantities of fresh water by the Dima dam was at the origin of the salinisation phenomena that affected the distribution of biodiversity in the area. Indeed, the nature of the vegetation in this ecosystem is strongly conditioned by the presence of salt (Duvail, 2001). Thus, the disappearance of a forest of *Acacia nilotica* which was located on the Birette dune and on the edge of the floodplains was associated with the increase of the salinity(Taïbi et al., 2007). Also, mangrove forests, a sensitive

habitat, have been reduced under the combination of drought and the dam effect(Duvail, 2001; Taïbi et al., 2007).

As for *Acacia nilotica*, salinization is associated with the decrease in the surfaces of *Sporobolus robustus*, *Nymphea lotus*, plants that support the economic activities of the local population (skin tanning, matting, feeding and medication)(Taïbi et al., 2007). Similarly, fishing has become more difficult in the park today, which has resulted in reduced catches by fishermen and especially south of the park especially in the N'Tiallakh basin (Duvail, 2001; Taïbi et al., 2007). Finally, the waterbirds that frequent the area coexist in the basins of the park according to the salinity of the water(Hamerlynck, 2000).

The evaluation of the prediction capacity of the interpolation methods has been implemented by the calculation of the performance indicators of the modeling (**Table 2**). Indeed, the methods LPI and OK show weak performances, with an error close to 8 and a correlation which remains lower than 0.7. RBF and IDW methods give similar results with respect to the correlation coefficient. Nevertheless, the IDW method shows a better quality of prediction of the electrical conductivity of the soil, with an RMSE of 0.34, a MAE of 0.09 and a correlation coefficient of 0.99 (**Fig. 3**).

Table 2.

Method	R	RMSE	MAE
IDW	0,99	0,34	0,09
LPI	0,65	8,16	4,90
OK	0,59	8,73	5,40
RBF	0,98	1,08	0,41

Parameters for Evaluating Interpolation Performance

The different interpolation methods were used to develop maps of the spatial variation in electrical conductivity (Fig. 2). Areas south and north of the park are characterized by high electrical conductivity compared to other park territories. These areas correspond to the two basins of N'Tiallakh and DiawlingTichilitt. It is noted that the appearance of some points, low conductivity, scattered in these areas, this can be related to the structure of the soil. According to (Duvail, 2001), the salinity phenomena in these basins are greater in magnitude and intensity than in the other basins of the park. This is explained by the effects of the floods. The salty waters from the Atlantic Ocean are responsible for the salinity of the N'Tiallakh basin which is located southwest of the PND and communicates directly with the sea by the N'tiallakh's swamp. Indeed, the electrical conductivity seems to have risen after the closure of the Diama dam. Hamerlynck (1998) postulates that the salinity of the water in these areas fluctuates greatly during the dry season, scenario that was not considered in the development of the park management plan. Other research has shown that the salinity of well water, even those near the riverbed, has been steadily increasing (Davranche & Taïbi, 2015; Taïbi et al., 2007). Also the Diawling Tichilitt basin, located in the North, is flooded by the salt water from the N'Tiallakh basin by Lekser's work. Low salinity is recorded in the center of the study area (Bell Basin). This is explained by the

proximity of the structure allowing the fresh water of the Senegal River to flood this basin during certain months of the year.



Fig. 2. Spatial distribution map of soil EC (mS / cm) by different methods.

Comparing the results obtained by this work with those found by other studies, we can cite (Emadi & Baghernejad, 2014; Karydas et al., 2009; Poshtmasari et al., 2012) who highlighted that the IDW method gives a good prediction of electrical conductivity, with an average error of 0.38 mS/cm. However, Tripathi et al.(2015) selected the OK method as the best interpolation technique for soil salinity, with an average error of about 1.6. The choice



of the OK method was justified by Mohammad et al., 2010 who studied spatial distribution of soil properties by applying interpolation techniques such as IDW and OK.

Fig. 3. Cloud of points representing the values measured according to the values predicted by different methods.

4. CONCLUSION

In this work, we studied the spatial variation of salinity at the Dawling National Park. The evaluation took place on 100 points, using different interpolation techniques. The results obtained showed a high variability of electrical conductivity from one point to another within the study area. The average value is about 11 ms / cm. The highest salinity level has been recorded in areas south and north of the PND. Low EC values were observed in the center of the study area. These fluctuations have been attributed to the processes of floods, and upstream links with the fresh waters of the river and downstream with those of the sea. The calculation of the estimation performance indicators made it possible to select the IDW method as the best interpolation technique adapted to our study area. The mean squared error is in order of 0.34 and the correlation coefficient approximates a value of 0.99.

REFERENCES

- Mohamedou, A. O., Aventurier, A., Barbiero, L., Caruba, R. & Valles, V. (1998) Geochemistry of Clay Dunes and Associated Pan in the Senegal Delta, Mauritania. *Geochem. Clay Dunes*, 265–280.
- Asfaw, E., Suryabhagavan, K.V. & Argaw, M. (2018) Soil salinity modeling and mapping using remote sensing and GIS: The case of Wonji sugar cane irrigation farm, Ethiopia. J. Saudi Soc. Agric. Sci. 17, 250–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2016.05.003.
- Baram, S., Kurtzman, D., Ronen, Z., Peeters, A. & Dahan, O. (2014) Assessing the impact of dairy waste lagoons on groundwater quality using a spatial analysis of vadose zone and groundwater information in a coastal phreatic aquifer. J. Environ. Manage., 132, 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.11.008.
- Barbiéro, L. & Caruba, R. (1998) Influence de la maturation des sols de mangrove sur la déflation éolienne et la formation des dunes argileuses dans le delta du fleuve Sénégal. *Comptes Rendus-Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. 2 Sci. Terre Planetes Fasc. A*, 327, 115–120.
- Barbiéro, L., Mohamedou, A. O., Laperrousaz, C., Furian, S. & Cunnac, S. (2004) Polyphasic origin of salinity in the Senegal delta and middle valley. *Catena*, 58, 101–124.
- Bhunia, G. S., Shit, P. K. & Maiti, R. (2018) Comparison of GIS-based interpolation methods for spatial distribution of soil organic carbon (SOC). J. Saudi Soc. Agric. Sci., 17, 114–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2016.02.001.
- Davranche, A. & Taïbi, A. N. (2015) Les changements d'occupation et d'usage du sol, des processus multidimensionnels complexes qui affectent la biodiversité. L'Harmattan. 2015, 978-2-343-06972-2.
- Duvail, S. (2001) Scenarios hydrologiques et modeles de developpement en aval d'un Grand Barrage : Les usages de l'eau et le partage des ressources dans le delta mauritanien du fleuve Sénégal. Université Louis Pasteur (Strasbourg I).
- El Oumri, M. & Vieillefon, J. (1983) Etude Expérimentale d la Conductivité Electrique Globale des Sols. Appl. À L'Estimation Leur Salin. *Cah ORSTOM Sér Pédol*, 10, 91–108.
- Elgettafi, M., Himi, M., Casas, A. & Elmandour, A. (2011) Hydrochemistry caracterisation of groundwater salinity in kert aquifer, ne Morocco. *Geogr. Tech.* 14 (2), 15-22.
- Elhag, M. (2016) Evaluation of Different Soil Salinity Mapping Using Remote Sensing Techniques in Arid Ecosystems. Saudi Arabia. J. Sens. 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7596175.
- Emadi, M. & Baghernejad, M. (2014) Comparison of spatial interpolation techniques for mapping soil pH and salinity in agricultural coastal areas, northern Iran. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 60, 1315–1327. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2014.880837.
- Friedel, M. J. (2006) Reliability in estimating urban groundwater recharge through the Vadose Zone, in: Urban Groundwater Management and Sustainability. Springer, pp. 169–182.
- Gorji, T., Sertel, E. & Tanik, A. (2017) Monitoring soil salinity via remote sensing technology under data scarce conditions: A case study from Turkey. *Ecol. Indic.* 74, 384–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.11.043.
- Hamerlynck, O. (2000). Restauration du Parc National du Diawling (Mauritanie). In: Groupe d'experts des plaines d'inondation sahéliennes. Vers une gestion durable des plaines d'inondation sahéliennes. UICN, Gland, Suisse et Cambridge, Royaume-Uni. p. 214.
- Hamerlynck, O. & Cazottes, F. (1998) Le parc national du diawling (mauritanie) : infrastructures hydrauliques pour la restauration dune plaine d'inondation et la création d'un estuaire artificiel. Sud Sci. Technol, 28-38.
- Hani, A. & Abari, S. A. H. (2011) Determination of Cd, Zn, K, pH, TNV, Organic Material and Electrical Conductivity (EC) Distribution in Agricultural Soils using Geostatistics and GIS

(Case Study: South-Western of Natanz-Iran). World Acad. Sci. Eng. Technol. Int. J. Biol. Biomol. Agric. Food Biotechnol. Eng. 5, 852–855.

Johnston, K. (2004) ArcGIS 9: using ArcGIS geostatistical analyst. Esri Press.

- Karydas, C. G., Gitas, I. Z., Koutsogiannaki, E., Lydakis-Simantiris, N. & Silleos, G. N. (2009) Evaluation of spatial interpolation techniques for mapping agricultural topsoil properties in Crete. *EARSeL EProceedings*, 8, 26–39.
- Khosravi, H., Karimi, K. & Mesbahzadeh, T. (2016) Investigation of spatial structure of groundwater quality using geostatistical approach in Mehran Plain, Iran. *Pollution*, 2, 57– 65.
- Marko, K., Al-Amri, N. S. & Elfeki, A. M. M. (2014) Geostatistical analysis using GIS for mapping groundwater quality: case study in the recharge area of Wadi Usfan, western Saudi Arabia. Arab. J. Geosci. 7, 5239–5252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12517-013-1156-2.
- Mohammad, Z.-M., Taghizadeh-Mehrjardi, R. & Akbarzadeh, A. (2010) Evaluation of geostatistical techniques for mapping spatial distribution of soil pH, salinity and plant cover affected by environmental factors in Southern Iran. *Not. Sci. Biol.*, 2, 92–103.
- Montoroi, J. P. (1997) Conductivité électrique de la solution du sol et d'extraits aqueux de sol Application à un sol sulfaté acide salé de Basse-Casamance (Sénégal). *Étude Gest. Sols*, 4, 279–298.
- Mousavifard, S. M., Momtaz, H., Sepehr, E., Davatgar, N. & Sadaghiani, M. H. R. (2013) Determining and mapping some soil physico-chemical properties using geostatistical and GIS techniques in the Naqade region, Iran. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 59, 1573–1589. https://doi.org/10.1080/03650340.2012.740556.
- Ngom, F. D., Tweed, S., Bader, J.-C., Saos, J.-L., Malou, R., Leduc, C. & Leblanc, M. (2016) Rapid evolution of water resources in the Senegal delta. *Glob. Planet. Change*, 144, 34–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2016.07.002.
- Pang, S., Li, T.-X., Zhang, X.-F., Wang, Y.-D. & Yu, H.-Y. (2011) Spatial variability of cropland lead and its influencing factors: A case study in Shuangliu county, Sichuan province. *China. Geoderma*, 162, 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.01.002
- Poshtmasari, H. K., Sarvestani, Z. T., Kamkar, B., Shataei, S. & Sadeghi, S. (2012) Comparison of interpolation methods for estimating pH and EC in agricultural fields of Golestan province (north of Iran). *Int. J. Agric. Crop Sci.*, 4, 157–167.
- Robinson, T. P. & Metternicht, G. (2006) Testing the performance of spatial interpolation techniques for mapping soil properties. *Comput. Electron. Agric.*, 50, 97–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2005.07.003.
- Saito, H., McKenna, S. A., Zimmerman, D. A. & Coburn, T. C. (2005) Geostatistical interpolation of object counts collected from multiple strip transects: Ordinary kriging versus finite domain kriging. *Stoch. Environ. Res. Risk Assess.*, 19, 71–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00477-004-0207-3.
- Seyedmohammadi, J., Esmaeelnejad, L. & Shabanpour, M. (2016) Spatial variation modelling of groundwater electrical conductivity using geostatistics and GIS. *Model. Earth Syst. Environ.* 2, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40808-016-0226-3.
- Taïbi, A. N., Barry, M. el H., Jolivel, M., Ballouche, A., Baba, M. L. O. & Moguedet, G. (2007) Enjeux et impacts des barrages de Diama (Mauritanie) et Arzal (France): des contextes socio-économiques et environnementaux différents pour de mêmes conséquences. *Norois*, 51–66. https://doi.org/10.4000/norois.1536.
- Tripathi, R., Nayak, A. K., Shahid, M., Raja, R., Panda, B. B., Mohanty, S., Kumar, A., Lal, B., Gautam, P. & Sahoo, R. N. (2015) Characterizing spatial variability of soil properties in salt affected coastal India using geostatistics and kriging. *Arab. J. Geosci.* 8, 10693–10703. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12517-015-2003-4.

- Varouchakis, A. & Hristopulos, D. T. (2013) Comparison of stochastic and deterministic methods for mapping groundwater level spatial variability in sparsely monitored basins. *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, 185, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-012-2527-y.
- Wang, S., Huang, G. H., Lin, Q. G., Li, Z., Zhang, H. & Fan, Y. R. (2014) Comparison of interpolation methods for estimating spatial distribution of precipitation in Ontario, Canada: Comparison of interpolation methods for precipitation distribution. *Int. J. Climatol.*, 34, 3745–3751. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3941.
- Yao, R. & Yang, J. (2010) Quantitative evaluation of soil salinity and its spatial distribution using electromagnetic induction method. *Agric. Water Manag.*, 97, 1961–1970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2010.02.001.
- Zarco-Perello, S. & Simões, N. (2017) Ordinary kriging vs inverse distance weighting: spatial interpolation of the sessile community of Madagascar reef, Gulf of Mexico. *PeerJ*, 5, e4078. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4078.
- Zehtabian, G. R., Mohammad Asgari, H. & Tahmoures, M. (2012) Assessment of spatial structure of groundwater quality variables based on the geostatistical simulation. *Desert*, 17, 215–224.

ROADS ACCESIBILITY TO AGRICULTURAL CROPS USING GIS TECHNOLOGY. METHODOLOGICAL APROACH

DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.02

Ştefan BILAŞCO¹², Sanda ROŞCA¹, Ioan PĂCURAR³, Nicolaie MOLDOVAN³, Iuliu VESCAN¹, Ioan FODOREAN¹, Dănuţ PETREA¹

ABSTRACT:

The access to agricultural fields represents the main factor which favours their spatial distribution and their mechanized exploitation. In addition to this it valorizes the fields by enabling their intensive cultivation, fast harvesting and product distribution to collecting, processing and sales centres, with a main impact on perishable goods. The short access time to perishable crops enables their delivery in large quantities to the market, without major losses, thus their value increases. The present study analyses the accessibility of agricultural lands included in the high class of favourability for agricultural use, based on GIS techniques, with the purpose of economically valorising the territory by identifying the lots with very good accessibility and high favourability determined by rational exploitation. The following analysis is performed in a highly agricultural area, polarised by three agricultural sales centres and characterised by a low density of European, national and county roads (which offer easy access) while there is a high density of village roads and direct roads to agricultural lots and crops. The methodology of study was structured in two interconnected stages: the SWOT analysis of the present situation in what concerns the road quality and the implementation of a GIS spatial analysis accessibility model based on integrated network analysis in order to identify the main sales centres and the allocation of each agricultural lot to a certain sales centre. Using this analysis, certain hypotheses and proposals were made for the economically valid cultivation of the land and its accessibility as well as for the identification of intermediary collecting and primary sales centres.

Key-words: Road accessibility, GIS model, Temporal accessibility, Crops favourability, Land evaluation, Crops management.

1. INTRODUCTION AND STUDY AREA

The quality and the constant maintenance of access roads leading to agricultural land are extremely important for the transportation of materials, machinery or workers. In the case of a poor maintenance, it determines various difficulties in moving the machinery, possible higher fuel consumption and thus, the damaging of the used vehicles (Blarel et al., 1992; Handy & Niemeier, 1997; Jaarsma, 2000; Wiggins & Proctor, 2001; Castella et al., 2005; Păcurar & Buta, 2007; Muntele et al., 2010; Páez et al., 2012; Iimi et al., 2015; Hartvigsen, 2016; Janus et. al., 2017).

¹Babes-Bolyai University, Faculty of Geography, 400006 Cluj-Napoca, Romania, stefan.bilasco@ubbcluj.ro, sanda.rosca@ubbcluj.ro, iuliu.vescan@ubbcluj.ro, ioan.fodorean@ubbcluj.ro;

²Romanian Academy, Cluj-Napoca Subsidiary Geography Section, 400015 Cluj-Napoca, Romania;

³University of Agricultural Science and Veterinary Medicine Cluj-Napoca, 5400372 Cluj-Napoca, Romania, ioanpacurarcj@yahoo.com;

Considering the role of roads as access routes to agricultural lots, they influence considerably the evaluation of the land for various agricultural uses (Ajiboye, 1994; Janus & Taszakowski, 2015) as well as the evaluation of their economical favourability (Wang et al., 2010; Haidu & Nicoară, 2011).



Fig. 1. Geographical position of the study area highlighting the favourability for agricultural use.

As the present study highlights economical aspects, it also focuses on the role of the roads in facilitating the access for transport and distribution.

The accessibility of agricultural lots to the main roads reduces the average time of placing the crops on the outlet market as well as the additional costs associated to the production of crops and agricultural works (Curtis & Scheurer, 2010; Dumitru et al., 2010; Bilaşco et al., 2016).

In order to reach the objectives of this study, GIS technology was used to identify the agricultural favourability of various agricultural lots (Van Diepen, 1991; Halder, 2013; Roşca, 2015a,b; Moldovan et al., 2016) as well as the identification of their temporal accessibility (Thapa & Murayama, 2008; Oprea, 2011; Ivan & Haidu, 2012; Vega, 2012; Rusu et al., 2013; Nicoară & Haidu, 2011; Nicoară & Haidu, 2014; Man et al., 2015; Bobkova & Holesinska, 2017).

The study area is represented by the Alba Iulia Association for Intercommunity Development (AIDA) which includes 11 administrative units totalizing 936 km2 (14.9 % of the total surface of Alba County) (**Fig. 1**). Its functionality is based on the identification of favourability elements with the main purpose of increasing the economic prosperity and the quality of the inhabitants from this area (Moldovan, 2016). The favourability for agricultural crops has been identified in a previous study as an average between the favourability for the cultivation of wheat, barley, corn, beetroot, potato, peas-beans and sunflower, the favourability classes being determined by climatic, hydrological, pedological and geomorphologic conditions (**Fig. 1**).

2. METHODOLOGY

The analysis of land accessibility was performed through an integrated study which is based on the analysis and identification of acces road quality and the implementation of a spatial analysis GIS model which spatially identifies the acces time to the analised agricultural lots (**Fig. 2**). In this respect a spatial database was created to include the areas facourable for agricultural crops and the territorial position of the main consumption and distribution centres. The numerical database which is included in the spatial analysis model is represented by the maximum speed attainable on different road categories.

The spatial database represents the basis for the development of the spatial analysis model which is concerned with accessibility and the computation of access time in minutes to the main storage and consumption centres, as well as the allocation of land lots based on these time intervals to certain centres for storage and consumption.

The purpose of this study is directed towards highlighting the economical efficiency of the agricultural lands. This is done, on the one hand, in order to identify the closest lots to the consumtion centres (maximum accessibility, minimum access time, minimum accessibility, maximum access time) and, on the other hand, to make proposals for the establishment of intermediary centres for storage and occasional sale of the products. This is based on the allocation of agricultural lots to certain sales and consumption centres, the SWOT analysis of the access ways and the maximum access time intervals.



Fig. 2. Flow chart of applied G.I.S. analysis for roads accessibility in agricultural areas.

3. RESULTS

3.1 A model of temporal accessibility of agricultural lands

The accessibility of agricultural lands represents a highly important aspect in the management, exploitation and capitalisation on their specific agricultural products. The evaluation of temporal accessibility represents an important stage as the development of agriculture is of capital importance in the present European context. The main focus is laid on the development of ecological agriculture based on classical-modern technological processes and on the sale of the resulted products as quickly as possible through the local collecting centres and the regional sales centres.

The identification of the specific access time to the agricultural lots was performed using a GIS model which was developed with a specific database (**Table 1**) which puts a spotlight on the road infrastructure as a main facilitator for the access to the production lots and the local and regional sales centres.

The evaluation of accessibility was made using raster databases derived from vector databases considering the fact that the road infrastructure is not represented on the whole study area. For this, the maximum access speed to the agricultural lots was considered to be 10 km/h where the road infrastructure is absent (fields, hills).

Table 1

Nr	Database	Туре	Attribute					Database type	
			Type, maximum speed						
1.	Roads	vector	Туре	Е	DN	DJ	CO	field	primary
			Speed (km/h)	100/70/50	90/50	90/50	30	10	
2.	Built-up areas	vector	name				primary		
3.	Limits of administrative units	vector	name				primary		
4.	Movement speed on different road types	Raster (GRID)	minutes/m ²				modelled		
5.	Accessibility	Raster (GRID)	minutes			modelled			
6.	Allocated areas	Raster (GRID)		Name	of urban	centre			modelled

Structure of the database

At the same time, the spatial analysis model took into consideration the built-up areas as barriers which limit the access. As the whole spatial analysis model is based on raster database structures, all built-up areas were excluded from these structures, thus the access would be calculated based only on the road types from the built-up area and their specific speeds.

The spatial analysis was performed on four levels, each of them relying on the previous inferior level or on the results from the spatial analysis of the inferior database levels.

The first stage consisted in identifying the time necessary to move through a raster cell from the grid resulting from the conversion of the vectors representing the road network. Taking into consideration the average width of a two-lane road, the resolution of 10 m was selected for the raster cell resulting from the vector-raster conversion.

Using the formula proposed by Julião (1999), Drobne (2003, 2005), Bilaşco et al. (2015) the time necessary to cross one cell was calculated and expressed in minutes (**Table 2**):

$$CCT = \frac{PS*60}{TS*1000},$$

where: CCT - crossing time (minutes), PS - Pixel dimension, TS - Speed (km/h)

Table 2

The maximum speed and the time required to cross a cell depending on the road type.

		Speed (km/h)					
Nr.	Road type]	Built-up areas	Out	tside the built-up areas		
		Speed	Time (minutes)	Speed	Time (minutes)		
1	European	70/50	0.0085/0.012	100	0.006		
2	National	50	0.012	90	0.0066		
3	County	50	0.012	90	0.0066		
4	Communal	30	0.02	30	0.02		
5	Field	-	-	10	0.06		



The second stage consists in modelling the access time to the main local and regional collecting centres for the entire study area, having a support for as the analysis spatial the modelled database which resulted from calculating the time required to cross one cell of the raster. In this case only the sales centres Alba Iulia. Teius and Sebes were considered.

Using geoinformatic softwares and the spatial analysis functions cost distance which enable the identification of the shortest route using the time required for crossing a raster cell, the access closest time to the regional sales point was calculated considering the speed of moving the products and thus, the access (Fig. 3).

Fig. 3. Temporal accessibility map for the main towns, in minutes.

By analysing the results from this stage of the spatial modelling process one notices the very good accessibility of the agricultural lands from the Mureş valley and from the river's close vicinity (maximum access time of 1 hour), due to a very well developed road network represented by the fast transport network (European, national and county roads) and a highly dense network of acces roads to agricultural lands (communal and agricultural exploitation roads).

One also notices the fact that there is a relatively good access from all the built-up areas of the administrative units (maximum 2-3 hours) to the regional sales centres, which highlights their role as secondary sales centres and storage centres for product sale in the regional centres.

In addition to the density of different types of roads, another important factor which influences the access to agricultural lands is represented by topography. This acts as a restrictive factor in what concerns the development of secondary and primary access roads to agricultural lots (exploitation roads) as well as the direct access of agricultural machines. Two specific situations are highlighted in this respect: the areas from the river valley and low hills with very good accessibility (maximum 180 minutes) and the lots from the high hills and the montaneous area with an accessibility ranging between 3-5 hours and more than 5 hours.

Once the access time in minutes had been identified for the entire study area in reference to the regional sales centres, the next step was to identify the areas which gravitate towards one or more of these centres, which represented the third stage in the modelling process.



Taking into consideration the fact that the transportation time of the agricultural products is very important due to their perishable characteristics. the identification of the sales centre to which each agricultural lot is allocated is а verv important objective.

The identification of the areas allocated to a specific sales centre was performed by using spatial analysis with raster and vector structures and applying the function Cost Allocation, which enables the identification of the areas which are allocated to a certain point by considering the shortest access time to that point.

Thus, the areas which gravitate towards the regional sales points represented by the towns Teiuş, Alba Iulia and Sebeş, were identified (**Fig. 4**).

Fig. 4. Map of the areas allocated to the main towns.

The analysis of the results highlights the city Alba Iulia as the main regional sales centre, with an allocated area of approximately 60% of the whole territory, followed by Teiuş, with approximately 25% of the whole territory and Sebeş, with a smaller area,

representing approximately 13% of the whole territory. This small value is explained by the role of the town of Sebeş as outskirts of Alba Iulia.

As a study case for exemplifying and identifying the accessibility to agricultural lots we considered the suitable lots for agricultural crops by using morphometric and risk parameters (Bilaşco et al., 2016).

By analysing the static characteristics of the lots allocated to the main sales centres, one notices the spatial extension of a suitable and unitary lot which stretches over the surface of 4 administrative units (Teiuş, Garda de Jos, Cricău, Ighiu), with 4007 hectars, which reunites most of the agricultural lands of the 4 administrative units.

A similar situation is noticed in the case of a unitary suitable lot allocated to the town of Sebes, which extends over the surface of two administrative units and is located mainly



in the valley of the Mureş and its left tributary, the Secesul.

In what concerns the suitable lots allocated to the city of Alba Iulia, 3 unitary lots with large surfaces are highlighted: firstly, the lot which is situated in the N and the NV of the city and territorialy overlaps the agricultural lands cultivated mainly with vegetables and cereals which can supply the local city markets. Secondly, one can notice high territorial the extension of the suitable lots which had been allocated to the city of Alba Iulia and are located at the contact between the hilly sector and the Mures floodplain, these lots being connected by a very good road network, a fact that determines a very good accessibility.

Fig. 5. Map of agricultural lots allocated to the main sales centres.

Thirdly, the lots situated in the area of low hills from the Intresecase plateau are mainly used for cereal crops. The suitable unitary lots with very large surfaces will influence both the production and its estimated value. At present, overfragmenting the lots represents one

of the main problems which arise when a certain favourable crop is planned according to the specific characteristics of the analysed territory.

Table 3.

The main color control		No.			
The main sales centres	Minim	Maxim	Medium	Sum	Of lots
Aiud	0.5	4007	5.96	4582.36	768
Alba Iulia	0.3	2097	2.02	4879.89	2415
Sebeș	0.6	2776	4.29	3870.74	901

Statistic characteristics of the lots allocated to the main sales centres

For a better management of the favourable areas for certain crops, it is recommended to do microscale studies on the surface of the unitary agricultural lot in order to identify the characteristics of each territorial ecological lots and to take the best decisions regarding the



choice of crop for that particular lot. The analysis performed on the average access time values the to agriculturally suitable lots highlights the very accessibility good (between 60 and 120 minutes) of approximately 91% of the analysed lots. One must notice that the large unitary lots are included in this category, which makes their use for perishable crops possible as the products can be sold in the main urban centres.

In the class of medium accessibility (240-300 minutes) there are, predominantly, the agricultural lots which are located on the outskirts of the study area, due to the scarce access infrastructure and in some places to a lack of it.

Fig. 6. Map of temporal accessibility to agriculturally suitable lots.

The unitary lot with a large surface identified on the administrative unit of Berghin is included in this class and is located at the limit of the study area. It is connected only to a county road which ensures its access from the main sales centre of Alba Iulia. In these case it is recommended to make secondary and local centres for collecting the crops from these lands or to plant other cultures which correspond to the suitability of the land and which produce crops with a low perishable degree, in order to be able to store them for a longer period of time.

3.2. SWOT analysis of road quality

In order to capture in categories and types the influence of road presence/absence and road quality over the exploitation possibilities of the agricultural lands from the study area, the SWOT analysis was used.

This method has been used since 1971 by Ken Andrew (Horvath, 2008,) graphically and numerically expresses strong and weak points, at the same time evaluating the opportunities for development, as well as the threats. In this case the strong points were analysed as advantages, the weak points as disadvantages, the present and potential dangers were also analysed in classes of road categories and the opportunities were used as specific proposals.

The SWOT analysis was used to make the inventory and the evaluation of the development possibilities for the studied region as complex as possible, considering the road density and road quality (**Table 4**).

EUROPEAN ROADS						
	Importance	Requenc y	Magni tude			
Strengths (S)						
Ensures easy access to the main sales centres;	5	1	5			
High average driving speed;	5	5	5			
Easy access to the agricultural production units from the close vicinity;	5	2	3			
Good road quality;	5	5	5			
Ensures regional competitivity.	2	2	1			
Weaknesses (W)						
Limits entirely the access of agricultural machines;	5	5	5			
Inexistent access to the production units even in the case of a close vicinity;	2	5	5			
Constitutes barriers in the territorial extension of the lots;	1	5	5			
Difficult transport conditions for natural fertilisers;	3	4	2			
Restricted transport of chemical fertilisers.	5	4	3.5			
Opportunities (O)						
Limited hourly access of agricultural machines;	5	2	3			
Implementation of vegetation barriers for decreasing the vulnerability to pollution by suspended dust and exhaust gases;	5	5	5			
Enables multiple acces points to local collecting points.	5	1	3			
Threats (T)						
Major pollution degree;	3	3	4.5			
Major pollution risk;	5	5	5			
Major accident risk;	2	1	1			
Damaging of perishable products due to difficult access of transport vehicles.	5	1	5			

SWOT analysis of roads.

Table 4.

NATIONAL ROADS						
		Importance		Frequenc	Magnitude	
Strengt	ths (S)			9		
Ensure easy access to the main production centres from vicinity:	m the close	2		5	2	
High average driving speed;		5		5	5	
Easy access to the main collecting centres (town market markets, storage halls on the outskirts of towns);	ets, periodic	5		2	3	
Good road quality;		5		5	5	
Easy access to the main and secondary sales centres;		5		3	5	
Ensure regional competitivity.		2		2	1	
Major degree of soil pollution:	ses (w)	5		5	5	
Major risk of soil and crops pollution.		5		2	3	
Opportun	ities (O)					
Limited hourly access of agricultural machines:	. ,	5		1	4	
Implementation of vegetation barriers for decreasing the v	ulnerability	5		5	5	
to pollution by suspended dust and exhaust gases;		5		5	5	
Threat	ts (T)				1	
Major pollution degree;		3		3	4.5	
Major pollution risk; Major accident risk		2		5	5	
	DOADS	2		1	1	
COUNTY	RUADS				6 1 I	
Imp	bortance	Frec	uency	N	lagnitude	
(village centres storage halls):	3		3		5	
Easy access to the agricultural units of production	5	5			5	
from the close vicinity.						
Weaknes	ses (W)		2		4	
Low quality of roads; Medium values of maximum driving speed	5	3			4	
Opportun	ities (O)					
Implementation of vegetation barriers for	5		5		5	
decreasing the vulnerability to pollution by						
suspended dust and exhaust gases;						
Major pollution risk;	5		5		5	
High possibility of damaging the perishable	5		2		3	
products due to low average transport speed.	T DO LDO					
COMMUNAL ROADS						
	Im	portance	Fre	quency	Magnitu de	
Strengths (S)						
Enable the access of agricultural machines;		5		4	5	
Are located in the close vicinity of production lots;	5		3	3		
Are maintained by local authorities in order to ensure a priority access for the harmonious development of the		2		5	2	
community;		-		-	_	
Possibility of practising ecological agriculture;		5		5	5	
Easy access for the use of natural fertiliser.		2		3	2	
Relatively low driving speed:	ses (w)	5		5	5	
	1	-	1	-	· ·	

Low quality.	5		3	4		
Opportunities (O)						
Exploitation of communal roads according to well determined norms (weight, access);	5		3	3		
Implementation of vegetation barriers for decreasing the vulnerability to pollution by suspended dust and exhaust gases;	5		5			
Threats (T)					
Major pollution risk;	5		3	4		
Damaging of perishable products due to difficult access of transport vehicles	5		1	5		
AGRICULTURAL EXPLOI	TATION RC	DADS				
		Importanc	Frequenc	Magni	itu	
		e	у	de		
Strengths (S	5)					
Ensure the direct access to the production lot;		5	5		5	
Allow the access for all agricultural machines;		5	5	4		
Are maintained by local authorities or by the farmer and their	route can be	F	_		2	
changed depending on the exploitation needs of the production	units.	5	5		3	
Weaknesses (W)					
Low maintenance state;		5	5		5	
Low quality;		4	5		5	
Low average driving speed;		2 5		3		
Limited quantity of products being transported at once.		2 5		2		
Opportunities (O)						
Consolidation of roads for the access of modern transportation machines;			4		5	
Development of the road system for ensuring accessibility to multiple lots;			5	5		
Maintenance of roads by local authorities and the owners that use them.			5		3	
Threats (T						
Fast degradation due to their maintenance regime and exploitation;	d intensive	5	5		5	
Fast obsolescence of agricultural machines due to their condition	on;	4	5		4	
Major accident risk due to urestricted animal access.			1		2	



Fig. 7. SWOT evaluation for european roads.



- Easy access to the main and secondary sales centres;
- · Ensure regional competitivity.

- . Major accident risk.
- Limited hourly access of agricultural machines; .

Fig. 8. SWOT evaluation of national roads.



- (village centres, storage halls);
- Easy access to the agricultural units of production from the close vicinity.
- Low quality of roads; .
- Medium values of maximum driving speed. .
- vulnerability to pollution by suspended dust and exhaust gases; . Major pollution risk;
- · High possibility of damaging the perishable products due to low average transport speed.

Fig. 9. SWOT evaluation of county roads.



- Are located in the close vicinity of production lots;
- · Are maintained by local authorities in order to ensure a priority access for the harmonious development of the community;
- Possibility of practising ecological agriculture;
- Easy access for the use of natural fertiliser.
- Relatively low driving speed;

- determined norms (weight, access);
- Implementation of vegetation barriers for decreasing the vulnerability to pollution by suspended dust and exhaust gases
- Major pollution risk;
- Damaging of perishable products due to difficult access of transport vehicles



Fig. 10. SWOT evaluation of communal roads.

Fig. 11. SWOT evaluation of agricultural exploitation roads.

After performing the SWOT analysis, the main opportunities for the development of the Alba Iulia Association for Intercommunity Development were identified. These are the results of the facilities offered by the road network and make possible various proposals for the development of the production and sale of agricultural products.

The correspondence between the strengths and the opportunities of the region are in the quadrant I (SO). In quadrant II (WO) one notices the correspondence between weaknesses and opportunities, the degree in which the opportunities could or could not limit the influence of the weaknesses can be determined, as well as their possible transformation in strengths as a consequence of applying the specific proposals

Ta	ble	5.
	~~~	~.

Theoretical Swort matrix:						
	(S-Streanghts)	(W-Weaknesses)				
( <b>O</b> -Oportunities)	SO	WO				
( <b>T</b> -Threats)	ST	WT				

Theoretical SWOT matrix

Quadrant III (ST) represents the relationship between strengths and threats and identifies the degree in which the threats could be reduced or eliminated as a consequence of using the identified strengths.

Quadrant IV (WT) highlights the relationship between weaknesses and threats and requires the analysis of their interdependence and the identification of possibilities of reducing the negative effects in the study area.

This evaluation consisted of giving a score for the importance, the frequency and the magnitude of each indicator included in the evaluation, with values ranging from 1 to 5 (**Table 5**).

The increase of economical efficiency for the agricultural lots with maximum suitability but low accessibility towards the main sales centres requires the identification of secondary centres for collecting and for primary sale. These would take over a part of the products and store them in qualitatively high storage conditions and facilitate their fast distribution. In order to capture the influence of the presence/absence and quality of roads in categories and types, the SWOT analysis was used as a main work method, its main purpose being the identification of a short delivery time for a large quantity of products.

The SWOT analysis was also used for a complex identification and evaluation of development possibilities as well as to identify the main collecting centres for the agricultural products depending on the density and the quality of roads from the study area (**Table 4**).

As a result of the integrated analysis of the time required to access an agricultural lot in the eastern part of the study area is highlighted. Here are suitable lots to which the access requires a long time (240-300 minutes) but which are viable in what concerns the opportunities offered by the road category. Thus, for an efficient exploitation from the point of view of transporting the agricultural products to the main sales centres we propose the development of a modern collecting centre in the Colibri village. The settlement finds itself in the category of easy access for road transportation towards all the sales centres as it is located at the junction between the county roads DJ107 and DJ107B, but it has low accessibility and sometimes no accessibility to production lots.

#### 4. CONCLUSION

Agriculture is one of the main components supporting the national economy due to the fact that most of the land is suitable for cultivation. Efficient exploitation by selling on the market the products obtained through cultivation and land maintenance makes the economical value of the land to increase exponentially with the quantity of products which are harvested and sold. Leaving aside the agricultural maintenance of the lands, the access to them represents the main factor which gives additional value and determines low maintenance and exploitation costs where accessibility is very good.

Using GIS spatial analysis models, the identification of access time, in minutes, to the agricultural lots with the highest suitability for cultivation has made possible the identification of the sales centres allocated to each lot and, thus, reducing the time required for transport between the production area and the main sales centre. In this way the costs of transport and distribution are minimised, as well as the risk of financial loss due to the alteration of perishable products.

Using the maximum travel speeds on road categories for the calculation based on the GIS spatial modeling of the access times to the agricultural fields highlights in terms of temporal access the fields located in the meadow and the first terraces of Mures and the main tributaries: Sebes, and Ighiu. For these surfaces, small access times were calculated within 0-60 minutes as access time to the main selling centers: Alba Iulia, Sebes and Teius.

Areas identified spatially with low access times are overlapping territorially with fields with high agricultural favourability, which makes this area to be considered the area with high potential for production and sales and is treated as a priority in terms of policy implementation for agricultural development in terms of rational exploitation and high efficiency of products obtained as a result of conforming cultivation.

It is highlighted that maximum access times (60-120 minutes) have been calculated for the low-favorability agricultural parcels located at the contact of the mountain with the area where the high favorability has been identified for another type of culture among which vineyard. This culture does not require short transport times to the market and secondary collection centers can be made in the respective areas and further sale in the form of engross for the high economic valorization of the production and, implicitly, of the less favorable agricultural land. Based on the access times, the territorial areas allocated as sales for each of the main centers were identified, was identified the center of Alba Iulia as the main hotspot in terms of the total surface area as sales and also in terms of assigned the agricultural parcels.

The analysis of access times for agricultural landings highlights the very short (less than 60 minutes) time needed to transport the harvested products to the main collection centers. At the same time, there were calculated high access times (120-300 minutes) for some parcels in the eastern part of the study area, for which it is proposed to set up secondary collection and selling centers in Engross regime.

Noteworthy is that integrated SWOT analysis of roadways in terms of exploitation for economical efficiency of agriculture in the studied area prove the good quality of the roads in the areas with high favorability but also good road quality that ensures fast transport (60 minutes maximum) between secondary collection centers and main sales centers showing the multiple ways to satisfy the demand for agricultural products on the consumer market.

The SWOT analysis of the general quality of the access network highlights qualitatively favourable territorial hotspots. When analysed in correlation with the areas with very low accessibility they highlight possible locations for collecting and temporarily storing the crops with the main purpose of maximising the profits on lots with maximum suitability and low accessibility.

The analysis of the complex and integrated GIS spatial analysis models, which focus on identifying the access time to production lots, gives useful information in the integrated management process (cultivation-production-storage-transport-sale) which has as its main purpose the maximising of profits for the exploitation of lands with maximum agricultural suitability.

Acknowledgement: All authors have equal contribution in the article.

#### REFERENCES

- Ajiboye, A. O. (1994) Rural Accessibility and Transportation Problems. A case study of Ijebu North Local Government Area, Ogun State'. Unpublished PGD in Transport Thesis, Department of Geography and Regional Planning, Ogun State University Ago-Iwoye.
- Bilaşco, Şt., Filip, S., Cocean, P., Petrea, D., Vescan, I. & Fodorean, I. (2015) The Evaluation of Accessibility to Hospital Infrastructure at Regional Scale by using GIS Space Analysis Models: The North-West Region, Romania. *Studia UBB Geographia*, LX, 1, 27-50.
- Bilaşco, St., Roşca, S., Păcurar, I., Moldovan, N., Boţ, A., Negruşier, C., Sestras, P., Bondrea, M. & Naş, S. (2016) Identification of Land Suitability for Agricultural Use by Applying Morphometric and Risk Parameters Based on GIS Spatial Analysis. *Not Bot Horti Agrobo*, 2016, 44(1), 302-312 Available from: doi:10.15835/nbha44110289 [Accessed 13 June 2017].
- Blarel, B., Hazell, P., Place, F. & Quiggin, J. (1992) The economics of farm fragmentation: Evidence from Ghana and Rwanda. World Bank Economic Review, 6 (2), 233-254. Available from: doi.org/10.1093/wber/6.2.233 [Accessed 20 June 2017].
- Bobkova, M. & Holesinska, A. (2017) Networking in a destination from the perspective of virtual relationships and their spatial dimension. *Geographia Technica*, 12 (2), 10–19. Available from: doi: 10.21163/GT_2017.122.02 [Accessed 1 August 2017].
- Castella, J. C., Manh, P. H., Kam, S. P., Villano, L., & Tronche, N. R. (2005) Analysis of village accessibility and its impact on land use dynamics in a mountainous province of northern Vietnam. *Applied Geography*, 25 (4), 308-326. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.apgeog.2005.07.003 [Accessed 4 June 2017].
- Curtis, C. & Scheurer, J. (2010) Planning for Sustainable Accessibility: Developing Tools to Aid Discussion and Decision-Making. *Progress in Planning*, 74, 53-106. Available from: doi: 10.1016/j.progress.2010.05.001[Accessed 24 August 2017].
- Drobne, S. (2003) Modelling accessibility fields in Slovene municipalities, in L. Zadnik Sirn, M. Bastič, S. Drobne (eds.), *Prooceedings of the 7th International Symposium on Operational Research in Slovenia*. Slovenian Society Informatika (SDI), SOR, Ljubljana, 89-96.
- Drobne, S., Bogataj, M., Paliska, D. & Fabjan, D. (2005) Will the Future Motorway Network Improve the Accessibility to Administrative Centres in Slovenia? in: L. Zadnik Stirn, S. Drobne (eds.), *Proceedings of the 8th International Symposium on Operational Research in Slovenia*. Slovenian Society Informatika (SDI), SOR, Ljubljana, p. 213-218.
- Dumitru, S., Mocanu, V., Ignat, P., Gherghina, A. & Seleceanu, I. (2010) Land evaluation at farm level using GIS techniques. Analele Universității din Craiova, seria Agricultură, Montanologie, Cadastru 368-373.
- Haidu, I. & Nicoară, M. E. (2011) GIS Procedure for the identification of existing infrastructure in the flooding areas. *Geographia Technica*, 6 (2), 30–34.
- Halder, J. C. (2013) Land suitability assessment for crop cultivation by using remote sensing and GIS. *Journal of Geography and Geology* 5 (3), 65-74. Available from: doi:10.5539/jgg.v5n3p65 [Accessed 27 July 2017].
- Handy, S. L. & Niemeier, D. A. (1997) Measuring Accessibility: an Exploration of Issues and Alternatives, *Environment and Planning A*, 29 (7), 1175-1194. Available from: doi.org/10.1068/a291175 [Accessed 29 July 2017].
- Hartvigsen, M. (2016) Land consolidation in Central and Eastern Europe integration with local rural development needs. World Bank Conference on Land and Poverty. The World Bank -Washington DC, March 14-18, 2016.
- Horvath, C.S (2008) Analiza SWOT a efectelor lacurilor de acumulare asupra mediului. model: amenajarea "Dragan-Iad" din bazinul superior al Crișului Repede. *Geografia Napocensis*, II, 2, 85-93.

- Iimi, A., Lancelot, E., Manelici, I. & Ogita, S. (2015) Evaluating the Social and Economic Impacts of Rural Road Improvements in the State of Tocantins, *Brazil*. [Online] World Bank Group. Available from: http://hdl.handle.net/10986/22078 [Accessed 3 August 2017].
- Ivan, K. & Haidu, I. (2012) The Spatio-Temporal distribution of Road Accidents in Cluj-Napoca, Geographia Technica, 2, 32-38.
- Jaarsma, C. F. (2000) Sustainable Land Use Planning and Planning of Rural Road Networks. Agricultural Engineering International: the CIGR *Journal of Scientific Research and Development*. Vol. II. Available from: https://ecommons.cornell.edu/bitstream/id/240/Land.PDF/ [Accessed 3 August 2017].
- Janus, J. & Taszakowski, J. (2015) The idea of ranking in setting priorities for land consolidation works. *Geomatics, Land management and Landscape*, 1, 31-43. Available from: doi.org/10.15576/gLL/2015.1.31 [Accessed 21 July 2017].
- Janus, J., Bozek, P., Taszakowski, J. & Glowacka, A. (2017). Road Accessibility Problem As Part Of Land Consolidation Planning. *Engineering For Rural Development*, 1052-1056, Available from: doi: 10.22616/Erdev2017.16.N221. [Accessed 5 May 2017].
- Julião, R. P. (1999) Measuring Accessibility Using GIS, in *GeoComputation Proceedings*, Available from: http://www.geovista.psu.edu/sites/geocomp99/Gc99/010/gc_010.htm.
- Man, T., Rusu, R., Moldovan, C., Ionescu Heroiu, M., Moldovan, N.S. & Haranguş, I. (2015) Spatial Impact Of The Road Infrastructure Development In Romania. An Accessibility Approach, *Romanian Review of Regional Studies*, XI (1), 101-112.
- Moldovan, N., Păcurar, I., Roșca, S. & Bilașco, Șt. (2016) Land Favorability To Crops In Intercommunity Association For Development Alba Iulia. *Geographia Napocensis*, X (1), 75-84.
- Moldovan, N. (2016) Identificarea favorabilității optime a terenurilor la culturi agricole în contextul eficientizării economice a arealului Asociației Intercomunitare de Dezvoltare Alba Iulia. PhD Thesis, USAMV Cluj Napoca.
- Muntele, I., Groza, O., Țurcănaşu, G, Rusu, Al. & Tudora, D. (2010) The Quality of Transport Infrastructure as a Premise for Differentiating Rural Spaces in Moldavia "Al. I. Cuza" University Press, Iași.
- Nicoară, M. E. & Haidu, I. (2011) Creation of the roads network as a network dataset within a geodatabase. *Geographia Technica*, 6 (2), 81–86.
- Nicoara, P. S. & Haidu, I. (2014) A GIS based network analysis for theidentification of shortest route access to emergency medical facilities. *Geographia Technica*, 9 (2), 60-67.
- Oprea, M. G. (2011) A Model for Calculating the Coefficient of Accessibility in the Transylvanian Administrative Territorial Units. *Studia UBB Geographia*, LVI (1), 167-174.
- Păcurar, I. & Buta, M. (2007) Soil and agricultural land evaluation marks (in Romanian). Ed Academic Pres, Cluj-Napoca.
- Páez, A., Scott, M. A. & Morency, C. (2012) Measuring Accessibility: Positive and Normative Implementations of Various Accessibility Indicators. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 25(11), 141-153. Available from: doi: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.03.016 [Accessed 5 April 2017].
- Roșca, S. (2015a) Bazinul Nirajului Studui de Geomorfologie Aplicată. Risoprint Press, Cluj Napoca.
- Roşca, S., Bilasco, Ş., Pacurar, I., Oncu, M., Negrusier, C., & Petrea, D. (2015b) Land capability classification for crop and fruit product assessment using GIS technology. Case study: the Niraj River Basin (Transylvania Depression, Romania). *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici* Cluj-Napoca 43 (1), 235-242. Available from: doi.org/10.15835/nbha4319860 [Accessed 21 October 2017].
- Rusu, R., Man, T. & Moldovan, S. C. (2013) The GIS-Based Road Distance and Time Connectivity Index of the Settlements within the West Region of Romania. *Studia UBB, Seria Geographia*, 141-150.
- Thapa, R. B. & Murayama, Y. (2008) Land evaluation for peri-urban agriculture using analytical hierarchical process and geographic information system techniques: A case study of Hanoi. Land

*use policy*, 25(2), 225-239. Available from: doi: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2007.06.004 [Accessed 20 December 2017].

- Van Diepen, C. A., Van Keulen, H., Wolf, J. & Berkhout, J. A. A. (1991) Land evaluation: from intuition to quantification. In: Stewart BA (Ed). Advances in Soil Science. Springer, New York, 139-204.
- Vega, A. (2012) Using Place Rank to Measure Sustainable Accessibility. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 24, 411-418. Available from: doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.04.00 [Accessed 18 December 2017].
- Wang, Q., Jin, X. & Zhou, Y. (2010) A GIS-embedded system for land consolidation project location: Spatial optimization and fuzzy evaluation. 18th International Conference on Geoinformatics, Beijing, 2010, 1-6.
- Wiggins, S. & Proctor, S. (2001) How Special are Rural Areas? The Economic Implications of Location for Rural Development. *Development Policy Review*, 19(4), 427-436.
# A GEOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS OF POST-DISASTER SOCIAL IMPACTS ON A MUNICIPAL SCALE – A CASE STUDY OF A POTENTIAL MAJOR FLOOD IN THE PARIS REGION (FRANCE)

#### Kenji FUJIKI¹, Florent RENARD²

DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.03

#### **ABSTRACT:**

In this study, a GIS methodology is developed to analyse post-disaster social impacts at the scale of municipalities. Two methods are combined here: (1) a model measuring flood damages to the structures and services necessary to populations' liveability. (2) A spatialized index, combining social variables in order to represent the recovery capability of populations. Municipalities combining a high damage ratio and a lack of recovery capability shall be closely watched during the planning process of post-disaster recovery. This study is original for methodological and conceptual reasons. The methodology combines tools which are rarely used together, whereas post-disaster impacts of the Seine flood, our case study, have not yet been fully analysed.

Key-words: Vulnerability, Post-disaster, Recovery, Flood, Paris region

## 1. INTRODUCTION

The flood of the Seine river is nowadays an issue well documented amongst crisis managers (November & Créton-Cazanave, 2017). The June 2016 floods, which triggered the evacuation of almost 20,000 people inside the Paris region (called "Ile-de-France"³), and the more recent January 2018 floods, have highlighted the efforts in crisis management planning that have been made, though many difficulties and challenges persist. Conversely, post-disaster management remains a poorly known and controlled topic.

This deficiency in anticipation is to be related with the lack of feedbacks concerning plain flooding lasting several weeks or months in a highly urbanized community (Masson-Planchon & Reghezza-Zitt, 2017). Indeed, the peculiarity of the Seine flood hazard is its slow onset, due to the slope of the watershed (0.01% to 0.03%), and other diverse factors, such as the time transfer between the upstream and the Paris region (between 4 and 11 days). During the one-hundred-year flood of January 1910, water levels rose on average 1m a day, while it took two months for the waters to recede (OECD, 2014). Anticipating post-disaster challenges is essential, due to the exposure of the Paris region to flood hazard – 830,000 inhabitants are indeed exposed to a one-hundred-year flood (Faytre, 2011)

## 1.1. Research topic and definitions: a major flood in the Paris region

To face this lack of knowledge, the topic of this paper is to develop a methodology to study post-disaster social impacts, applied to a flood of the Seine river and its tributaries, equal or superior in flow to the 1910 flood, in the Paris region. This methodology aims at quantifying and mapping those impacts at the scale of the municipalities of the region.

¹Strasbourg University, CNRS UMR 7362 LIVE, F-67000 Strasbourg. France. kenji.fujiki@livecnrs.unistra.fr

²Lyon 3 University, CNRS UMR 5600 EVS – CRGA, 69362 Lyon Cedex 07. France. florent.renard@univ-lyon3.fr

³In French, this name literally means: "Island of France".

### 1.1.1. Between physical and social impacts

A flood may be defined as the temporary covering by water of land not usually covered by water (Torterotot, 1993). It may have different origins (Chocat, 1997) and it may cause various impacts, which may be classified according to a simple typology, between physical and social impacts (Lindell, 2013). Physical impacts include the effects of floods on people's health, but also the damages to buildings and infrastructures, the natural environment, and agricultural lands (Ahern et al., 2005; Brémond et al., 2013; Torterotot, 1993). Social impacts include effects on a psychological level, on the demographic and economic structure of the community, or on a political level (Aldrich, 2012; Baade et al., 2007; Bolin & Stanford, 1991; Leon, 2004; Vigdor, 2008). If this paper is mainly focused on social impacts, it is nonetheless critical to also consider physical impacts in this analysis, as they are both deeply entangled. Decease has psychological effects, and damages to buildings hinder the return of evacuated and affected populations. On the other hand, the return of the latter also affects building and infrastructure reconstruction speed and rate (Green et al., 2007; Paxson & Rouse, 2008). As this distinction appears misleading to a certain extent, social impacts have been defined more generally, as the effects of the flood on populations.

#### 1.1.2. Different approaches to recovery processes

Impacts may be measured according to their timing, from short-term impacts caused by the immediate consequences of the flood (flooding of living places leading to evacuations, utilities and public services shutdowns, interruption of economic activity) to long-term impacts - how the flood has disturbed, for several years or more, the demographic and social fabric of a given community (Aldrich, 2012). These long-term impacts shall be analysed in light of the recovery process. Yet, recovery is defined in various ways. Some authors rely on an economic approach, considering that a community has recovered when financial and physical capital have exceeded pre-disaster levels (Kates et al., 2006). Others consider that recovery has been achieved when a community has regained a certain degree of autonomy and is able to sustain itself without external help (Le Masurier et al., 2006). Some highlight the role of demography, defining the recovery process as the repopulation of an affected community. Repopulation may occur by the return of evacuated or displaced inhabitants, or by the arrival of newcomers (Aldrich, 2012). This last approach emphasizes the unequal nature of recovery. Inasmuch as populations are not equal in this process, social and spatial disparities are then aggravated by the recovery process with potential consequences on the social fabric of communities, as outlined by the example of the New Orleans metropolitan area after Katrina (Falk et al., 2006; Green et al., 2007; Groen & Polivka, 2010). If some researchers insist on the recovery process as a "window of opportunity" to prevent future disasters (Moatty & Vinet, 2016), this paper strictly focuses on the study of those social and spatial disparities, and the capability of populations to recover from a disaster.

## 1.2. Research relevance: scientific frame and methodological innovations

#### 1.2.1. Exploring the issue of social and post-disaster impacts in Paris region

At the scale of the Paris region, though flood hazard is now a well-documented topic, there are still several research orientations which should be studied more thoroughly in regard to post-disaster and social impacts analyses. Knowledge on post-disaster processes remains deficient regarding the Seine flood hazard, apart from studies on technical networks (Beraud, 2013; Toubin, 2014). Similarly, economic impacts of a major flood in

the Paris region have now been assessed for several decades (IIBRBS, 1998; OECD, 2014), which is not yet the case for social impacts.

#### 1.2.2. A hybrid methodology: combining a vulnerability index and a damage model

This research is also relevant in regard to the general literature on risks and natural hazards. Risk is generally defined as the convolution between hazards and the vulnerability of the elements at risk (Cardona, 2003; Hufschmidt, 2011). Hazards generally refer to the features of a damaging event, or its probability of occurrence (Dauphiné & Provitolo, 2013). Approaches and definitions vary greatly amongst authors in respect to vulnerability (Adger, 2006; Hufschmidt, 2011). In this paper, vulnerability has been simply defined as the potential for losses of an element at risk (Alexander, 2000). It should not be confused with the concept of resilience, which refers to the ability to prepare for, recover from and adapt to disasters (Cutter et al., 2014). Different methods have been developed to assess vulnerability, particularly damage models and mapped vulnerability indexes. In this methodology, these two generic methods have been combined in an original fashion.

- (1) Damage models aim at estimating damages (negative impacts) caused by a given hazard (Hubert and Ledoux, 1999), for different purposes (Eleuterio et al., 2008; Merz et al., 2010; Torterotot, 1993). Most of these models lead to a monetary assessment of damages to buildings and infrastructures (de Moel et al., 2015; Hammond, 2014). In this methodology, the damage model that has been developed allows measurement of the alteration of basic services and structures necessary for the everyday needs of the inhabitants. In this instance, we prefer to put aside the monetary logic that predominates most damage models for a more functional logic. Indeed, this study does not aim at assessing economic damage, but to assess the impact of the flood on the functioning of the territory in a systemic and global approach.
- (2) Mapped vulnerability indexes aggregate variables in order to represent community or population vulnerability at the scale of residential blocks, municipalities, and counties (Cutter et al., 2010, 2003; Fekete, 2009; Flanagan et al., 2011; Koks et al., 2015; Rygel et al., 2006; Su et al., 2015). These indexes are however unfit for a study centered on a particular stage of a disaster. Rufat et al. (2015) highlight the temporal context of every vulnerability study - vulnerability factors are not the same depending on the disaster timing. A vulnerable person during the evacuation stage may not be vulnerable during the recovery stage. Thus, the few methods developed to map recovery capability or post-disaster displacement risk (Esnard et al., 2011; Finch et al., 2010; Myers et al., 2008) rely on a general state-of-the-art regarding vulnerability, and fail to fully consider the peculiarities of post-disaster situations. The index of vulnerability that has been developed in this paper, called Index of Social Destabilization (ISD), aims at representing the potential difficulties of a given population to recover in a post-disaster context. It differs from these former studies as it aggregates variables based upon specific literature aiming at identifying determinants of the recovery capability of populations.

To sum up, the objective of this analysis is to study post-disaster social impacts on a municipal scale, through the combination of a damage model and a spatialized index in a GIS. This methodology is applied to a case study related to a potential major flood of the Seine river and its tributaries in the Paris region. This paper is divided in three parts. First, a state-of-the-art of recovery determinants is synthesized. Second, methodology is presented. Third, results are featured and commented.

## 2. STATE OF THE ART: RECOVERY CAPABILITY DETERMINANTS

For the assessment of post-disaster social impacts, it is crucial to identify the determinants of the populations' recovery after a disaster. This requires a state-of-the-art based upon social and demographic post-disaster studies.

#### 2.1. Social and demographic studies – an inventory

The main quantitative studies used in the state-of-the-art are listed in **table 1**⁴. Two kinds of quantitative studies are available: (a) demographic census analyses, which allow the observation of the consequences of a disaster on social and demographic trends (Kamel, 2012). (b) Analyses of post-disaster surveys conducted with affected households or individuals (Elliott, 2010). They both involve correlation and regression analyses of the collected data. Dependent variables nonetheless vary depending on the authors. Some study the return of inhabitants in their homes (Smith & McCarty, 1996; Xiao & Van Zandt, 2011). Others use self-reports done by the surveyed households of their own economic status (Bolin & Bolton, 1986). Most of the studies rely however on the rate of demographic change in the affected communities (Aldrich, 2012; Shimada, 2015).

Table 1.

Authors (date) Hazard		Study area	Nature of the study	Surveyed indiv/ household	Dependent variable	Duration of the study
Aldrich (2012)	Great Hanshin earthquake (1995)	Kobe Municipalities	Demographic trend analysis	2)	Demographic change rate	1990-2008
Bolin & Bolton (1986)	Tornado in Paris, Texas (1982)	Paris, Texas (USA)	Post-disaster survey	431	Economic recovery of households	8 months after disaster
Elliott (2010)	Hurricane Katrina (2005)	Lower Ninth Ward and Lakeview, New Orleans	Post-disaster survey	179	Miscellaneous	9-16 months after disaster
Kamel (2012)	Hurricane Katrina (2005)	New Orleans Metropolitain Area	Demographic trend analysis	-	Repopulation rate of neighbour.	2 <mark>00</mark> 5-2010
Kamel & Loukaitou-Sideris (2004)	Earthquake in Northridge (1994)	Los Angeles Metropolitan Area (USA)	Demographic trend analysis	-	Access to institutional funds	1990-2000
Morrow-Jones & Morrow-Jones (1991)	Miscellaneous	USA	Demographic trend analysis	-7	Permanent displacements of populations	1974-1981
Myers et al. (2008)	Hurricanes Katrina and Rita (2005)	Gulf of Mexico counties (USA)	Demographic trend analysis	2	Outmigration rate	10 months after disaster
Shimada (2015)	Miscellaneous	Japanese Prefectures	Demographic trend analysis		Demographic change rate	1981-2012
Smith & McCarty (1996)	Hurricane Andrew (1992)	Miami-Dade County (USA)	Post-disaster survey	5310	Return rate (return to pre- disaster)	1-2 years after disaster
Xiao & Van <u>Zandt</u> (2011)	Hurricane Ike (2008)	Galveston County (USA)	Post-disaster survey	980	Return rate (return to pre- disaster)	7 months after disaster
Zhang (2006)	Hurricane Andrew (1992)	South of Miami- Dade County (USA)	Demographic trend analysis	<u>-</u> 1.	Residential property values	1992-1996

# State-of-the-art of quantitative studies concerning post-disaster recovery of populations and communities.

⁴*Qualitative studies quoted in this paper are not listed in Table 1 for readability reasons.* 

### 2.2. Identifying predictive determinants for the recovery of populations

Beyond the diversity of studies, some variables are regularly quoted as being potentially predictive of the capability of a given population, social group, household, or person to recover.

## 2.2.1. Synthesis – predictive determinants for recovery

**Table 2** synthesizes those variables, which are grouped by factors. Amongst factors, a distinction has been made between pre-existing conditions and conditions created by the disaster occurrence. These variables are crucial to the understanding of the observed disparities – between communities and between affected populations – in the recovery stage. Three main factors emerge out of this set of variables – social capital, demographic, and socioeconomic individual status and post-disaster environmental conditions.

#### Table 2.

Timing	Factors	Variables	Impact on recovery rate / speed	Source (studies from table 1)	
	Control constant	Bonding	+	Aldrich (2012); Shimada (2015)	
Pre-disaster conditions	Social capital	Bridging	++	Elliott (2010); Shimada (2015)	
	Urbanization	Population / Building density	(. <del></del> )	Myers et al. (2008)	
	Croamsation	Multiple-dwelling buildings		Kamel (2012)	
		Household size	121	Bolin & Bolton (1986)	
	Demographic	Advanced age		Morrow-Jones & Morrow-Jones (1991)	
	Status	Woman as head of the household		Morrow-Jones & Morrow-Jones (1991)	
		Income	++	Aldrich (2012); Kamel (2012); Kamel & Loukaitou-Sideris (2004) Myers et al. (2008); Zhang (2006)	
	Social and economic status	Insurance cover	+	Bolin & Bolton (1986)	
		Education	+	Morrow-Jones & Morrow-Jones (1991)	
		Renter / Social housing		Kamel (2012); Zhang (2006)	
		Racial / Ethnic minority		Kamel (2012); Kamel & Loukaitou- Sideris (2004); Morrow-Jones & Morrow-Jones (1991); Zhang (2006)	
		Immigrant status	-	Kamel & Loukaitou-Sideris (2004)	
Post-disaster conditions	Physical damages	Hazard magnitude, residential damages		Kamel (2012); Myers et al. (2008); Smith & McCarthy (1996)	
	Environmental conditions	Business recovery	+	Xiao & Van Zandt (2011)	
		Departure of people from surrounding communities	-	Myers et al. (2008)	
	Post-disaster	Evacuation / Number of post- disaster displacements	-	Bolin & Bolton (1986)	
	individual itineraries	Geographic distance (between one's pre-disaster home and shelter / temporary house)	872	Smith & McCarthy (1996)	

#### Post-disaster recovery determinants.

#### 2.2.2. Social capital

Social capital appears nowadays at the centre of research on post-disaster recovery (Aldrich, 2012). Social capital is defined as the relationship between individuals. It is made of resources related to the belonging to a particular group (Bourdieu, 1980). The social capital of a given individual depends upon the size of the network he is able to mobilize. It is also related to the volume of the economic, symbolic, cultural capital of each person of

his or her network. Social capital thus reproduces the inequalities observed in the distribution of economic, cultural, symbolic capital. After a disaster, social capital is crucial for recovery for several reasons. (a) Thanks to social capital, inhabitants can overcome collective problems that arise during the recovery stage. Amongst other things, they are able to mutualize means so as to speed up recovery. (b) People with strong social capital are also more strongly attached to their communities, and therefore more willing to stay or to come back to their communities. (c) Finally, they are able to regroup in community organizations in order to make demands to the local and national authorities to have a say in the official recovery projects (Shimada, 2015). Social capital has spatial implications in the recovery phase, as shown by Aldrich (2012) after the Great Hanshin earthquake in 1995, and Hurricane Katrina in 2005. A neighbourhood even highly damaged may recover while another may not, due to differences in social capital.

#### 2.2.3. Individual factors

Individual status also plays a major role in recovery dynamics. On a demographic level, household configuration (gender, age, size) impacts recovery capability. Large households and families with children face pressures that other households do not - the former have more needs regarding public services, utilities, and educational systems (Paxson & Rouse, 2008; Sastry, 2009). A high proportion of elderly persons in households has adverse effects on recovery processes, in contrast to a high proportion of working-age persons - as the latter have larger incomes (Arouri et al., 2015). At last, gender discriminations overlap other kinds of racial and socioeconomic discriminations. For instance, after the Red River flood in 1997 (USA), single mothers were overrepresented in the FEMA trailers (Enarson & Fordham, 2001). On a socioeconomic level, there is a strong consensus between authors concerning income and economic capital variables (Carter et al., 2007; Green et al., 2007; Masozera et al., 2007). Higher incomes and savings allow people to recover quicker by their own means – for instance, rebuilding or finding another home. Similarly, owners may better recover than renters for several reasons – better economic situation, no rent to pay, and recovery policies favouring owners (Logan, 2006; Peacock et al., 2007; Whittle et al., 2010; Zhang, 2006; Zhang & Peacock, 2009). Finally, ethnic and racial status may also be a determinant for recovery (Fothergill et al., 1999). Minorities may not recover as quickly as the majority, for at least two reasons: (1) they have lower incomes and capital (Arouri et al., 2015); (2) racial discriminations by populations and administrations may exist which impact the recovery process.

#### 2.2.4. Post-disaster conditions

Finally, the post-disaster environment may also impact the recovery rate and speed. The damage rate of infrastructures, utilities, businesses and dwellings is of course a crucial factor in the recovery process (Paxson & Rouse, 2008). In an obvious way, recovery is harder and slower when damages are high. Populations may not return to their former communities if businesses are closed, and water or energy utilities are shut down, and it may be difficult for parents to go back to work if schools are still closed and unable to receive their children. Conversely, if populations do not come back to their communities, companies and authorities will not be enticed to invest in rebuilding utilities or reopening public services. Nevertheless, some authors have highlighted the fact that a disaster is also an opportunity to "build back better", which is easier when damages are so high that it is possible and less expensive to make tabula rasa (Aldrich, 2012). In contrast, this option is harder to implement when damages are moderate (when it is not required to rebuild but to repair).

### 3. METHODOLOGY

The methodology developed for quantitative and cartographic estimation of postdisaster social impacts is based on a combination of two models. On the one hand, it relies on a damage model, which aims at estimating the alteration of basic services and structures essential to the daily life of the populations. On the other hand, it is based upon the mapping of an Index of Social Destabilization (ISD). This spatialized index represents the susceptibility of a given population to undergo the negative impacts of a disaster in the long term, seen as an inverse function of its ability to recover. The damage model is determined by environmental variables characterizing the living conditions in a post-disaster situation. Conversely, recovery capability is estimated from individual and collective social variables, which characterize the exposed populations prior to the disaster.

### 3.1. Community damage model

The community damage model aims at estimating the degradation of services essential to the daily life of populations. These services are considered to be crucial to the return of inhabitants to their former homes or communities.

3.1.1. Identifying services conditioning the return of populations on an affected community

This model is based primarily on the identification of four types of structures and infrastructures hosting these basic services: housing, primary schools, food shops and supermarkets, railway stations and service stations of the rail network. The choice in this area is based on conceptual and practical reasons. From a practical point of view, the number of structures identified is limited in order to ensure the clarity of the model and its reproducibility. It must also be possible to find corresponding geolocated data, preferably free access. In this case, housing data is derived from a cross-referencing of the IGN⁵, the Iau-Idf⁶ and INSEE⁷ databases. This cross-referencing makes it possible to locate residential buildings in the Paris region, and to estimate within each building the number of dwellings and inhabitants. The method used to make these estimates is adapted from the one used by Ast for example (2008), or by the CGDD (Office of the Commissioner-General for Sustainable Development and the Observation and Statistics Service, 2012) to estimate the number of people in the flood area. Transport infrastructure data is taken from the STIF⁸ database, and business and public services data from an INSEE database on Permanent Facilities (BPE).

From a conceptual point of view, the choice of structures and infrastructures is based on the state-of- the- art drawn up previously on the post-disaster environment. Damages to businesses are central in the return (or not) of populations in a disaster area (Xiao & Van Zandt, 2011). This analysis is limited to retail trade as they are at the core of a district or town's life. They also are essential in case of crisis in order to supply populations with basic necessities. The availability of public transport is also essential to enable people to go to work, to cover their daily needs, to acquire basic necessities, to have access to medical facilities, and to be able to see their relatives and friends (Wright & Johnston, 2010). The

⁵ "BD Topo" – topographic data (IGN: National Institute of Geographical and Forestry Information).

⁶"BD MOS" – land cover data (Iau-Idf: Institute of Planning and Urban Development of the Ile-de-France region).

⁷"BD RGP" – population and dwelling data available at the census block scale (INSEE: National Institute of Itatistics and Economic Studies).

⁸STIF: Ile-de-France Transport Authority.

availability of public services is also an essential condition for recovery. Public services include schools, kindergartens and day care centers, as well as libraries (Groen & Polivka, 2010). However, it is the nursery and primary schools which are the keystone of the life of a district or town, allowing parents of young children to return to work during the working hours, and therefore allowing populations to return to a form of routine. Schools represent the reference local service, which need to be located very close to accommodations, unlike other public services. Finally, the availability of housing is a key factor in the return of the population. The latter must have a place to live and reside, which appears difficult in a context where the housing stock is partly damaged or destroyed.

## 3.1.2. Hazard Parameters and Damage Thresholds

Once these structures and infrastructures have been identified, it is necessary to estimate their potential damage. As a reminder, flooding causes a physical impact on the structure, as much by the prolonged contact of the water on the materials (capillarity effect), as by the hydrostatic effects (water levels) and the dynamics of the water (flow velocity, impact of floating objects) on structures (Salagnac et al., 2014, Torterotot, 1993). Multiple studies agree that the damage to the structure is effective if the water height levels are greater than or equal to one meter, or if the flood duration exceed 72 hours (CEPRI, 2012; Salagnac et al., 2014; Torterotot). Under these conditions, the finishing components of the building (secondary work), in some cases the shell (main work), must be rebuilt, which requires several months to several years. Uncertainties regarding the recovery time are numerous⁹.

#### 3.1.3. Model implementation with GIS

The model is implemented in a GIS, in two stages. First, it is necessary to cross the data related to the structures and infrastructures identified in the Paris region to the data on hazard parameters (water levels and flood duration). The water depth data used are surface data called Potential Flood Areas, available for various flood scenarios thanks to the mapping work of the DRIEE¹⁰ and the SGZDS-Paris¹¹. They were developed by the latter by crossing a hydraulic model (Alphee model – IIBRBS, 1998), and a Digital Elevation Model obtained by a LIDAR campaign (DRIEE and SGZDS-Paris, 2015). Ten flood scenarios were developed for the application of these Potential Flood Areas, from the "R0.5" scenario to the "R1.15" scenario: the figure is a coefficient, expressing the percentage of flood flow achieved during the January 1910 flood event. This article considers two scenarios: the scenario "R1" (100% of the flood discharge of 1910), and the scenario "R1.15" (115% of the flood discharge of 1910, that is the height reached by the latter at the Austerlitz hydrometric station in Paris¹²).

These two scenarios are scenarios of major flooding, of potential disasters, well-known by risk managers in the Paris region. The second scenario (R1.15) also makes it possible to

⁹In addition to hazard parameters, building protection and prevention measures can also limit (or worsen) the physical impact of flooding (CEPRI 2012, Salagnac et al., 2014). These measures are not studied here because it is not possible to obtain this type of data at the regional scale, and because they have a low impact (in particular for cofferdam type measurements) in case of a long-term flood. Plus, the purpose of the damage model is not to give an accurate estimate on a quantitative or spatial level, but to report the post-disaster situation on an overall state, summarized at the regional, departmental or municipal level.

¹⁰DRIEE: Regional and Interdepartmental Directorate of Environment and Energy.

¹¹SGZDS-Paris: General Secretariat at the Defense and Security Zone of Paris.

¹²The difference between flow and height is explained by the hydraulic developments that have been carried out since 1910 (EPTB Seine Grands Lacs, 2014).

study the significant threshold effects that characterize the Seine flood. The feedback from the recent floods (June 2016 in particular) cannot be used because the hydrological phenomena are not comparable and because they represent much more modest scenarios

phenomena are not comparable and because they represent much more modest scenarios than those we study. The duration of submersion is deduced by simplification of the Alphee hydraulic model (Fujiki, 2017). In a second step, these crossed data are aggregated on a municipal or municipal district level. The data is aggregated on a municipal level because the municipality is the reference administrative level on a local scale, particularly for crisis management (Gralepois, 2008). It is also the oldest local institution, which continues to forge communities' identity: this is essential because of the role of social capital in populations capabilities to recover in post-disaster situations. The results come in the form of a ratio: structures and infrastructures damaged in relation to the total number of structures and infrastructures. A ratio is separately calculated for each type of structure and infrastructure (schools, shops, train stations, dwellings). The resulting four ratios are then summarized as an unweighted average.

## 3.2. The Index of Social Destabilization (ISD)

The computation of community damage makes it possible to estimate the practical ability of populations to be able to return to their homes or communities of origin. It comes with the calculation of the ISD, which makes it possible to estimate the intrinsic capability of these populations to recover.

## 3.2.1. ISD potential variables

The ISD is a composite index aggregating a set of variables on a municipal scale. The variables are chosen according to practical and conceptual considerations. From a conceptual point of view, the ISD is based on the state-of-the-art previously described: it aggregates the identified individual and collective variables, which may characterize a population in its capability to recover a priori. For each variable identified in the state-ofthe-art, the objective is to find at least two indicators to represent it. From a practical point of view, it is also necessary to find indicators that can represent these variables on a municipal scale. These indicators must come from reliable, comprehensive sources throughout the Paris region and be relatively recent. Care must be taken to limit the number of sources used in order to avoid the constraints related to their heterogeneity and the issues of methodological compatibility. As a result, most of this data is made available by INSEE (RGP, RFL¹³, DADS¹⁴), although data from the Ministry of the Interior and the ONDRP¹⁵ are also used. Considering all these issues, the working data matrix of our index comprises 25 potential variables. Specific constraints arise in representing social capital since it is never directly measured, in contrast to individual variables related to the demographic or socio-economic status of individuals. Social capital can only be indirectly estimated (Shimada, 2015). As such, previous studies have identified various indicators to represent bonding-type social capital: the ratio between the number of associations created and the number of inhabitants inside a community, the residence time spent in the neighbourhood (Aldrich, 2012), income homogeneity or suicide rate (Shimada, 2015). To represent bridging-type capital, other proxies have been identified: crime rate (Shimada, 2015), and participation in political elections (Aldrich, 2012).

¹³Geolocated Data on Tax Revenues.

¹⁴Annual Declaration of Social Data.

¹⁵ONDRP: National Observatory on Delinquency and Penal Responses.

#### 3.2.2. Finalization of the index and statistical tests

A composite index, such as the ISD, is considered valid if it is conceptually coherent and statistically robust. Conceptual consistency of the index is ensured through the state-ofthe-art drawn up to constitute it. Statistical robustness is checked in several steps, based on a set of methods applied particularly to the development of synthetic indexes of vulnerability. Before the data can be processed, a statistical refining (using R) is required. This refining includes rationalization and normalization of the indicators used. Rationalization consists of transforming absolute variables into relative variables (in percentage and density functions), in order to be able to compare heterogeneous municipalities both in terms of area and population (Cutter et al., 2010). Normalization makes it possible to compare indicators with each other and thus to aggregate them, regardless of the units of measurement. Normalization methods are multiple, but we have chosen the z-score method as it moderately takes into account the impact of extreme values (OECD, 2008). For a given indicator, normalization takes place so that a positive value represents a negative impact on the recovery capability.

Statistical refining also includes the imputation of missing data: concerning income data, statistical secrecy is essential for some small municipalities, which are therefore not included in the list. In the statistical tests that follow, the missing data is replaced by the average. Other methods exist, but they present significant methodological problems (OECD, 2008). A rudimentary method was thus preferred, albeit readable and easily reproducible. The final step in statistical refining includes the elimination of redundant indicators, through a Pearson correlation test: correlated indicators above the 0.9 threshold are removed (Su et al., 2015). This procedure removes statistical duplicates that could result in the overrepresentation of a given phenomenon in the synthetic index. It also makes it possible to limit the number of indicators constituting the index and to improve its methodological transparency (OECD, 2008). Subsequently, our data matrix is reduced to 22 indicators. However, a synthetic index of 22 indicators is difficult to interpret: Therefore, it is necessary to analyse the underlying structure of the index, which implies subdividing it into sub-indices or dimensions (OECD, 2008). Two approaches coexist (Cutter et al., 2003, 2010, 2014): a deductive approach and an inductive approach. The deductive approach consists in creating sub-indices based on the state-of-the-art of the researcher, without any prior analysis of the data structure. It has the disadvantage of being based on a personal appreciation of the index and its structure. We prefer the inductive approach based on a statistical analysis of the data matrix. The inductive approach is based upon a Principal Component Analysis (PCA), consisting in grouping correlated variables into principal components uncorrelated among themselves. These principal components constitute the dimensions or sub-indices of our synthetic index. Before applying PCA, it must be verified that the variables in our data matrix can be grouped together through appropriate statistical tests (Wolf and McGregor, 2013). Bartlett's sphericity test aims to refute the null hypothesis that there are no observed relationships between the variables in the data table. This test, successful in our case, remains however insufficient because it is biased when the number of observations is high. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Sampling Precision Test (KMO) completes the analysis by comparing the magnitude of the correlation coefficients to the magnitude of the partial correlation coefficients, in the form of an index ranging from 0 to 1. This makes it possible to check that the variables can be clustered, and to delete the isolated variables from the rest of the data matrix. A KMO index can be computed for each variable and for the entire matrix. The OECD recommends deleting the variables with the lowest KMO until reaching a global KMO of 0.8 (OECD, 2008). Two variables are thus

deleted, to finally obtain a matrix of 20 variables characterized by a KMO of 0.89. Lastly, PCA may be computed. Four main components are retained with an eigenvalue greater than 1 (Cutter et al., 2003), explaining 70% of total variance of the data matrix. A varimax rotation of these four components is performed to maximize correlation of variables with a given component and to minimize correlation with the other components (Cutter et al., 2003, Su et al., 2015). **Table 3** describes these four components and the variables most correlated with them. Each component represents one dimension of our index. The value of each dimension is computed for each municipality, based upon the coordinates of principal components. The weighted mean is then computed to obtain the Index of Social Destabilization (ISD). The weighting method is based upon the proportion of total variance that each component explains. This is the weighting method chosen by many authors (Myers et al., 2008), although some authors prefer to avoid weighting components (Cutter et al., 2010; Lee, 2014), while others have proposed alternative methods: the Pareto rank method (Rygel et al., 2006) or hierarchical analysis using the Saaty method (Barbat 2003, Barczak & Grivault 2007).

Principal Component	Variables			
	Abstention rate in municipal elections Abstention rate in presidential elections Population able to vote ¹⁶			
	Rate of violence to persons			
Social capital - Family and demographic situation	% of large families (3 + children)			
	% women head of households			
	% of households in building			
	Unemployment rate			
	% of people in social housing or housed for fr			
	% of immigrants			
	Median revenue			
Wages and level of qualification	Average hourly net salary			
	% of graduates of higher education			
	% of non-graduates			
Working conditions	Part of employed part-time			
	Share of stable employment among employees			
	Number of inhabitants / km²			
Urban environment and socio-economic inequalities	GINI index			
	Residence time greater than or equal to 5 year			
	% single women			

Variables and principal components constituting the ISD.

Table 3.

#### 4. **RESULTS AND CONCLUSION**

Through the implementation of our methodology, it is possible to compute, for each municipality, the intrinsic recovery capability of its population (via the IDS) and the community damage ratios following a large flood of the Seine (scenarios "R1" and "R1.15"). Crossing the two analyses makes it possible to identify municipalities whose population is particularly vulnerable during the recovery phase.

#### 4.1. ISD mapping and recovery capabilities

As a first step, it is possible to identify, on a spatial level, the distribution of geographical disparities in the recovery capability of populations (**Fig. 1**). A three-fold finding emerges: first, an urban centre characterized by a higher index, and therefore a weaker recovery capability; then, an opposition between East and West Paris, in favour of the second; finally, the identification of small islands of high values, in Seine-Saint-Denis, in the "Seine" part of Val-de-Marne, in the southern suburbs in Essonne, and in the northern suburbs in the Val d'Oise.



Fig. 1. Mapping the social destabilization index in Paris region.

Various explanations can be put forward, particularly by looking at **Fig. 2**, which represents the different components of the social destabilization index. Without detailing these components, the impact of urban density can be seen, as well as the distribution of

income. Indeed, the mapping of the ISD covers, at least partially, that of the socio-spatial disparities that affect the Paris region (Bourdeau-Lepage, 2013; Gilli, 2014; Tovar & Bourdeau-Lepage, 2013).



Fig. 2. Decomposition of IDS in principal components in the four central departments of Paris region.

# 4.2. Cross analysis of community damage ratios and recovery capability: quantified estimates and mapping

The mapping of ISD, however, is of operational interest only when faced with the estimation of community damage caused by flood scenarios. This estimation, however, must be taken with hindsight because it is very dependent on the quality of the data available.

On a regional level, community damage caused by a flood of discharge equal to or greater than that of the flood of January 1910 may seem relatively moderate: less than five percent of the structures and basic infrastructures are damaged for a R1.15 scenario. These figures highlight, however, a strong threshold effect between scenario R1 and R1.15: the rise in the water level of a few tens of centimetres has multiplier effects, with a doubling of the damage levels (**Fig. 3**). They also show strong disparities in the exposure of communities, to the detriment of the departments of the inner suburbs (former zones of flood expansion). For the R1 scenario, the Val-de-Marne appears by far the department the most exposed (7.7% damage). Hauts-de-Seine department may also appear as highly damaged under the R1.15 scenario (9.2% damage for the latter, 12.1% for Val-de-Marne in this scenario).



Fig. 3. Summary of community damage by department, for flood scenarios R1 and R1.15.

These disparities are even greater at the scale of municipalities (**Fig. 4, Table 4**). It is therefore possible to observe that, although regional damage ratios remain moderate, this is not the case on a lower level. Long-term social impacts remain a problem whose effects are felt most on a local scale. Thus, for a R1.15 scenario, the municipalities of Villeneuve-la-Garenne (Hauts-de-Seine), Alfortville (Val-de-Marne), Viry-Châtillon (Essonne) are characterized by a damage ratio superior to 50% of their basic structures and infrastructure. More broadly, twenty municipalities (amongst those with more than 10,000 inhabitants) have to deal with a damage ratio superior to 20%.

Crossing community damage and ISD values allows the identification of particularly vulnerable municipalities. Thus, **table 4** ranks municipalities according to the Index of Social Destabilization, according to damage ratios, and to the two combined factors. A geography of post-disaster vulnerabilities is then possible: the most sustainable post-disaster social impacts can then be identified within municipalities that combine the high damage and the high destabilization index. In the latter, the population is not only vulnerable, but it also faces severely degraded post-disaster environmental conditions, in terms of access to public services, housing, transport and businesses that are essential to daily life. As such, the municipalities of Villeneuve-la-Garenne, Gennevilliers (Hauts-de-Seine), Villeneuve-Saint-Georges (Val-de-Marne), appear as communities to prioritize during the recovery stage.

45



Fig. 4. Community damage ratio mapping in Paris region.

# Classification of municipalities with more than 10,000 inhabitants according to the index of social destabilization and community damage ratio, for a R1.15 flood scenario.

Municipality name	ISD		Damage ratio		Mean rank (ISD + Damage)
	Value	Rank	%	Rank	
VILLENEUVE-LA-GARENNE	1,6	4	75%	1	1
GENNEVILLIERS	1,8	1	44%	5	2
VILLENEUVE-SAINT-GEORGES	1,6	5	50%	4	3
ALFORTVILLE	1,2	11	62%	2	4
VIRY-CHATILLON	0,8	20	52%	3	5
VILLENEUVE-LE-ROI	0,9	19	43%	6	6
IVRY-SUR-SEINE	1,5	7	26%	18	6
BEZONS	1,1	14	31%	11	6
VITRY-SUR-SEINE	1,3	10	27%	17	9
VALENTON	1,5	6	19%	21	9
LES MUREAUX	1,6	3	16%	25	11
VIGNEUX-SUR-SEINE	1,0	17	29%	13	12
MONTEREAU-FAULT-YONNE	1,7	2	14%	31	13
ASNIERES-SUR-SEINE	0,7	23	31%	10	13
CLICHY	1,3	9	15%	26	15
CHOISY-LE-ROI	1,1	13	17%	23	16
JUVISY-SUR-ORGE	0,6	28	39%	8	16
COLOMBES	1,0	16	21%	20	16
CARRIERES-SOUS-POISSY	0,7	25	31%	12	19
NEUILLY-PLAISANCE	0,5	31	42%	7	20
CRETEIL	1,1	12	15%	27	21
RIS-ORANGIS	0,9	18	18%	22	22
CHELLES	0,6	29	29%	14	23
ACHERES	0,6	30	27%	16	24
CORBEIL-ESSONNES	1,4	8	12%	39	25
MAISONS-ALFORT	0,5	32	27%	15	25
LE PECQ	0,2	44	37%	9	27
PARIS 15E ARRONDISSEMENT	0,7	24	14%	30	28
ATHIS-MONS	0,7	26	14%	33	29
GAGNY	0,8	21	9%	43	30
PONTOISE	1,0	15	5%	50	31
SAINT-MAURICE	0,5	36	14%	32	32
JOINVILLE-LE-PONT	0,5	34	13%	35	33
PARIS 12E ARRONDISSEMENT	0,6	27	9%	42	33
ANDRESY	-0,1	50	23%	19	33
ISSY-LES-MOULINEAUX	0,3	41	15%	29	36
BRY-SUR-MARNE	-0,0	47	17%	24	37
LE PERREUX-SUR-MARNE	0,2	43	15%	28	37
LAGNY-SUR-MARNE	0,5	35	12%	37	39
PARIS 4E ARRONDISSEMENT	0,8	22	5%	51	40
BOULOGNE-BILLANCOURT	0,4	38	13%	36	41
CHARENTON-LE-PONT	0,5	33	8%	45	42
SAINT-MAUR-DES-FOSSES	0,1	45	14%	34	43

DRAVEIL	0,4	39	9%	41	44
VAIRES-SUR-MARNE	0,4	37	9%	44	45
RUEIL-MALMAISON	-0,0	46	12%	38	46
LEVALLOIS-PERRET	0,4	40	8%	47	47
PARIS 8E ARRONDISSEMENT	0,2	42	8%	46	48
SAINT-CLOUD	-0,2	51	10%	40	49
VERNEUIL-SUR-SEINE	-0,0	48	7%	48	50
NEUILLY-SUR-SEINE	-0,1	49	6%	49	51

## 4.3. Conclusions

To conclude, this study is based on the combination of an analysis of social variables, expressing the intrinsic recovery capability of populations, and a community damage model, based on the analysis of environmental variables relating to flood hazard. In this way, it is possible to estimate post-disaster social impacts at the level of municipalities in the Paris region.

If reconstruction must be managed on a macro-geographic scale, through regional and national steering to mobilize massive logistical, financial and organizational means, long-term social impacts are felt primarily at the local scale. Municipalities characterized by both severe damage and weak recovery capability are likely to experience the most profound post-disaster changes in their socio-demographic profile: from the replacement of a given population by another to potential local desertification of the disaster area. Recovery is indeed a period marked by divergent territorial trajectories, which reproduce and accentuate pre-existing social and spatial disparities. Yet, recovery policies generally focus on physical capital reconstruction, neglecting social capital recovery and sometimes aggravating spatial inequalities in the recovery process (Aldrich, 2012, Gotham & Greenberg, 2014, Gotham, 2015). In order to avoid these pitfalls, the municipalities thus identified through our methodology must be the subject of in-depth consideration by the authorities of the Paris region in the planning process prior to the disaster.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the two anonymous reviewers for their useful comments. They would also like to thank Pr. Michel Mietton (University Lyon 3) for his help. At last, they would like to thank the Prefectoral Police of Paris and the Defense and Security Area of Paris for their support, as well as the research project team of EURIDICE (Equipe Universitaire sur les Risques, Dispositifs de Gestion de Crise et des Evénements Majeurs).

## REFERENCES

Adger, W. (2006) Vulnerability, Global Environmental Change, 16, 268-281.

- Ahern, M., Kovats, R.S., Wilkinson, P., Few, R. & Matthies, F. (2005) Global Health Impacts of Floods: Epidemiologic Evidence, *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 27, 36–46.
- Aldrich, D. (2012) *Building resilience. Social capital in post-disaster recovery*, Chicago, London, The University of Chicago Press.
- Alexander, D. (2000), *Confronting catastrophe. New perspectives on natural disasters*, Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Arouri, M., Nguyen, C. & Ben Youssef, A. (2015) Natural disasters, household welfare, and resilience: evidence from rural Vietnam, *World Development*, 70, 59–77.

- Ast, J.-P. (2008) *Etude sur la vulnérabilité des territoires essonniens face au risque inondation* (Travail de Fin d'Etude. Cycle des Ingénieurs diplômés de 3ème année), Champs sur Marne, Ecole Nationale des Sciences Géographiques.
- Baade, R., Baumann, R. & Matheson, V. (2007) Estimating the economic impact of natural and social disasters, with an application to hurricane Katrina, *Urban Studies*, 44, 2061–2076.
- Barbat, A. (2003) *Detailed application of the holistic approach for seismic risk evaluation in an urban center using relative indices*. Manizales, Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Information and Indicators Program for Disaster Risk Management.
- Barczak, A. & Grivault, C. (2007) Système d'information géographique pour l'évaluation de la vulnérabilité au risque de ruissellement urbain, in: 6th International Conference on Sustainable Techniques and Strategies in Urban Water Management, Novatech, Lyon.
- Beraud, H. (2013) Initier la résilience du service de gestion des déchets aux catastrophes naturelles : le cas des territoires urbains et de l'inondation (PhD Thesis), Marne-la-Vallée, Université Paris-Est.
- Bolin, R. & Bolton, P. (1986) Race, religion, and ethnicity in disaster recovery (FMHI Publications No. 88), Tampa, Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute (FMHI), University of South Florida.
- Bolin, R. & Stanford, L. (1991) Shelter, housing and recovery: a comparison of US disasters, *Disasters*, 15, 24–34.
- Bourdeau-Lepage, L. (2013) Introduction. Grand Paris: projet pour une métropole globale, *Revue d'Economie Régionale et Urbaine*, 2013/3, 403–436.
- Bourdieu, P. (1980) Le capital social, Actes de la recherche en sciences sociales, 31, 2-3.
- Brémond, P., Grelot, F. & Agenais, A.-L. (2013) Review Article: Economic evaluation of flood damage to agriculture – review and analysis of existing methods, *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 13, 2493–2512.
- Cardona, O. (2003) The need for rethinking the concepts of vulnerability and risk from a holistic perspective: a necessary review and criticism for effective risk management, in: *Mapping Vulnerability: Disasters, Development and People*, London, Earthscan, 37–51.
- Carter, M., Little, P. & Mogues, T. (2007) Poverty traps and natural disasters in Ethiopia and Honduras, *World Development*, 35, 835–856.
- CEPRI (2012) Le bâtiment face à l'inondation. Diagnostiquer et réduire sa vulnérabilité (Les guides du CEPRI). Orléans.
- CEPRI (2014) L'évacuation massive des populations. Les territoires face à l'inondation (Les guides du CEPRI). Orléans.
- Chocat B. (1997) Encyclopédie de l'hydrologie urbaine et de l'assainissement. Paris, Lavoisier, 1124 p.
- CGDD (2012) Méthodes d'estimation de population et de logements en zone inondable (Rapport -Développement durable). Paris, Ministère de l'Ecologie, du Développement Durable et de l'Energie.
- Cutter, S., Boruff, B. & Shirley, W. (2003) Social vulnerability to environmental hazards, *Social Science Quarterly*, 84, 242–261.
- Cutter, S., Burton, C. & Emrich, C. (2010) Disaster resilience indicators for benchmarking baseline conditions, *Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Management*, 7,51–51.
- Cutter, S., Ash, K. & Emrich, C. (2014) The geographies of community disaster resilience, *Global Environmental Change*, 29, 65–77.
- Dauphiné, A. & Provitolo, D. (2013) *Risques et catastrophes : observer, spatialiser, comprendre, gérer.* Paris, Armand Collin, 416p.
- De Moel, H., Jongman, B., Kreibich, H., Merz, B., Penning-Rowsell, E. & Ward, P. (2015) Flood risk assessments at different spatial scales, *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 20, 865–890.
- DRIEE & SGZDS-Paris (2015) Tableau récapitulatif des modélisations de zones inondables. Zones Inondées Potentielles. Paris.

- Eleuterio, J., Payraudeau, S. & Rozan, A. (2008) Sensibilité de l'évaluation des dommages associés aux inondations en fonction de la caractérisation de la vulnérabilité des bâtiments, *Ingénieries*, 55–56, 29–44.
- Elliott, J. (2010) Limits to social capital: comparing network assistance in two New Orleans neighborhoods devastated by hurricane Katrina, *The Sociological Quarterly*, 51, 624–648.
- Enarson, E. & Fordham, M. (2001) Line that divide, ties that bind: Race, class, and gender in women's flood recovery in the US and UK, *The Australian Journal of Emergency Management*, 15, 43–53.
- Esnard, A.-M., Sapat, A. & Mitsova, D. (2011) An index of relative displacement risk to hurricanes, *Natural Hazards*, 59, 833–859.
- Etablissement Public Territorial de Bassin (EPTB) Seine Grands Lacs (2014) *Programme d'actions de prévention des inondations de la Seine et de la Marne Franciliennes (PAPI). Synthèse*, Paris, Hauts-de-Seine, Seine-Saint-Denis, Val de Marne, Mairie de Paris.
- Falk, W., Hunt, M. & Hunt, L. (2006) Hurricane Katrina and new Orleanians' sense of place, *Du Bois* Review, 3, 115–128.
- Faytre, L. (2011) Urbanisation et zones inondables : les risques encourus (Note rapide Territoires No. 557), Paris, Iau-Idf.
- Fekete, A. (2009) Validation of a social vulnerability index in context to river-floods in Germany, *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 9, 393–403.
- Finch, C., Emrich, C. & Cutter, S. (2010) Disaster disparities and differential recovery in New Orleans, *Population and Environment*, 31, 179–202.
- Flanagan, B., Gregory, E., Hallisey, E., Heitgerd, J. & Lewis, B. (2011) A social vulnerability index for disaster management, *Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Management*, 8, 3–3.
- Fothergill, A., Maestas, E. & DeRouen Darlington, J. (1999) Race, Ethnicity and Disasters in the United States: a review of the literature, *Disasters*, 23, 156–173.
- Fujiki, K., (2017) Etude prospective des impacts sociaux d'une inondation majeure en région Ile-de-France. Disparités socio-spatiales dans la prise en charge des populations franciliennes en situation de crise et de post-crise : une analyse cartographiée et quantifiée des besoins des ménages, de l'évacuation à la reconstruction (PhD Thesis). Lyon, Université Jean Moulin Lyon 3.
- Gilli, F. (2014) Grand Paris. L'émergence d'une métropole, Paris, Presses de Sciences Po.
- Gotham, K. (2015) "Limitations, Legacies, and Lessons: Post-Katrina Rebuilding in Retrospect and Prospect". *American Behavioral Scientist*, 59, 1314–1326.
- Gotham, K. & Greenberg, M. (2014) Crisis Cities. Disaster and Redevelopment in New York and New Orleans. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Gralepois, M. (2008) Le Plan Communal de Sauvegarde. Une approche territoriale de la sécurité civile à travers l'enquête des conditions de mise en place dans les communes françaises (GT5 5ème Commission "Risques Industriels Transports"), Paris, Conseil National de la Protection Civile.
- Green, R., Bates, L. & Smyth, A. (2007) Impediments to recovery in New Orleans' Upper and Lower Ninth Ward: one year after hurricane Katrina, *Disasters*, 31, 311–335.
- Groen, J. & Polivka, A. (2010) Going home after hurricane Katrina: determinants of return migration and changes in affected areas, *Demography*, 47, 821–844.
- Hammond, M. (2014) Flood impact assessment literature review (Project Report FP7 Collaborative research on flood resilience in urban areas). Exeter, European Community Seventh Framework Programme.
- Hubert, G. & Ledoux, B. (1999) Le coût du risque ...: l'évaluation des impacts socio-économiques des inondations. Paris, Presses de l'Ecole Nationale des Ponts et Chaussées.
- Hufschmidt, G. (2011) A comparative analysis of several vulnerability concepts, *Natural Hazards*, 58, 621–643.
- IIBRBS (1998) Evaluation des dommages liés aux crues en région Ile-de-France, Paris, Hydratec, Société d'Ingénierie pour l'Eau et l'Environnement, Territoires Conseil.

- Kamel, N. (2012) Social Marginalisation, Federal Assistance and Repopulation Patterns in the New Orleans Metropolitan Area following Hurricane Katrina, Urban Studies, 49, 3211–3231.
- Kamel, N. & Loukaitou-Sideris, A. (2004) Residential assistance and recovery following the Northridge earthquake, *Urban Studies*, 41, 533–562.
- Kates, R., Colten, C., Laska, S. & Leatherman, S. (2006) Reconstruction of New Orleans after Hurricane Katrina: a research perspective, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of* the United States of America, 103, 14653–14660.
- Koks, E., Jongman, B., Husby, T. & Botzen, W. (2015) Combining hazard, exposure and social vulnerability to provide lessons for flood risk management, *Environmental Science and Policy*, 47, 42–52.
- Le Masurier, J., Rotimi, J. & Wilkinson, S. (2006) A comparison between routine construction and post-disaster reconstruction with case studies from New Zealand, in: 22nd ARCOM Conference on Current Advances in Construction Management Research, Association of Researchers in Construction management (ARCOM), Birmingham.
- Lee, Y.-J. (2014) Social vulnerability indicators as a sustainable planning tool, *Environmental Impact* Assessment Review, 44, 31–42.
- Leon, G. (2004) Overview of the psychosocial impact of disasters, *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, 19, 4–9.
- Lindell, M. (2013) Recovery and reconstruction after disaster, in: *Encyclopedia of Natural Hazards*, Berlin, Springer et Business Media B.V., 812–824.
- Logan, J. (2006), The impact of Katrina: race and class in storm-damaged neighborhoods, Providence, Brown University.
- Masson-Planchon, S. & Reghezza-Zitt, M. (2017) La planification au défi de l'incertitude. Faire face à l'inimaginable, in: La Gestion de crise à l'épreuve de l'exercice EU SEQUANA, Paris, La documentation française, 37–41, 145–148, 179–183.
- Masozera, M., Bailey, M. & Kerchner, C. (2007) Distribution of impacts of natural disasters across income groups: a case study of New Orleans, Ecological Economics, 63, 299–306.
- Merz, B., Kreibich, H., Schwarze, R. & Thieken, A. (2010) Review article "Assessment of economic flood damage", *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 10, 1697–1724.
- Moatty, A. & Vinet, F. (2016) Post-disaster recovery: the challenge of anticipation, in: *FLOODrisk* 2016 3rd European Conference on Flood Risk Management, Lyon.
- Morrow-Jones, H. & Morrow-Jones, C. (1991) Mobility Due to Natural Disaster: Theoretical Considerations and Preliminary Analyses, *Disasters*, 15, 126–132.
- Myers, C., Slack, T. & Singelmann, J. (2008) Social vulnerability and migration in the wake of disaster: the case of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita, *Population and Environment*, 29, 271–291.
- November, V. & Créton-Cazanave, L. (2017) La gestion de crise à l'épreuve de l'exercice EU SEQUANA, Paris, La documentation française.
- OECD (2008) Handbook on constructing composite indicators. Methodology and user guide, Paris, OECD Publishing. Paris, 158p.
- OECD (2014) Seine Basin, Ile-de-France, 2014: Resilience to major floods, OECD Publishing. Paris, 226p.
- Paxson, C. & Rouse, C. (2008) Returning to New Orleans after hurricane Katrina, American Economic Review, 98, 38–42.
- Peacock, W., Dash, N. & Zhang, Y. (2007) Sheltering and Housing Recovery Following Disaster, in: Handbook of Disaster Research, New York, Springer New York, 258–274.
- Rufat, S., Tate, E., Burton, C. & Maroof, A.S. (2015) Social vulnerability to floods: review of case studies and implications for measurement, *International Journal of Disaster Risk* Reduction, 14, 470–486.
- Rygel, L., O'Sullivan, D. & Yarnal, B. (2006) A method for constructing a social vulnerability index: an application to hurricane storm surges in a developed country, *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 11, 741–764.

- Salagnac, J.-L., Marchand, D., Florence, C., Delpech, P. & Axès, J.-M. (2014) Impacts des inondations sur le cadre bâti et ses usagers (Rapport final). Champs-sur-Marne, Centre Scientifique et Technique du Bâtiment.
- Sastry, N. (2009), Tracing the effects of hurricane Katrina on the population of New Orleans, Sociological Methods & Research, 38, 171–196.
- Shimada, G. (2015), The role of social capital after disasters: an empirical study of Japan based on Time-Series-Cross-Section (TSCS) data from 1981 to 2012, *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 14, 388–394.
- Smith, S. & McCarty, C. (1996) Demographic effects of natural disasters: a case study of hurricane Andrew, *Demography*, 33, 265–275.
- Su, S., Pi, J., Wan, C., Li, H., Xiao, R. & Li, B. (2015) Categorizing social vulnerability patterns in Chinese coastal cities, *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 116, 1–8.
- Torterotot, J.-P. (1993) Le coût des dommages dus aux inondations : estimation et analyse des incertitudes (PhD Thesis). Paris, Ecole Nationale des Ponts et Chaussées.
- Toubin, M. (2014) Améliorer la résilience urbaine par un diagnostic collaboratif. L'exemple des services urbains parisiens face à l'inondation (PhD Thesis). Paris, Université Paris-Diderot.
- Tovar, E. & Bourdeau-Lepage, L., (2013) Well-being Disparities within the Paris Region: A Capabilist Spatialised Outlook, *Urban Studies*, 50, 1575–1591.
- Vigdor, J. (2008) The economic aftermath of hurricane Katrina, Journal of Economic, 22, 135-154.
- Whittle, R., Medd, W., Deeming, H., Kashefi, E., Mort, M., Twigger Ross, C., Walker, G. & Watson, N. (2010) After the rain - learning the lessons from flood recovery in Hull. Final Project Report (Flood, Vulnerability and Urban Resilience: a real-time study of local recovery following the floods of June 2007 in Hull). Lancaster, Lancaster University.
- Wolf, T. & McGregor, G. (2013) The development of a heat wave vulnerability index for London, United Kingdom, Weather and Climate Extremes, 1, 59–68.
- Wright, K. & Johnston, D. (2010) Post-earthquake sheltering needs; how loss of structures and services affects decision making for evacuation, in: *New Zealand Society of Earthquake Engineering Conference*, Wellington.
- Xiao, Y. & Van Zandt, S. (2011) Building community resiliency: spatial links between household and business post-disaster return, Urban Studies [Online] Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098011428178 [Accessed 9th March 2015].
- Zhang, Y. (2006) Modeling single family housing recovery after hurricane Andrew in Miami-Dade County, FL (PhD Thesis). College Station, Texas A&M University.
- Zhang, Y. & Peacock, W. (2009), Planning for housing recovery? Lessons learned from hurricane Andrew, *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 76, 5–24.

# SYNOPTIC PROCESSES GENERATING WINDTHROWS. A CASE STUDY IN THE APUSENI MOUNTAINS (ROMANIA)

Paula FURTUNA¹, Ionel HAIDU², Narcis MAIER³

#### DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.04

#### **ABSTRACT:**

Windstorms are among the main factors causing damages to forest ecosystems. These meteorological phenomena cannot be predicted, prevented or controlled. They are occurring rapidly and take place in a meteorological context characterized by high velocities of the air currents. This paper analyses the characteristics of the severe meteorological events on 20 July 2011 which have led to windthrows on extended areas within the Apuseni Mountains in the Romanian Carpathians. The study highlights the evolution of the synoptic processes both at regional scale and at mesoscale. The meteorological analysis is carried out based on synoptic maps and by means of the data coming from the doppler WSR-98D radar in Bobohalma. The main results indicate the occurrence of the severe meteorological phenomena against the background of alternating atmospheric circulation types. The main cause is the transition of the zonal circulation into maritime tropical circulation. This contributed to the destabilizing of the warm and moist air masses that have generated strong storms at national level

*Key-words:* Synoptic processes, Windthrows, Wind gusts, Radar images, Romanian Carpathians.

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Over the last decades, windthrows have increased both in size and in frequency. The researches on future climate changes predict the enhancement of the extreme meteorological phenomena (windstorms) over the following decades (Thom & Seidl, 2015).

The causes of windthrows are both natural and anthropogenic. Many factors (meteorological, topographical, biological, and edaphic) interact simultaneously and influence the damage patterns and the recovery dynamics of these damages. As an ecological factor, the wind is no longer seen as a simple disturbance force, but as a spatial disturbance agent that causes significant damages to the forest vegetation. It affects more aspects of the disturbed forests such as community structure, individual tree growth, tree regeneration, and species diversity (Xi, 2005).

Scientific investigations estimate that approximatively 0.12% of the volume of European forests is disturbed every year (the average value for the 1950-2010 interval, after Schuck & Schelhaas, 2013).

The forests in the Carpathian Mountains represent the largest temperate forest in Europe. They are composed of beech and mixed forests, but also of many areas with spruce

² Laboratoire LOTERR-EA7304, Université de Lorraine, 57045 Metz, France, ionel.haidu@univlorraine.fr.

¹Babeş-Bolyai University, 400006 Cluj-Napoca, Romania, paula_roxana.furtuna@yahoo.com.

³National Meteorlogical Administration, Regional Meteorological Center "Transylvania North", 400213 Cluj Napoca,, Romania, mcis73@yahoo.com.

monocultures (Griffiths et al., 2014). The latter have a high vulnerability to windthrows. Windstorms are responsible for more than 50% of the damages caused to the European forests both by the biotic and by the abiotic factors (Gardiner et al 2011). The natural disturbances in the Carpathian Mountains are greatly caused by wind and snow, but forests are frequently affected also by pests, insects and industrial pollution (Oszlanyi, 1997).

Recent studies indicate that more than 28% of the forest areas in the Romanian Carpathians are vulnerable to windthrows (Savulescu & Mihai, 2012). The increase of forest vulnerability to windthrows is influenced also by forest management (Schuck & Schelhaas, 2013). Forest exploitation in Romania has intensified during the communist period (Grozavu et.al, 2012). This led to the fragmentation of the native species which have been replaced by spruce cultures, exploited for timber production (Munteanu et. al, 2014).

The main cause of the disturbances in the Romanian Carpathians is represented by windthrows (Anfodillo et al., 2008), although the extreme wind meteorological events occur once every 10-15 years (Popa, 2008). Most of the windthrows are diffuse, small scale (Costea et al., 2012; Furtuna et al., 2016). Some of them are not even being registered in the forest management books. However, greater attention was paid to windthrows in the Apuseni Natural Park caused by strong winds and storms (Costea & Haidu, 2010; Furtuna, 2017).

The reason for this study is given by the yet increasing frequency of windthrows in the Apuseni Mountains and by the intensification of extreme meteorological phenomena leading to their occurrence. Their effects are directly connected to the pressure of the wind on the brushes and by the amount of rainfall during the meteorological phenomenon. However, since 2011 there have been recorded no windthrows of such amplitude in the Apuseni Mountains.

The main objective of this study is to analyse the characteristics of the severe meteorological events on 20 July 2011 that have led to windthrows on extended areas within the Apuseni Mountains. The paper analyses to what extent is the severe weather capable of generating significant windthrows. At the same time, the paper highlights the evolution of the synoptic processes both at regional scale and at mesoscale. Understanding the interaction process between wind and forest vegetation, as well as the impact of the damages caused by the wind, is important in forest management in order to establish and implement some sustainability policies.

#### 2. DATA AND METHODS

The analysed area is located in the north-eastern part of the Alba county, with the following coordinates:  $46^{\circ}21$  N and  $23^{\circ}02$  E (**Fig. 1**), overlapping the Muntele Mare and Trascău Mountains and the Câmpeni lowland area.

The climate features are directly influenced by the geographical position. The annual temperatures are closely connected to the local morphological specificities. Hence, the channelling of air and low temperature on the Arieş Valley, especially during winter, leads to lower temperatures (Maier, 2011).

The vegetation in the area is specific to the hill and mountain regions, composed of mixed {beech (Fagus Sylvatica), fir (Abies Alba) and spruce (Picea Abies)} forests. The area affected by windthrows is located at altitudes ranging between 800-1200 meters, composed of coniferous (especially spruce) and broad leaf forests.



Fig. 1. Location of the study area (source Furtuna, 2017).

The methodology used for this study focused on the synoptic analysis of the meteorological conditions of the windthrows on 20 July 2011. Yet, the first stage of the study has implied the detection of the areas affected by windthrows. Based on the data referring to the extreme weather event on 11 July 2011, Landsat satellite images were used for the period before and after the meteorological phenomenon. The Landsat sensors are a useful tool for ensuring the images necessary for the assessment and monitoring of the changes induced to the forest vegetation (Vogelmann et al., 2012). The Landsat images have been pre-processed to calculate the root mean square error (RMSE) for the two images that were used and to convert the digital numbers into the surface reflection according to the established methodologies (Furtuna et al., 2015; Haidu et al., 2017).

The detection of the changes occurred in the forest vegetation after the storm (**Fig. 2**) was carried out based on the calculation of the difference between the NDVI index calculated for the image before and after the storm, respectively.

The synoptic analysis was carried out based on the synoptic maps of the European continent, the maps of the pressure field at soil level, the maps of the geopotential and temperature field of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration <a href="http://www.esrl.noaa.gov">http://www.esrl.noaa.gov</a> and DWD - Deutscher Wetterdienst <a href="http://www.esrl.noaa.gov">www.wetterzentrale.de</a>.

In the case of sub-synoptic scale (mesoscale) or storm scale analysis, data from the Doppler WSR-98D radar in Bobohalma (Mureş county) were used. In order to determine the movement direction and the speed of storm movement, thematic radar images were used such as reflectivity, images of the convective storms movement speed, of the Vertically Integrated Liquid water (VIL), and of the cloud masses height.



Fig.2. The detection of the areas affected by storm, as well as the paths of the convective phenomena.

When calculating the speed of wind gusts, we used the corresponding values of VIL and ET applied in the formula used also by the researchers at Air Force's Air Weather Service (1996).

W =  $[(15.780608 \cdot \text{VIL}) - (2.3810964 \cdot 10^{-6} \cdot \text{ET}^2)]^{1/2}$  (AWS, 1996)

where: VIL is the vertically integrated liquid water volume [kg·m⁻²], ET is the height of the cloud (echo) [km].

The analysis methodology of the synoptic situations was carried out by means of the images with the tempo-spatial evolutions of the VIL product, extracted from the values of storm cores and superimposed over the rainfall areas. This methodology brings additional useful information in order to determine the paths of the convective phenomena depending on the moisture load and speed of travel.

#### 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The synoptic conditions that generated the significant amounts of rainfalls and storms on 20 July 2011 leading to windthrows on more than 120 ha of forests in the Apuseni Mountains were caused by the intensification of the cyclonic activity.

The synoptic situation before the occurrence of the 20 July storm was characterized by western atmospheric circulation above our country. This synoptic configuration persisted, with slight variations, from 15 July until 19 July (**Fig. 3**). It was characterized by a hot and dry period, with temperatures exceeding  $35^{\circ}$ C.

Following the geopotential field at the 500 hPa isobar level, the altitude difference can easily be identified, with a well highlighted core in the north of Europe, characterized by a pressure in the 995 hPa centre. A secondary core with 1000 hPa pressure is located in the centre of Europe, also affecting western Romania on 20 July.



Fig. 3. The geopotential field at the 500 hPa (550 m) isobar level, the 17-20 July 2011 interval. (source: www.wetterzentrale.de)

The geopotential field configuration at the 500 hPa isobar level indicates a low value of the geopotential of only 5720 mgp. Based on the structure of the air temperature field at the 850 hPa level, the Western Romania fits within the 17°-18° range (**Fig. 4**).



Fig.4 The geopotential field at 550 hPa and the structure of the air temperature field at 850 hPa level for the Romanian territory (processed by means of <u>http://www.esrl.noaa.gov</u>) for the day 20.07.2011.

The baric situation over Europe indicates the presence of an anticyclonic field at the ground level over the Western Europe and in the north of Africa. The rest of the continent was dominated by a cyclonic field, with a core located in the Pannonian Plain and the west of Romania with the 998 hPa pressure (**Fig. 5**).



(source: www.wetterzentrale.de)

On 20 July, the transition of the zonal circulation into maritime tropical circulation, contributed to the destabilizing of the warm and moist air masses that generated strong storms at national level.

Windthrows were caused by the convective descending movements which were associated with the increase of the cumulus clouds and the development of storms (Furtună et al., 2013). Although convective winds occur suddenly and violently, these have a short duration and determine violent occurrences of meteorological phenomena at soil level.

The day of 20 July starts with a pre-front instability. The first D0 wind gust started around 12:00 GTM (**Fig. 6**), being formed in the Zarand Mountains area. The wind gust increases in intensity with the movement to the north, reaching the speed of 23 m/s south of Vidra village.



Fig. 6. The speed of wind gusts and the time interval they took place.

The second wind gust, G1, developed around 12:30 and had constant speeds, which did not exceed 20 m/s. This speed was recorded when the gust crossed the town of Câmpeni, where the windthrows occurred.

The Z0 wind gust was formed in the Poiana Ruscă Mountains area. It was stronger in intensity; it exceeded 23 m/s in the area of Câmpeni and Bistra localities when it reached the mesocyclon level (MESO - indicates the existence of wind shears within the storm). The mesocyclone is associated with a lower pressure region located in a severe storm and generating tornadoes. Such storms are characterized by strong surface winds and hail. The wind gust has lost its intensity when meeting the mountain range blockage in the Muntele Mare area (**Fig. 7**).

The graphical form of the storm core path indicates the air circulation from the lower troposphere to the middle one, i.e. from the south-east to the north-west (**Fig. 7**). The strongest gusts recorded speeds higher than 23 m/s when crossing the affected area.



Fig. 7. The trajectory and speed of the wind gusts in the area affected by windthrows.

After this storm episode, the instability gradually decreased during the night of 20-21 July, when a new hot and dry period started.

## 4. CONCLUSIONS

The synoptic situation of the storm that caused windthrows on more than 150 ha of forest was favoured by the alternating atmospheric circulation types. This created a favourable context for the formation of convective cells. The windthrow was caused by the descending convective movements. All these high-altitude cold air convections remained on the valleys and caused windthrows.

The calculation of the gusts speeds by means of VIL and ET corresponding values enabled us to determine the paths of the convective phenomena and their speed of travel. The three cores had a travel direction from the south-eastern to the north-eastern sector, crossing the Apuseni Mountains. In terms of meteorological risk, the windthrow on 20 July 2011 was characterized by the occurrence of the short-term wind gusts at speeds higher than 23 m/s (almost 90 km/h).

The Apuseni Mountains area can become the stage of such phenomena whenever the zonal circulation turns into maritime tropical circulation. The instability of the warm and moist air masses is favoured by the fact that the mountains are surrounded by low lands (the Western Hills and Plain, the Transylvanian Plateau, the large corridor of the Mureş River). The elevational gradient conferred by the sudden transition to high altitudes is very important.

The morphography of the Apuseni Mountains is characterized by the high fragmentation of the landforms. This is achieved by embedding the "gulf depressions", the depressions inside the mountain range, the saddles and the large and deep valleys, which facilitates the formation of some storm corridors which are not stopped when meeting higher and more compact massifs. The mountain crests appear under the form of some suspended erosion platforms steps, rather plane, which also facilitate the sliding of the air and the wind travel. Under these morphographical conditions, the high-altitude cold air convections have installed and intensified along some valleys and saddles on a south – north trajectory and have caused windthrows. It would be interesting to study in the future which is the occurrence frequency of these storm trajectories and whether preferential travel corridors could be identified depending on the elevation baric configuration.

#### REFERENCES

- Air Weather Service (AWS) (1996): *Echoes: Operational use of vertically integrated liquid (VIL)*, No. 16. *Scott AFB:* Air Weather Service.
- Anfodillo, T., Carrer, M., Valle, E. D., Giacoma, E., Lamedica, S., & Pettenella, D. (2008). Current State of Forest Resources in the Carpathians. Activity 2.7: Forestry and timber industry. Legnaro: Università Degli Studi Di Padova, Dipartimento Territorio e Sistemi Agro-Forestali.
- Costea, G., Haidu, I. (2010) Detection of recent spatial changes regarding landuse in small basins from the Apuseni Natural Park. *Geographia Technica*, 5(2), 11-17.
- Costea, G., Serradj, A., Haidu, I. (2012) Forest cartography using Landsat imagery, for studying deforestation over three catchments from Apuseni mountains, Romania. In: Advances in Remote Sensing, Finite Differences and Information Security. Proceedings of the 8th WSEAS International Conference on Remote Sensing, ISBN:978-1-61804-127-2, pp. 109-114.
- Furtuna, P., Maier, N., Holobaca I.H. (2013) Windthrow detection by satellite images and effect assessment. *Present Environment and Sustainable Development*, 7 (1), 188-199.
- Furtuna, P., Haidu, I., Holobaca, I.H., Alexe, M., Rosca, C., Petrea, D. (2015) Assessment of the forest disturbances rate caused by windthrow using remote sensing techniques. In: Progress in Electromagnetic Research Symposium. Proceedings of the PIERS 2015, Prague, Czech Republic, ISBN: 978-1-934142-30-1, 162–166.

[Online] Available from: http://piers.org/piersproceedings/piers2015PragueProc.php

- Furtuna, P., Haidu, I., Alexe, M. & Holobaca, I. (2016) Change Detection in the Cluj forest district, using remote sensing and GIS application. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 15 (6), 1361–1368.
- Furtuna, P. (2017) Temporal and spatial variation of forest coverage in Apuseni Natural Park, 2000-2014 period. *Geographia Technica*, 12(1), 46-56.
- Gardiner, B., K. Blennow, J. M. Carnus, P. Fleischer, F. Ingemarson, G. Landmann, M. Lindner, M. Marzano, B. Nicoll, C. Orazia, J. L. Peyron, M. P. Reviron, M. J. Schelhaas, A. Schuck, M. Spielmann, and Usbeck, T., (2011). "Destructive storms in European forests: Past and forthcoming impacts," European Forest Institute, Final Report to European Commission, 138. Online: <u>http://www.sifi.se/wp-content/uploads/2011/01</u>.
- Griffiths, P., Kuemmerle, T., Baumann, M., Radeloff, V.C., Abrudan, V., Lieskovsky, J., Munteanu, C., Ostapowicz, K., Hostert, P., (2014). Forest disturbances, forest recovery, and changes in

forest types across the Carpathian ecoregion from 1985 to 2010 based on Landsat image composites Remote Sensing of Environment 151, 72–88.

- Grozavu, A., Marginit, M., Niculita, C., (2012). The dynamics of land use in the middle sector of the Moldova river drainage basin (Eastern Carpathians, Romania). In: Boltiziar, M. (Ed.), Conference Abstracts of the 2nd Forum Carpaticum. From Data to Knowledge, from Knowledge to Action. Slovak Academy of Sciences, Bratislava, p. 214.
- Haidu, I., Furtuna, P., Lebaut, S. (2017) Detection of Old Diffusive Windthrow Using Low Cost Resources. The Case of Xynthia Storm in the Vosges Mountains, 28 February 2010. *Preprints* 2017090038 (doi: 10.20944/preprints201709.0038.v1).
- Maier, N., (2011). Studiul instabilitatii atmosferice si a ecourilor radar in scopul realizarii prognozei de tip "Now casting" a precipitatiilor din Munttii Apuseni (Study of atmospheric instability and radar echoes in order to achieve the "Now casting" forecast of precipitations in Apuseni Mountains; in Romanian), Phd thesis, Babes Bolyai University, Cluj Napoca, Romania.
- Munteanu, C., Kuemmerle, T., Boltiziar, M.,Butsic, V., Gimmi, U., Halada, L., Kaim, D., Kiraly, G.,Konkoly-Gyuro, E., Kozak, J., Lieskovsky, J., Mojses, M., Muller, D., Ostafin, K., Ostapowicz, K., Shandra, O., Stych, P., Walker, S., Radeloff, V., (2014). Forest and agricultural land change in the Carpathian region A meta-analysis of long-term patterns and drivers of change. *Land Use Policy* 38, 685–697.
- Oszlanyi, J., (1997). Forest health and environmental pollution in Slovakia. Environmental Pollution, 98, 389–392.
- Popa, I., (2008) Windthrow risk management. Results from Romanian forests. Forest Disturbances and Effects on Carbon Stock: The Non-Permanence Issue, San Vito di Cadore.
- Savulescu, I., Mihai, B., (2012) Geographic information system (GIS) application for windthrow mapping and management in IEEEr Mountains, Southern Carpathians," Journal of Forestry Research, Vol. 23, No. 2, 175–184.
- Schuck, A., Schelhaas, M-J., (2013). Storm damage in Europe an overview. In: Living with Storm Damage to Forests; Gardiner, B., Schuck, A., Schelhaas, M-J., Orazio, C., Blennow, K. and Nicoll, B., (editors). What Science Can Tell Us, ISBN: 978-952-5980-09-7 (pdf).
- Thom, D., Seidl , R., (2015). Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity in temperate and boreal forests. Biological Reviews. Doi: 10.1111/brv.12193
- Vogelmann, J. E., G. Xian, C. Homer, and Tolk, B., (2012). Monitoring gradual ecosystem change using Landsat time series analyses: Case studies in selected forest and rangeland ecosystems. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, Vol. 122, 92-105.
- Xi, W., (2005). Forest response to natural disturbance: changes in structure and diversity on a north carolina piedmont forest in response to catastrophic wind events. Dissertation theses, Faculty of the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill. Online available from: <u>http://labs.bio.unc.edu/Peet/theses/Xi PhD 2005.pdf</u>
- *** http://www.esrl.noaa.gov
- *** http://www.dwd.de/
- *** www.wetterzentrale.de

# THE INDIAN HIMALAYA`S UNIQUE ATTRIBUTES: HEMKUND SAHIB AND THE VALLEY OF FLOWERS

Shiv Kumar GUPTA¹, Radu NEGRU², Mihai VODA²

DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.05

#### **ABSTRACT:**

The Indian Himalayan ranges with towering snowclad peaks and deep valley river rapids present a variety of common geographical features. The high mountain environments gained social values due to the influence of the human ancient cultures. The spiritual dimension of the geographical space generated its unique attributes. This research investigates some of the most intriguing mountain locus which are defined by a cumulus of special characteristics. We identified the uniqueness generating factors using the geomedia techniques. Furthermore, this study analyses the interconnection between Hemkund Sahib and Valley of Flowers Geosystems` different components. Our research findings present the functionality of two selected dynamic Himalayan geosystems in a significant equilibrium state. This result of this paper will contribute to the preservation of Hemkund Sahib and Valley of Flowers' unique features and future promotion using the new technical Geography advances.

Key-words: Himalayas, attributes, Hemkund Sahib, geo-apps, Valley of Flowers.

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

The Indian Himalaya's unique attributes based on the Geosystems grounded theory approach, using the modern technical Geography tools in an attempt to provide innovative solutions for the increasingly visited mountain sites (Voda et al, 2014). This paper has analyzed geographical spaces that are characterized by special features, generated from the interaction between the environmental components and the central element of any geosystem: the human being.

The Valley of Flowers National Park lies in the main valleys of Alaknanda and Dhauli Ganga in the Garhwal Himalayas in Chamoli district of Uttarakhand State in India. Valley of flowers also known in Hindu mythology as Nandan Kanan meaning "Garden of Indra in Paradise" has been declared as a National Park (VOFNP)as per Notification No. 4278/XIV-3-66-80 with effect from September 6, 1982, the intention having been declared under Notification No. 5795/XIV-3-66-80 of 1 January 1981. After notification of the Park, grazing and camping are not permitted.

Given the status of World Heritage site in 2005 VOFNP is one amongst the nine zones or part of the Nanda Devi Biosphere Reserve (NDBR) which is spread across an area of 5860.69 sq km. Located between the Latitude  $30^{\circ} 41' - 30^{\circ} 48$ 'N and Longitude  $79^{\circ} 33' - 79^{\circ} 46$ 'E VONP covers an area of 87.5 sq. km. The altitude of the valley ranges from 3200 m to 6700 m.

River Pushpawati flows through this valley which has its source in the Tipra Glacier which extends up to Ghori Parbat peak. It is a flat valley 5 km long and 2 km wide. The

¹H.N.B. Garhwal University, Centre for Mountain Tourism and Hospitalities Studies, Srinagar-Garhwal, India, sk_gupta21@Yahoo.com;

²Dimitrie Cantemir University, 540546 Targu Mures, Romania, negrurg@yahoo.com, mihaivoda@cantemir.ro.

main valley portion of the Park runs in the east west direction along the banks of river Pushpawati (Gupta, 2002).

The park is surrounded by Gauri Parbat (6590m) and Rataban (6126 m) in the east, Kuntkhal (4430 m) in the west, Saptsring, in the south and Nilgiri Mountain (6479 m) in the north. The credit for the discovery of the Valley of Flowers generally goes to the British mountaineer Frank S. Smythe and R.L. Holds Worth who accidentally reached the valley after a successful expedition of Mount Kamet in 1931. Fascinated by its beauty and grandeur Frank S. Smythe revisited this area in 1937 and published book "The Valley of Flowers" (Smythe, 1938) which made it world famous.

The valley offers a rich plethora of unique floral wealth out of which 31 rare and endangered plant species including 11 species listed in the Red Data Book (RDB) of the Indian plants recorded within the Valley of Flowers National Park. The surrounding areas also have some beautiful Himalayan grassland and other valleys which bears many exquisite Himalayan flowers like the Himalayan lotus.



Fig. 1. Valley of Flowers and Hemkund Sahib in Google Earth geo-app (Google Earth, 2018).

Near the Valley of Flowers is the sacred place of Sikhs the Hemkund Sahib (**Fig.1**). It is situated at an altitude of 4329 m, and sacred to both Sikhs and Hindus. Hemkund Shrines are one of the highest temples in India (Fonia, 1998; Kuniyal et al, 1998).

The Sikhs revere this place because their tenth Guru described its location in his holy writings, in the *Dasam Sahib* (the books of the Tenth Guru). Considered the Geosystem's unique cultural attribute, Hemkund Sahib location was discovered in 1934 by Sant Sohan Singh in remembrance and prayer to see the place where their tenth guru, Guru Govind Singh meditated and realized his oneness with God along the banks of Lokpal Lake. A small Gurdwara was developed in 1935-36 (including enlarging the ancient Hindu "Lokpal" temple) and later in 1968 the construction for the present Gurdwara began which got completed in 1993. For the Hindu the lake known as Lokpal constitute the unique attribute of this geographical location from the Himalayas. Here, Lakshman, the younger brother of Lord Rama, had meditated. A small temple is dedicated to Lakshman and it stands next to the Gurudwara. Lakshman / Hem Ganga stream originates from the Lokpal Lake, which later meets river Pushpawati near Ghangharia and further flows as Bhyundar Ganga to join the river Alaknanda at Govindghat (Kaur, 1985).

The Sikh pilgrims have been the biggest draw for tourism in this area. Every year near about 400000 pilgrims visit Hemkund and Laxman temple before 2013 but only few thousands visits the valley. Tourism plays a very important role in the sustainable development of the area as about 95% of the indigenous population depends on it. The main influx of tourists consists of Sikhs.

There is no significant difference between the common functional attributes of the Valley of Flowers and Hemkund Sahib Geosystems. Climate is moist temperate and alpine type, with short cool summers and long severe winters influenced by southwest monsoon in the summer, and western disturbances in winter. During the snow period (7 months early October to late April) the vegetation survives under snow with the help of tubers and rhizomes.

#### 2. STUDY AREA ACCESSIBILITY

The nearest airport is Jolly Grant, which is 306 km away from the research area. The nearest broad-gauge railhead is Rishikesh (about 271 km), while Haridwar railhead is at a distance of about 295 km by road from Govindghat which is about 25 kilometres before Badrinath. It is located on Rishikesh --Srinagar - Joshimath- - Govindyhat-Badrinath route. The Valley of Flowers is a trek of about 13 km from Pulna village which is 3 km from Govindghat. Govindghat is the base of the route to the Ghangharia base settlement (14km from Govindghat) and from Ghangharia subsequently one trail goes towards Valley of Flowers (3-4km) and another steep trail to Hemkund Sahib (6km). Four-wheel drive services are available to drop tourists from Govindghat to Pulna. Pony and palanquins are available on fixed prices by Eco Development Committee (EDC) for Ghagharia. The trek route for Valley of Flowers is relatively easy compared to trek stretches like from Bhyundar to Ghangharia, or that for Hemkund Sahib, which are much steeper.



Fig. 2. The access route from Rishikesh to Valley of Flowers and Hemkund Sahib (Google Earth, 2018).

This trek route from Govindghat is maintained by the PWD. The Eco Development committees of Ghangharia and Govindghat are looking after the cleaning of the trek route (Gupta, 2010).

There is no settlement within the National Park (**Fig. 2**). Four settlements exist between the Park fringe and the motor road such as the tourist settlement of Ghangharia, villages Bhyundar, Pulna and the tourist settlement of Govindghat. The local population is about 80 families/households (about 375 persons) in Pulna, the winter settlement. Except the school going children and few elderly people, these villagers migrate to Bhyundar and Ghangharia, the summer settlements from May to early October. While women stay back at Bhyundar with small children, the men folk move further 3.75 km to Ghangharia, which is the central place/base in upper valley for tourist activities for 4 months from June – September every year.

Small commercial establishments have been registered and regularized by a local NGO body known as Eco-Development Committee (EDC), Bhyundar under the aegis of the Department of Forest. Around 60 shops from Govindghat to Ghangharia and 15 shops from Ghangharia to Hemkund Sahib, while at Ghangharia itself some 40 private establishments of lodges/restaurants/photo studios/souvenir shops, etc. are registered. These establishments erected on Private/*Nap* land are called "*Chak*" and those on Forestland are called "*Chatti*" and these are either run by the villagers themselves or given on rent.

#### **3. METHODOLOGY**

This paper research based on the Geosystem grounded theory, has focused on the technical geography advances role in the unique attributes' identification and assessment from the Indian Himalayas. Being the most famous and intriguing, the Valley of Flowers and Hemkund Sahib Geosystems, situated in the Himalaya Mountains near the China border, has been selected for this study.

Data was gathered from different geomedia sources, non-structured interviews and field observations were carried on site in between May-June 2013 and September 2018. The collected data were analyzed using geomedia techniques that imply geo-coding procedures and theoretical sampling for the Geosystem's carrying capacity assessment (Haidu, 2016; Voda et al, 2017).

Our theory consistency derives from the dynamic balance of the Hemkund Sahib and Valley of Flowers Geosystems, which are continuously developing in a self-sustainable way. There is a powerful connection between the environmental components and the human factors that generates the geosystems` functionality.

The theoretical elaboration is based on the reproducibility capacity of our defined geographical spaces. Their systemic characteristics and elements properties, inductively derived from gathered geo-data were identified and judged with respect to a number of evaluative criteria such as consistency, integration and predictiveness.

The Geosystem grounded theory explanatory power facilitates its application in different world's regions as long as the defined geographical spaces fit to data. Constructed as a problem orientated endeavor, our geosystemic theory was created from solid data patterns, produced through the elaboration of Hemkund Sahib and Valley of Flowers plausible models.

Our research problems have been structured in accordance to the scientific inquiry task focused on the protection, conservation and self-sustainable development of identified

geosystems. Once identified, the problems were selected for consideration, developed and modified.

Our geomedia techniques has also used Geosearch and Geocoding services from ArcGIS World to validate locations coordinates and Pic2Map geo-application to analyze EXIF data embedded in the photos taken on site with Xiaomi Redmi 3S and MI A2 smartphones (Ernawati et al, 2018).

## 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Domestic tourists form a major portion of the total tourists visiting the Himalayas. A key factor for this high domestic tourist inflow in the area is the presence of holy pilgrimages like Badrinath, and Hemkund Sahib. The shrines remain closed for six months during winters. Badrinath, by virtue of being one of the four Hindu sacred places (*Dhams*) of the country had been and continue to be the biggest pilgrim puller evidently, witnessing 10755883 tourist arrivals (including foreigners) in 2008 and 941092 arrivals in 2012. However, a significant decrease has been noticed in the tourist arrival at both these shrines during year 2009 over the previous year (Kandari and Gusain, 2013). The reason for this downfall can be attributed to severe road blockage due to early monsoon. The Himalayan weather problems caused by torrential rain, cloud bursts and flash floods during mid-June 2013 in this region of Uttarakhand had resulted in the severe damage to tourism infrastructure and badly affected the tourism industry and tourist traffic for the year 2013,2014 and 2015 (Gupta & Vijay, 2013).

The pilgrim/tourist traffic is witnessing erratic growth in the Hemkund Sahib and Valley of Flower areas. **Fig.3** illustrates the pilgrim/tourist traffic trends at these two places from 2005-2017. It would also be pertinent to mention here that barring Valley of Flowers, Hemkund Sahib is important from the religious/pilgrimage perspective.



Fig. 3. The dynamic of tourist arrivals in the Valley of Flowers (left) and Hemkund Sahib (right), strongly influenced by climatic factors during 2009, 2010, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016.

According to Kuniyal et al (1998) the Himalayas were affected by the influence of pilgrims and the lack of infrastructural services. They proposed the sustainable reuse and recycling of the tourist garbage instead of the openly dumping of the solid waste. After 20 years the problem is solved, as we observed during our expedition in September 2018.
EDC collects non-biodegradable waste into sacks and dump it at Govindghat from where it is sent either for recycling or for disposal.

Pulna (about 3 km from Govindghat) and Bhyundar (about 9 km from Govindghat) are the only villages, which can offer shelter (by local residents sharing their dwelling units) in an emergency of trek path getting blocked on the way to Ghangharia. Camping in tents is provided with the permission of District Forest Office (DFO), Joshimath through EDC assistance, on Forest land of the non-core zone area. From Pulna normally the trek starts in the morning during onward journey to Ghangharia/Hemkund Sahib and the return treks end at Govindghat in the evening. Gurudwara at Govindghat can accommodate up to 6000 persons comfortably and the one at Ghangharia can accommodate up to 12000 visitors in the rush season (June-July). All the visitors have to sleep on floors for which enough mattresses and blankets are available, even to meet the needs of rush season.

Sikh *Gurudwaras*, managed by the trust that oversees the operation of the pilgrimage to Hemkund Sahib, offer food and lodging at Rishikesh, Srinagar, and Joshimath enroute to Valley of Flowers-Hemkund Region. Govindghat has one Gurudwara, few private lodges and forest rest house for night stay. Ghangharia is the base settlement offering accommodation facilities to the tourists for night halt either for onward travel to Valley of flowers and Hemkund Sahib or return travel to Govindghat (**Fig.4**).

Govind Dham Gurudwara is the largest accommodation at Ghangharia. Due to its high accommodation capacity, apart from free food arrangements (*Langar*), majority of the visitors who are mainly on pilgrimage to Hemkund Sahib avail the Gurudwara facility. Thus, the economic flow in favor of the local communities is highly affected. The government provided accommodation like GMVN Tourist Rest House (TRH) and Forest Rest House (FRH) charge relatively high and fixed tariffs. There are around 20 private guest houses/lodges providing relatively cheaper accommodation due to fierce competition to get high occupancy. Though the accommodation in rest houses/lodges has attached bathrooms/toilets with piped water supply, hot water that is must at these cold temperatures is unavailable through piped means. But water separately heated on large kerosene/gas stoves are provided by these establishments at a reasonable cost.



Fig. 4. The Valley of Flowers and Hemkund Sahib route from Govind Gath to Ghangharia (Pic2Map, 2018).

At Valley of Flowers, being declared the National Park night stay is not permitted. Similarly, at Hemkund Sahib Accommodation facilities are only for Gurudwara Staff and Lokpal staff in the Gurudwara and small Dharamshala respectively and they do not encourage general stay for those who are not acclimatized to stay at such heights due to conditions of severe cold and relatively low level of oxygen. Hence, visitors need to return back and stay at nights in Govind Dham Gurudwara or other accommodation at Ghangharia (**Fig.4**).

Facilities for the Holy Bath (*Ishnan*) were observed at Hemkund Sarovar. The Sarovar with considerable cold water can generate real problems for the bold tourists who enter in the lake. There are no lifeguards on site. However, the Gurudwara staff (many of them young volunteers/*sevadars*) were expected to take care of pilgrim requirements and the first aid center at Hemkund Sahib with a doctor provides emergency services and necessary medicines.

Down in the valley, the Govindghat Gurudwara has dispensary and ambulances. In *Govind Dham Gurudwara* there is a 24 hours facility dispensary room, with one doctor and two beds for nursing the patients. Also, a small government dispensary with one doctor exists near the Govind Dham Gurudwara.

Numerous small teashops, snack bars, and temporary sheds have come up between Govindghat, Pulna, Bhyundar, Ghangharia, and Hemkund Sahib to cater to the needs of tourists during summer. Food is also available at many basic restaurants at Govindghat and Ghangharia, while the Gurudwaras at Govindghat and Ghangharia offer free food at the *Langar* facility. Similarly, at Hemkund Sahib free *hot khichri & tea* and *prasad* is served to all the visitors. For quenching thirst with potable drinking water, one has to mainly depend on the packaged mineral water or soft drinks (mostly in plastic bottles, with exception of tetra packaging for thicker fluids like fruit drinks/juices).

Moreover, we observed that the overall spatial development and growth of Ghangharia has already happened in a haphazard manner, while structures have poor architectural aesthetics/construction quality with no proper water supply or solid waste disposal system in place. Currently, EDC collects eco-fee from so called hotels, lodges and restaurants, *Chatti's* and *Chak* Stalls for the four-month tourist season for environmental management along the trek path. Sewage is mostly disposed through individual septic tanks and soaks pits. Other effluents from kitchen/utensil wash flows down through open drains along the slopes at Govindghat, Pulna/ Bhyundar, Ghangharia and Hemkund Sahib. EDC has installed urinal toilets made up of pre-fabricated board body fixed on thin MS angle frames. No proper water supply is available.

Some of the EDC members from the local villages are trained guides in nature interpretation services and hence apart from their businesses they can earn additionally through guiding. From Govindghat, the taxi services are available up to Pulna village from where trek begins. Donkeys, mules (**Fig.5**), porters, and *palkies*-litter vehicles (**Fig.6**) can are hired mainly from Pulna or Ghangharia.

The pilgrims and tourists can rent mules and donkeys on fixed rate during peak season by the EDC by issuing of proper receipt by clearly showing the registration number of the Mule and Donkey-Kandi wala for Ghangharia, and Ghangharia to Valley of Flowers, Ghangharia- Hemkund or Pulna-Hemkund and back. The mule and donkey service constitute one of the local Geosystem's special characteristics rarely met in other parts of the world.



Fig. 5. The mules and donkeys from the route to Ghangharia (authors expedition's photos).

About 800-1000 mules operate on this trek path in peak season (about 500-600 at Pulna and 300-400 are available from Ghangharia). The quadrupeds are well trained and always supervised by local guides who permanently communicate between them.

Telecommunication service is available at Ghangharia connected to a Satellite Telephone Exchange of Department of Telecommunications. Our observations pointed out that such facilities are not good en route the trek path or at Bhyundar or Pulna. There are no good telecommunications facilities at Hemkund Sahib. However, the in case of emergency wireless facility can be availed from forest officials.



Fig. 6. The open portable litters between Ghangharia and Hemkund Sahib (authors expedition`s photos).

The pilgrimage phenomena to Hemkund Sahib generated another unique characteristic of the local Geosystems: the smaller litters in the form of open chairs, carried by one or four carriers (**Fig. 6**). During our exploratory research on the mountain trails we tried to understand what is driving this type of activity, undertaken by the local communities' men. However, the experience offered is unique and intriguing for any western tourist.

Security infrastructure is supposed to be offered by the Police posts that exist at Govindghat and Ghangharia, but they do not have jurisdiction in Valley of Flowers and Hemkund Sahib area (which basically falls under the jurisdiction of *Patwari*, Department of Revenue based at Pandukeshwar). Any accident happening in Valley of Flowers –Hemkund region is to be attended/ recorded by the *Patwari* and the Police station at Govindghat is only informed for any assistance, if required.

The Valley of Flowers nature information center at Ghangharia is available in the Forest Rest House complex. At this nature interpretation center, regular (30 minute) slide shows on Valley of Flowers and wild life are held in the evening hours (from 6:00 pm – 7:30 pm) throughout the 4-5 months of tourist season. Currently this slide show is conducted by few nature enthusiasts / interpreters / guides from the EDC members/local host community of Bhyundar / Pulna village trained by the office of the DFO & Deputy Conservator of Forest, Nanda Devi National Park, Joshimath.

The Hemkund Sahib Geosystem's information flux is considerable better developed, aligned to the latest technological advances. The smartphone geo-application created by Mebonix (**Fig. 7**) meet the basic needs of the pilgrims in search for general information about the geographical location coordinates, accessibility, accommodation, brief historical introduction, news and weather conditions (Mebonix, 2017).



Fig. 7. The Sri Hemkund Sahib geo-application for Android (Mebonix, 2017).

Apart from the supervision of the smartphone applications development, the Sri Hemkund Sahib Management Trust is organizing and providing free accommodation (along with mattresses & blankets), *langar* food, cloak room and toilets at Gurudwaras to visitors of all faiths and nationality. They make the arrangements for health care and free medical treatment at Gurudwara dispensaries, including ambulances at Govindghat, offer support in cases of any deaths along the trek journey and bears the cost voluntarily for the body transportation down to Govindghat and then to the place of choice of their relatives within India, irrespective of the deceased person belonging to any faith or nationality.

The Sri Hemkund Sahib Management Trust is also giving funds to EDC for the entire trek path maintenance/cleanliness in each tourist season and provides assistance through

Gurudwara *Sevadars* (volunteers) for the trail repairs at higher altitudes after avalanches en route to Hemkund Sahib.

Valley of Flowers and Hemkund Sahib Geosystems coexist harmoniously in the Indian Himalayas because of the human factor, who responsibly intervened and established the institutional framework for the protection, conservation, planning and development of the geographical space. The main institutional stakeholders include the Eco-Development Committee (EDC), Gurudwara Sri Hemkund Sahib Management Trust (GSHSMT), Van Panchayat/Forest Council, Zila Panchayat (ZP) and the Department of Forests.

# **Eco-Development Committee (EDC)**

In 2003 Eco-Development Committee (EDC) was set up under the provisions of State's Joint Forest Management Rules, and it took up the task of solid waste collection from June 2003 onwards. Their responsibilities are:

• To keep the trek trail clean and region free from polythene / plastics

- To provide employment opportunity to rural unemployed
- To conserve the environment of this valley region
- To provide facility of prepaid booking of mule/donkey
- To provide the *vatrees* /tourists all information and help

EDC collects the Eco-development fee from Mules and Commercial Establishments, utilizing funds from its revenue on training/capacity building of the local community members and local service providers with the assistance of Department of Forests.

The Van Panchayat Responsibilities mainly include Protection and Conservation of Forests under its Area as per Forest (Conservation) Act, 1980. The activities are:

•Patrolling of Forests/Land under its area and control over illegal tree felling pruning of tree branches, and fodder grazing

•Permit the individuals/tour operators to pitch tents on the Van Panchayat land at Kanjila for a nominal fee or lease for short-term for tent resorts every season.

Zilla Panchayat (ZP) has performed the following functions in the Valley of Flowers-Hemkund region:

• Maintains the ZP parking at Govindghat, fix the parking rates (large vehicle, small vehicle, two-wheelers) and collect the parking charges on contract

· Provides toilet facilities at Govindghat

• Provides land for mule sheds at Ghangharia and Govindghat.

• Fixation of rates for transportation services (mules/porters/palki) on the trek path

The Valley of Flowers-Hemkund region is a part of the Nanda Devi Biosphere Reserve (NDBR), and especially the Valleys of Flowers National Park being one of the two core zones (core zone-II) of the NDBR. The region is under active control of the Office of the District Forest Officer, Department of Forests, Joshimath. A Forest Range Officer is deployed in the region with facilities at Govindghat and Ghangharia. The management of the Valley of Flowers National Park has been based on the following objectives and considerations:

•Keeping control on the extent and wide spread growth of the fast growing and pioneering flowering herb – the *Polygonum polystachyum*.

• Development and upkeep of the trek route within the tourism zone of the park.

• Maintenance of the park and keeping it free from any kind of polluting material.

• Providing impetus to the tourism and providing local employment (through EDC, etc.).

• Strict control on illicit removal of herbs and on poaching.

## 5. CONCLUSIONS

The Valley of Flowers Geosystem common attributes are harmoniously functioning in an interdependent relationship with all the environmental components and generate the natural dynamic of the perfectly equilibrated geosystem. But our exploratory research goal was not limited to the assessment of the common Himalayas` attributes such as those found in the Valley of Flowers Geosystem.

This research also investigated the special attributes presence in the natural Himalayas` geosystems where the local communities were perfectly integrated. The findings confirmed that Hemkund Sahib Geosystem represents an excellent model of human-nature interaction. The results suggest that Hemkund Sahib unique functional attribute is based on the indigenous people cultural and historical heritage that helps them in the permanent adaptation to changes process. They naturally learn how to constantly adjust to new challenges. Interestingly, Hemkund Sahib- the famous Sikh Shrine is steadily emerging as a strong religious resort as well as a tourist destination despite the fact that its geographical location is not accessible by road. It involves an arduous trekking on a steep slope for the pilgrim arrivals recorded at 340578 in 2002 increased to 557129 in 2007 witnessing an overall increase by over 63.5 % and per annum average growth of over 10.5 % during the six years under reference. But similar trends followed in the year 2009, 2013, 2014 and 2015 due to climatic factors.

Statistics on non-pilgrim tourist destination, i.e., Valley of Flowers gives an idea on visitor trends to non-religious destinations located in the higher Himalayan part of India. Unfortunately, despite being world class destination for their extra-ordinary resource potential, it has largely failed to attract tourists anywhere close to the underlying potential. Valley of Flowers, the fabulously flower carpeted rock garden of Frank Smyth, which was declared as Biosphere Reserve in 1982, has been able to attract only 6944 tourists in 2007 as against 557129 pilgrims/tourists to nearby Hemkund Sahib. Such a poor share of the former appears to be all the more dismaying in view of the fact that till Ghangharia, there is common trek for the two destination and that Valley of Flowers is only about 4 km from there while Hemkund Sahib is located at 6.5 km from there and the trek is considerably arduous in case of the latter. True, that entry to the Valley is restricted on account of its highly fragile ecosystems, but still the number of visits is too less than the prevailing carrying capacity.

The research findings answer to all the access, security, hygiene, accommodation, transport and communication problems. Based on the results, we estimate an increasingly higher rate of development due to the technological advances that facilitate information sharing and the enhancement of the geographical place virtual illustration.

#### REFERENCES

Ernawati, N.M., Torpan, A. & Voda, M. (2018) Geomedia role for mountain routes tourism development. Mesehe and Pisoiu Waterfall comparative study. *Geographia Technica*, 13 (1), 41-51.

Fonia, K.S. (1998) The Traveller's Guide To Uttarakhand, Garuda Books, Chamoli, Garhwal.

Google Earth. (2018). *Google Earth*. [Online]. Available from: www.google.com/earth/ [Accessed August 2018].

- Gupta S. K. & Vijay Prakash (2013), Tourism Development Pattern along Badri-Kedar Pilgrimage Circuit in Uttarakhand, India: A Destination Development Approach in the Himalayan Tsunami affected Region, *Journal of Tourism: An International Journal*, XIV (2), 67-76.
- Gupta, S.K. (2002) Tourism & Heritage Resources in Garhwal: An Approach to Planning and Management, Kavery Books, New Delhi.
- Gupta, S.K. (2010) project report on *The Changing Nature of Tourists Expectation and Development Forces Impacting the Future of Tourism in Badrinath and Kedarnath Tourism Circuit in Uttarakhand*, funded by AICTE, NewDelhi.
- Haidu, I. (2016) What Is Technical Geography. *Geographia Technica*, 11(1), 1-5. DOI: 10.21163/GT_2016.111.01
- Kandari,O.P. & Gusain, O.P. (2001) Garhwal Himmalaya: Nature, Culture & Society, Trans Media, Srinagar.
- Kaur, J. (1985) Himalayan Pilgrimage and the New Tourism, Himalayan Books, New Delhi.
- Kuniyal, J.C., Jain, A.P. & Shannigrahi, A.S. (1998) Public involvement in solid waste management in Himalayan trails in and around the Valley of Flowers, India. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 24, 299-322.
- Mebonix. (2017) Sri Hemkund Sahib (Official) APK. [Online]. Available from: https://apkpure.com/sri-Hemkund-sahib-official/com.tds.Hemkundsahib [Accessed June 2018].
- Pic2Map. (2018) *EXIF data embedded in the image to find the GPS coordinates*. [Online]. Available from: https://www.pic2map.com/ [Accessed September 2018].
- Smythe, F.S. (1938) The Valley of Flowers (reprint), Natraj Pub, Rajpur Road, Dehradun.
- Voda, M., Moldovan, L., Torpan, A., & Henning, A. (2014) Using GIS for mountain wild routes assessment in order to qualify them for tourism valorisation. *Geographia Technica*, 9 (1),101–108.
- Voda, M., Torpan, A. & Moldovan, L. (2017) Wild Carpathia Future Development: From Illegal Deforestation to ORV Sustainable Recreation. *Sustainability*, 9(2254), 1-11.

# EMERGENCY RESPONSE DURING DISASTROUS SITUATION IN DENSELY POPULATED URBAN AREAS: A GIS BASED APPROACH

Md. Mehedi HASNAT¹, Md. Rakibul ISLAM^{2*}, Md. HADIUZZAMAN³

DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.06

## **ABSTRACT:**

Geographical Information System (GIS) has widely been used in various steps of emergency management to contain the damages during any natural or manmade disasters within limit. This study presents how effectively GIS can be used for emergency management for one of the most densely populated areas of Dhaka, the capital of Bangladesh. With the first-hand baseline information from field survey an optimum route model has been proposed to represent the travel time of road network in congested scenario. The vulnerable parts of the study area are exposed based on emergency response time of firefighting stations and medical facilities, and distance from evacuation points. Some emergency response units have been suggested to enhance the disaster preparedness of the study area. Furthermore, the state of practice spatial analyses method presented in this study can be utilized in different spatial scales especially in regard to developing countries.

**Key-words:** Disaster response, Spatial analysis, Emergency management, Network analysis, ArcGIS.

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Bangladesh is ranked as the fifth most natural disaster-prone country in the world (Martin, 2011). With a population of 19.58 million in 2018 with a growth rate of 3.62%, Dhaka, the capital of Bangladesh, is considered to be one of the most densely populated cities in the world (Islam, 2018). Different kinds of natural and man-made disasters have become a growing concern for this megacity. Particularly, the older part of the city is relatively more vulnerable to earthquake and it is overdue for Bangladesh as it experienced large earthquake last in 1897. The densely constructed old and unreinforced masonry buildings along with narrow local streets make the locality more vulnerable to earthquake damages. Rapid urbanization, high density of population and high-rise structures are making the situation worse (Rahman et al., 2015).

Recently a study showed that among the total reported fire incidences in Bangladesh, number of incidents were 2669 (18.17%), 2422 (15.36%), 2794(15.96%) and 2891 (16.14%) occurred in greater Dhaka district in the year of 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 respectively which shows an increasing trend in terms of number of occurrences. These result into huge economic loses of 1470, 960, 2400, 4070 million BDT accordingly. This study also identified older Dhaka as "Extremely high fire incidental zone" (Tishi & Islam, 2018).

¹ NC State University, Department of Department of Civil, Construction, and Environmental Engineering, 27607 Raleigh, NC, USA, mhasnat@ncsu.edu;

^{2*} Dhaka University of Engineering and Technology (DUET), Department of Civil Engineering, 1707 Gazipur, Bangladesh, rakibul10@duet.ac.bd;

³Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology (BUET), Department of Civil Engineering, 1000 Dhaka, Bangladesh, mhadiuzzaman@ce.buet.ac.bd;

... 75

In recent past, the capital Dhaka has experienced several fatal building crashes mostly caused due to poor construction. Unplanned and congested road network delayed the rescuing operation leading to an abnormal death penalty. The most recent incident took place on 24 April 2013, where a nine-storied building 'Rana Plaza' collapsed in Savar killing 1127 people and more than 100 are still missing (Rahman et al., 2015). Some inherent weaknesses of the transportation network of this mostly unplanned (73% fully unplanned) city make any kind of risk management a daunting task (Mahmud & Hoque, 2010).

It is high time for a developing country like Bangladesh to adopt an advanced systematic approach to assess any imminent risk, respond quickly, and thereby keep the damages at bay with the limited available resources. In this regard, Geographic Information System (GIS) has been proving a vital tool to locate, respond, manage, and mitigate the impact of disastrous incidents and is successfully used for different phases of the disaster management, starting from planning (Montoya, 2003) and risk assessment (Church & Cova, 2000) to response (Laefer & Pradhan, 2006), recovery (Gunes & Kovel, 2000) and evacuation (Chang et al., 1997). The specific objectives of this study are to: geocode the existing land use and road networks of the study area; develop an optimum route model to be used in the network analysis; map the effective service areas of the existing emergency response facilities (i.e. Fire Stations, Hospitals, etc.); find out the most vulnerable sections of the study area and suitability analysis for initiating new facilities. The outcome of this study will provide detail information about the existing disaster management capabilities of the study area and will help to identify the most vulnerable groups of people during any disaster and thus locate critical locations for new response facilities. The optimum route model intended to be developed in this study can be used for the other parts of Dhaka city with the basic framework including particular inputs.

### 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Emergency management activities can be grouped into five phases; planning, mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery (Hoyos et al., 2015). Mitigation Phase relates to analytical modeling and reveals the inherent spatial variation in hazard, vulnerability and ultimately risk. For natural hazards, the hazard model is generally either an inductive combination of the hazard layers (spatial coincidence) or a deterministic model of a physical process (Goodchild et al., 1994). Conducting vulnerability studies using GIS is a relatively new research area, but the potential for GIS to illuminate spatial issues in this area is becoming clear (Emani et al., 1993; Nicoară & Haidu, 2011).

One of the hallmark applications of GIS in Preparedness Phase and Response Phase is automated mapping. Dunn and Newton (1992) have examined the potential role of GIS in generating alternative evacuation routes. Silva et al. (1993) developed and integrated an evacuation simulation model into a GIS to support the development of evacuation contingency plans around nuclear facilities. Cova and Church (1997) described a GIS-based method for revealing potential evacuation difficulties in advance of a disaster.

GIS in Recovery Phase is an initial priority of performing a cursory damage assessment to minimize the time necessary to apply for government relief. The Global Positioning System (GPS) is also invaluable in this phase for gathering locational information. During the Oakland fire, GPS and GIS were used to map the fire perimeter and geo-reference the location and number of each damaged or destroyed structure (Difani & Dolton, 1992). Mitchell (1998) described how the fire department in the city of Tacoma, Washington used GIS to create response zones for all its functional fire stations. Amdahl (2001) pointed out the vital uses of GIS in the fire service is its ability to geocode individual incident point and present them on a map.

Church (1997) subtly reviewed the existing studies linking GIS and facility location problem and concluded that GIS has the ability to support a wide range of spatial queries that aid optimum location allocation. In GIS, an optimum route is found out by using shortest path analysis of Network Analysis tools. Haidu and Nicoară (2011) applied GIS procedure for the identification of existing infrastructure in the flooding areas to Baciu commune, having 7 settlements, situated in Cluj County, Romania. Ivan and Haidu (2012) outlined the importance and the efficiency of using GIS in collecting, processing and analyzing data and stated GIS as an effective tool for displaying the spatial distribution of accidents along the road network. They also concluded that GIS enables the rapid processing and display on the map of the information regarding accidents and it is useful in making decisions regarding the reduction and prevention of accidents. Nicoară and Haidu (2014) modeled the shortest path and closest facility problems for an ambulance to travel through a road network by creating a system based on GIS technology and applying it on the city of Cluj-Napoca, Romania. Panahi and Delavar (2008) developed a spatial decision support system (SDSS) for emergency vehicle routing by applying Dijkstra's algorithm in spatial analysis tool of ArcGIS and concluded that dynamic vehicle routing is an efficient solution for reduction of travel time in emergency routing and powerful tool for network analysis, visualization and management of urban traffic network.

In the context of Bangladesh, Kamal (2008) used GIS mapping technique to establish a flood risk assessment for Ward no 25, 27, 28 in Dhaka city. The main motive was to develop a risk assessment procedure to estimate the flood risk of the study area. Alam and Baroi (2004) presented an assessment of the risk of fire hazards in Dhaka City in a GIS framework in order to develop a methodology to generate fire hazard categories and risk mapping. Islam and Adri (2008) tried to explore the existing capacity of Fire Service and Civil Defense authority in Dhaka city and the preparedness of the citizens in combating fire accidents. Ansary and Choudhury (2003) presented an analysis of Dhaka City's growth and population, the occurrence of different natural disasters and disaster scenarios using GIS mapping. Maniruzzaman et al. (2001) developed a prototype Response Estimation System for Cyclones under Emergency (RESCUE), a GIS-based aid for disaster management. Azad et al. (2013) proposed a conceptual model for dealing the disaster and its management through the incorporation of mobile technology with GIS in Bangladesh. Majority of academic articles and researches acknowledge the undisputed role of GIS in the various phases of emergency response, especially, placing more emphasis on the fire and rescue service. Thus, it can be inferred that GIS can be utilized by fire service to produce an effective and efficient emergency response during a disastrous situation in densely populated urban areas.

#### 3. STUDY AREA

The study area is located in the Dhaka South City Corporation (DSCC), ward no. 26, 27, 29 33 and 34. In Bangladesh, "Ward" is a local administrative unit and an optional division of a city or town, especially an electoral district, for administrative and representative purposes (Sikder et al., 2018). Namely, the locations are Bakshi Bazar, Siddiq Bazar, Chawk Bazar, Naya Bazar, Tanti Bazar, Kotowali, Islampur, Sadarghat, Mitford, Shoari Ghat, Bongshal, Babu Bazar, Lalbagh. **Fig. 1** shows the location and

boundary of the study area. The study area is surrounded by 2 major roads, ZahirRaihan Road at the north side, Sadarghat-Gabtoli Road at the South, and two minor roads, Kazi Alauddin Road at the East and Bakshi bazar road at the west side. The rationale behind selecting this section of the city are a high density of population, nearly 1,22,000 to 1,44,000 per Sq. Km (Ansary and Choudhury, 2003), unplanned development, narrow and insufficient road network, and recent disastrous incidents in the selected localities. Additionally, the study area lays in moderate liquefaction susceptibility zone in Dhaka, therefore higher population density increases the possibility of greater damage ratio (as high as 40%) (Ansary & Choudhury, 2003). According to Alam and Baroi (2004), twenty-five fire incidences per ward are found to occur in the study area as it is located in moderately fire hazardous zones. Due to unplanned development, the land use pattern coupled with inefficient road network poses more threat for recovery and mitigation from various disastrous situations.





(a)

**(b)** 

Fig. 1. Locations of the study area: (a) Location in the Dhaka Metropolitan Area; and (b) Boundary of the Study Area.

# 4. METHODOLOGY OF THE STUDY

ArcGIS 10.3 Desktop software has been used in this study is a comprehensive, integrated and scalable system designed to perform various GIS analysis ranging from simple to complex analysis such as mapping, data management, geographic data analysis, editing, and geo-processing functions. The analyses used from the ArcGIS network extension include closest facility location, Origin-Destination (O-D) cost matrix generation, location-allocation, and service area analysis. As the shortest path is prerequisite to every analysis, a comprehensive and realistic shortest route model is proposed in this study and validated using field data.

### 4.1. Developing Road Network of Study Area

As there are no databases available with the level of details to be used in this research, the road network data was mapped in Esri shape file format in ArcGIS. For this purpose,

first-hand data about the type, width, number of lanes were collected from field survey. Total 53.37 Km of the road network has been mapped within and adjacent to the study area. The roads have been classified into three different types based on their traffic, connectivity, lane width, travel speed. We measured the free flow speed and congested speed from travel time survey for different road types as shown in **Table 1**. To develop the initial road network dataset, we included the average free flow travel speed (measured at early morning from 6 am to 7 am) as a link attribute for each type of road (major, minor or dead end).

Table 1	•
---------	---

Road Type	Traffic Condition	Walking speed Km/hr	Rickshaw Speed Km/hr	Drive speed Km/hr
Maina Darada	Free Flow Condition	3.6	8	15
Major Roads	Congested Condition	3.6	4	8
Minor Roads	Free Flow Condition	3.6	5	10
	Congested Condition	1.8	2.5	5
Roads with Dead	Free Flow Condition	3.6	4	5
end	Congested Condition	1.8	2	5

Field Data of Average Travel Speed in Different Roads in Different Scenar	ios
---------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----

However, from the field survey we found that during different times of the day even in the same type of road or in upstream and downstream of the same road the travel time varies by a significant value. The various friction points as mapped in **Fig. 2** of the network cause this delays. To address this phenomenon, we developed a friction network in which we have assigned 2 seconds delay for the friction nodes in between two junctions and 4 seconds delay for the junctions.



Fig. 2. Frictions in the Road Network: (a) Geo-Coded Friction Nodes; (b) Friction Nodes in the Road Network Junction; and (c) Friction Nodes in the Road Network Link.

#### 4.2. Geo-Coding Land Use Types

The whole study area is divided based on land the use pattern. Among the various uses, twelve significant land use types have been mapped in an ArcGIS shape file as in **Fig. 3(a)**. 62% of the areas are residential plots, 8% commercial land, 8% governmental institutions, 7% mixed (commercial and residential) etc. The governmental institutions cover 8% of the area. In this type, the larger area was covered by the central jail. However, during the course of the study, the central jail has been moved to a new location. Presently, this establishment is used as a visitor's site for exhibition. For the ease of analysis, the whole study area is divided into sixty different locations prioritizing their land use pattern. The centroids of the selected locations were found out in 'WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere' projection system. Then the individual areas were calculated using Arc-GIS Field Calculator. Among the sixty analysis zones, there are 20 residential, 2 open spaces, 15 mixed, 5 commercial, 1 governmental, 1 educational, 1 hospital and 1 heritage sites in the study area. The nearby fire stations and hospitals are shown in **Fig. 3(b)**.



Fig. 3. Road Network and Land Use Pattern of the Study Area: (a) Road Network with location of Hospitals and Fire Stations; (b) Land use Pattern of the Study Area.

#### 4.3. Development and Validation of Optimum Route Model

A realistic optimum route model has been developed by using the weighted overlay of three different cost values i.e. land use pattern, travel time (car), road network and population density. The percentages of weightage include 60% in travel time calculated from the average speed and length of links, 10% in land use types along which a route runs, 10% in population density which is maintained as a constant in this small area, and 20% in road network frictions. The purpose of the model is to estimate the field travel time during congested traffic condition. **Fig. 4** represents the framework of the developed model from a single origin (Siddique bazar fire station) to all other origins (60 analysis zones).

...



**(b)** 

Fig. 4. Model Development: (a) Outline of Developed Optimum Route Model; and (b) Validation of Model Results with Field Data.

The outputs of the analysis using this model have been validated using field data. From the O-D cost matrix, using the scenario of the congested road network, the least travel time routes were found out. The particular routes were surveyed and travel times in peak hour were found out using the moving observer method. The difference found in developed models values and field data ranges from 11.4 % to 10.5 %. Also, it was found that around 70% of the time the differences are below 10% range. Hence, the model is considered to be fairly realistic to be used in this study.

#### 5. EMERGENCY RESPONSE DURING DISASTER

#### 5.1. Fire Breakout

A total of four firefighting stations are situated adjacent to the study area. Their locations have been mapped in the ArcGIS shape file. The exact coordinates are taken from

Google Earth. From network analysis tool, Origin-Destination analysis has been done with the localities as destinations and the firefighting stations as the origin.

From the O-D, the least travel time is found for 60 analysis zones to four firefighting stations in both free flow and congested scenario. In more detail analysis, it is found that during congestion scenario some of the localities have different fire station with less response time than free flow scenario. From **Fig. 5(a)**, it is seen that some of the localities have increased response time up to 1100 %, however, in respect to the increase in travel time, the highest increase is 42 minutes.



Fig. 5. Emergency Response during Fire Incidents: (a) Response Time of Fire Fighting Unit to Different Localities of the Study Area; (b) Number of Zones Served by Fire Stations; and (c) Service Area (Sq. meter) of Fire Station.

**Fig. 5(b)** shows the closest fire station during any fire incidents at congested and free flow condition (no shortest route connecting to Palashi Fire Station during free flow). It is clear that due to the location of Siddiq Bazar and Kotowali Fire Station, these two serves

...

most of the study area during any roadway conditions. Siddique Bazar fire station is closest to most of the localities in congested roadway conditions (23 localities) than free-flow condition (22 localities).

The shortest path with only one criterion chose the path with the least length when the average travel speed is same in particular roadway section. Besides, the multi-criteria optimum route choses the route with the least friction and with the least travel time for quickest response. Therefore, from a certain locality, the closest fire service station is different in different conditions.

Finding out the service area of each fire station is a much more comprehensive way to determine the most vulnerable localities during any kind of fire incidents. To find the service area of the four fire stations for both roadway conditions (with friction and without friction), Service Area tool of network extension has been used. The Service Area solver is also based on Dijkstra's algorithm to traverse the network. The goal is to return a subset of connected edge features such that they are within the specified network distance or cost cutoff; in addition, it can return the lines categorized by a set of break values that an edge may fall within. From the analysis without network friction, it is found that almost the whole area can be reached from any of the four firefighting stations within 10 minutes (**Fig.** 5(c)). To entirely cover the area, 15 minutes response time will be adequate, and the area near Babubazar has the maximum response time of greater than 10 minutes (less than 15 minutes). Considering the scenario during peak hour or congested roadway condition, it is found that most of the study area falls beyond the reach of 15 minutes response zone from any of the four fire stations.

To locate the most vulnerable localities, another service area analysis is done using cut off value up to 45 minutes. The result found should be a major concern for the planners. With the current road network condition, the four fire stations can only reach 14.28% of the area within 15 minutes of any incident leaving 85.72% of the area vulnerable to fire hazards. It is seen that more than 10% area cannot be reached even within 45 minutes from any of the fire stations.

Raster analysis is done to pinpoint the exact localities which are in high-risk zones with the cell size of 150 meters by 150 meters using travel time by car as impedance factor in the friction modeled road network. As Siddiq Bazar fire station is the largest facility in the area and the number of resources and manpower it possesses is greater than the other three fire station combined. The localities those are closer to the Siddique Bazar fire station has a response time from 0.7 minutes to 7 minutes. The farthest area from the station has response time of 14.806 minutes. In an improved network with reduced network friction the average travel times from four fire stations to particular localities have found to reduce significantly. For an improved network, least response time is 0.13 minute compared to 11.7 minutes and the largest response time is 11.6 minutes compared to 20.72 minutes of prior analysis (**Fig. 6**). Hence merely reducing or controlling the friction points the response time can be decreased by 44% to 98.9% in some cases.



Fig. 6. Illustration of the degree of dependence between mean of night-time light and GDP at county level.

According to National Fire Protection Agency, a six-minute standard response time for all career fire departments are set (Park et al., 2016), and recommends that the six-minute goal should be achieved 90 percent of the time. Response time standards are not set by Bangladesh Fire Service and Civil Defense Authority and should be developed on an urgent basis. This standard will serve as a base for selecting better potential sites before putting other factors into consideration.

#### 5.2. Response Time for Closest Health Facilities

Traditionally, the aim of a facility location problem model is to help reduce costs or increase benefits, however, in respect of emergency service delivery, the objective is often to minimize the barest minimum losses of lives and properties to the community (Aly & White, 1978). To find out the response time to any nearby medical facilities, the hospitals with emergency units and ambulance services have been identified and located in the map and travel time from the different localities to hospitals was measured and it is found that some of the localities have increased response time up to 950% (**Fig. 7(a**)), however, in respect to an increase in travel time value, the highest increase is 39 minutes. Raster analysis has also been done to find the localities with higher average travel times from the four hospitals ranges from a minimum of 7.4 minutes to a maximum of 20.7 minutes.



Fig. 7. Emergency Responses to Medical Facilities: (a) Least Travel Time to Nearest Hospitals from Different Localities of Study Area; and (b) Raster Map Showing Average Travel Time to Four Hospitals from Different Localities of Study Area.

#### 5.3. Evacuation

The process of evacuation planning is done in three steps. Firstly, determination of safe areas; secondly, determination of optimum path between building blocks and safe areas, and finally grouping of building blocks relating to each safe area (Naghdi et al., 2008). For reducing the displacement time and distance, the safer area connected by optimum routes must be selected. In this study, based on the accessibility and distance from to the major roads, 27 evacuation points are marked around the study area. These evacuation points are situated at the boundary roads of the study area and at or near to the major roads. Using the developed network and closest facility location of Network Extension, the closest evacuation points are mapped in the Study Area. To select the closest evacuation points, the lengths of the links have been selected as the impedance criteria. The distance of the closest evacuation point from any locality has been found to be as low as 73 meters to as high as 1095 meters. We have marked the location IDs which have an emergency evacuation point at a distance greater than 500 meters.

#### 5.4. Most Vulnerable Sites during Disaster

The most vulnerable sites are selected as the sites which have emergency fire service and medical response greater than 30 minutes away and evacuation points greater than 500 meters away. Based on these criteria, the most vulnerable sites are the people living in the following localities highlighted in **Fig. 8(a)**. The localities and landmarks included in the most vulnerable site list are Armanian Church, Armanina School, Tara Mosjid, residential and small commercial areas under Bakshibazar, Armanitola, Bangshal, Nimtoli etc. The location of Central Jail has also been marked as one of the vulnerable areas, which is at present open for visitors as the facility has been moved to a different location.



Fig. 8. Locating EMS/EFR Units: (a) Selected Most Vulnerable Sites (Highlighted); and (b) Proposed Location of EMS/EFR Units using Location-Allocation Tool (to maximize the Coverage Areas).

#### 5.5. Locating Emergency Response Units

Some EMS and Emergency Fire Response team are required as a quick response to minimize the damages in the study area. So, with EMS some emergency vehicles to be used for emergency response to fire hazards are also proposed in this study. Eight sites have been proposed to establish temporary emergency units. These sites are located in the available open spaces, and also the central jail site. Among the eight proposed sites, three sites have been located with maximum coverage which is shown in **Fig. 8(b)**. The criteria for selecting the best three locations were set in such a way such that the units can respond within 10 minutes of any incident reported. The unit may consist of a single ambulance and fire vehicle with sufficient manpower to respond to any small to medium accidental incidents before the actual one arrives. These units will help to reduce the damages in the most vulnerable sites located earlier.

#### 6. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In developing countries high population density and unplanned growth increase the damage risks during any disastrous situation. Developing countries also have major drawbacks in using advanced analysis tools as they do not have baseline data frames. This study is an example of how effectively GIS-based analyses can be utilized in disaster management by incorporating baseline data into a spatial format.

This study proposes an optimum route model by considering the actual roadway network frictions of old Dhaka. Current scenarios of disaster response have been assessed using spatial analysis tools of ArcGIS. The major facilities considered in this study are the response time from nearby firefighting stations and medical centers/hospitals. For ground evacuation during events like earthquake, we proposed several evacuation points and found the distance from different localities. From the analyses, we pointed out the most vulnerable locations exposed to maximum damages during any disastrous situation. As the land use of the study area is impossible to re-shape to install new roads or to widen the existing roadways, we have to come up with innovative measures. To lessen the expected damages of the most vulnerable areas some EMS and/or EFR unit has been proposed in different locations using location-allocation analysis by maximizing the coverage area. Establishing these mobile facilities will ensure an emergency response within 10 minutes of any incidents. These will provide initial support until the major services reach the affected locations.

This study has several limitations. The transportation network is inherently dynamic because the state and measures of traffic change over time. We neglected the dynamic characteristics of the traffic volume during different times of the day in developed optimum route model. Sufficient historical traffic flow data is required to develop a dynamic optimum route model for the whole city with higher accuracy.

Decision makers rely on information to arrange rescue tasks and allocate relief resources after any an emergency incident. An integrate information value theory coupled with GIS graph theory can be developed to prioritize information items based on their contributions to the successes of potential response and rescue tasks during disaster. There is no database or management information system in DCC. They do not have a GIS for roads, drains and footpaths etc. (CDMP, 2010). The authority must take timely initiatives to prepare, preserve and update this information for a citywide disaster response and management planning.

Despite the limitations, proposed state of practice spatial analyses method is one of the few studies done for disaster management in developing countries. The methodology can be utilized in different spatial scales for different localities. This study demonstrates the disaster preparedness for a built-up urban area, but the methods can be applied at the planning stages of any urban developments. This will ensure the prevention of potential damages during disastrous situations.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to express thanks to the committee for advanced studies and research (CASR) of Bangladesh University of Engineering & Technology (BUET) for financial support.

## REFERENCES

- Alam, M. J. B. & Baroi, G. N. (2004) Fire hazard categorization and risk assessment for Dhaka city in GIS framework. *Journal of Civil Engineering (IEB)*, 32(1), 35-45.
- Aly, A. A. & White, J. A. (1978) Probabilistic Formulations of the Emergency Service Location Problems. *The Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 29 (12),1167-1179.
- Amdahl, G. (2001). Disaster Response: GIS for Public Safety. 1st ed. California: Redlands, California, ESRI Press.
- Ansary, M. A. & Choudhury, J. R. (2003) Risk Due to Natural Disasters in Dhaka City and Measures for Mitigation. *Proceedings of International Workshop on Disaster Management*. EMI. Mumbai, India, 80-100.
- Azad, S. Y., Bahauddin, K. & Salahuddin, T. M. (2013) Disaster Management through Mobile Technology: A Conceptual Model for Bangladesh. *Bangladesh Research Publications Journal*, 8(1), 34-40.

- CDMP (2010). Report on Earthquake Risk Assessment of Dhaka, Chittagong and Sylhet City Corporation Area. Dhaka, Bangladesh: Govt. of the People's Republic of Bangladesh.
- Chang, N. B., Wei, Y. L., Tseng, C. C. & Kao, C.Y. (1997) The design of a GIS-based decision support system for chemical emergency preparedness and response in an urban environment. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, 21(1), 67–94.
- Church, R. L. (1997) Geographical information systems and location science. *Computers and Operations Research*, 29 (6), 541–562.
- Church, R. L. & Cova, T. J. (2000) Mapping evacuation risk on transportation networks using a spatial optimization model. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 8 (1-6), 321–336.
- Cova, T. J. & Church, R. L. (1997) Modeling community evacuation using GIS. International Journal of Geographical Information Science, 11(8), 763–784.
- Difani, C. & Dolton, L. (1992) Battling the Oakland fire with GIS. GIS World, 5(1), 43-45.
- Dunn, C. E. & Newton, D. (1992) Optimal routes in GIS and emergency planning applications. Area, 24(3), 259–267.
- Emani, S., Ratick, S. J., Clark, G. E. & Dow, K. (1993) Assessing vulnerability to extreme storm events and sea-level rise using geographical information systems (GIS). *Proceedings of GIS/LIS'93*. Bethesda, ACSM/ASPRS, 201-209.
- Goodchild, M., Parks, B. & Steyaert, L. (1994) Environmental modelling with GIS. Oxford: O.U.P.
- Gunes, A. E. & Kovel, J. P. (2000) Using GIS in emergency management operations. Journal of Urban Planning and Development, 126 (3), 136–149.
- Haidu, I. & Nicoara, M. E. (2011) GIS Procedure for the identification of existing infrastructure in the flooding areas. *Geographia Technica*, 6(2), 30–34.
- Hoyos, M. C., Morales, R. S. & Akhavan-Tabatabaei, R. (2015) OR Models with Stochastic Components in Disaster Operations Management: A Literature Survey. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 82, 183–197.
- Islam, M. M. & Adri, N. (2008) Fire hazard management of Dhaka City: addressing issues relating to institutional capacity and public perception. *Jahangirnagar Planning Review*, 6, 57-67.
- Islam, M. R. (2018) *Performance Evaluation of Flyovers Constructed over Level Crossings in Dhaka City.* M.Sc. Thesis, Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology, Dhaka, Bangladesh.
- Ivan, K. & Haidu, I. (2012) The spatio-temporal distribution of road accidents in Cluj-Napoca. *Geographia Technica*, 16 (2), 32–38.
- Kamal, M. (2008) GIS Based Flood Risk Assessment: A Case Study on Three Wards of Dhaka City. Available from: ttp://www.bip.org.bd/SharingFiles/journal_book/20140427152731.pdf [Accessed 12 Nov. 2017].
- Laefer, D. F. & Pradhan, A. R. (2006) Evacuation route selection based on tree-based hazards using light detection and ranging and GIS. *Journal of Transportation Engineering*, 132 (4), 312–320.
- Mahmud, S. S. & Hoque, M. S. (2010) Unplanned Development and Transportation Problems in Dhaka City. Published in the two days workshop on *Risk Resilient Infrastructures: Role of Education and Training Organized by Buet-Japan Institute of Disaster Prevention and Urban Safety (Buet-Jidpus) Comprehensive Disaster Management Program (CDMP)*. UNDP Ministry of Food and Disaster Management, Government of Bangladesh as a key note paper, 13-14 November.
- Maniruzzaman, K. M., Okabe, A. & Asami, Y. (2001) GIS for cyclone disaster management in Bangladesh. *Geographical and Environmental Modelling*, 5 (2), 123-131.
- Martin, X. (2011) The Global Competitiveness Report 2011–2012. World Economic Forum Geneva, Switzerland. Available from: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_GCR_Report_2011-12.pdf [Accessed 12 Nov. 2017].

- Mitchell, A. (1998) Zeroing in Geographic Information Systems at Work in the Community: Geographic Information Systems at Work in the Community. Redlands, Calif: Environmental Systems Research Institute.
- Montoya, L. (2003) Geo-data acquisition through mobile GIS and digital video: an urban disaster management perspective. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 18 (10), 869–876.
- Naghdi, K., Mansourian, A., Valadanzoej, M. J. & Saadatseresht, M. (2008) Evacuation planning in earthquake disasters, using RS & GIS. *International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences*, 4 (1), 1671-1676.
- Nicoară, M. E. & Haidu, I (2011) Creation of the roads network as a network dataset within a geodatabase. *Geographia Technica*, 6 (2), 81–86.
- Nicoară, P. S. & Haidu, I. (2014) A GIS based network analysis for the identification of shortest route access to emergency medical facilities. *Geographia Technica*, 9 (2), 60-67.
- Panahi, S. & Delavar, M. (2008) A GIS-based dynamic shortest path determination in emergency vehicles. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 3 (1), 88-94.
- Park, P. Y., Jung, W.R., Yeboah, G., Rempel, G., Paulsen, D. & Rumpel, D. (2016) First responders' response area and response time analysis with/without grade crossing monitoring system. *Fire Safety Journal*, 79, 100–110.
- Rahman, N., Ansary, M. A. & Islam, I. (2015) GIS based mapping of vulnerability to earthquake and fire hazard in Dhaka city, Bangladesh. *International journal of disaster risk reduction*, 13, 291– 300.
- Sikder, S. K., Nagarajan, M., Kar, S. & Koetter, T. (2018) A geospatial approach of downscaling urban energy consumption density in mega-city Dhaka, Bangladesh. Urban Climate, 26, 10–30.
- Silva, F. N., de Pidd M., & Eglese, R. (1993) Spatial decision support systems for emergency planning: an operational research/geographical information systems approach to evacuation planning. *International Emergency Management and Engineering Conference*. San Diego, Society for Computer Simulation, 130-33.
- Tishi, T. R. & Islam, I. (2018) Urban Fire Occurrences in the Dhaka Metropolitan Area. *GeoJournal*, 1–11. doi: 10.1007/s10708-018-9923-y.

# AUTOMATED TOOL FOR THE EXTRACTION OF THE SURFACE PONDS BASED ON LIDAR DATA

Kinga IVAN¹, Daria GAGACKA², Paulina MATECKA²

#### DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.07

## ABSTRACT:

The risk associated with urban flooding is expected to increase significantly in the future as a result of urbanization and climate change. It is therefore necessary to develop new strategies and tools for managing urban floods. With the increase of impervious surfaces in urban areas, due to rainfall rainwater on the surface tends to accumulate in ponds. The delimitation of these areas is important because they outline possible areas vulnerable to flooding. In this paper we have proposed the automatic identification of these ponds by developing an algorithm using the Model Builder tool of ArcGIS program. The model was applied to LiDAR data for the city of Wrocław in Poland, a city with a high risk of urban flooding. The Model Builder tool successfully delimits the ponds at the ground surface based on a Digital Elevation Model (DEM), without being necessary a manual intervention, thus saving time and energy for the users.

Key-words: Surface pond; Automatic tool, Urban flooding, LiDAR, Wrocław.

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Climate change, undersized sewerage network, urban sprawl are only a few factors that increase the risk of flooding in urban areas. Due to urbanization areas occupied with constructions, roads, parking lots, concrete or asphalt paved surfaces have increased (Ivan, 2015; Benedek & Ivan, 2018). On these surfaces, the water from the heavy rains tends to drain following the steepest slope, and in the low land areas tends to accumulate in the ponds of different sizes (Haidu & Ivan, 2016a). Ponds outline potential areas vulnerable to urban flooding (Maksimovic et al., 2009), and the identification of these areas is important in flood management.

Lately a series of flood analysis models have been developed, such as: overland flow model which involves a modeling of flow pathways and ponds on the ground surface (Boonya-aroonnet, 2008; Peng et al., 2018), or coupled models - 2D which integrates overland and underground flow model (Chen et al., 2005; Dey & Kamioka, 2006; Maksimovic et al., 2009; Son et al., 2016). However, many of the developed models do not take into account the anthropogenic influences on the ground surface such as buildings, roads or land configuration (Peng et al., 2018). The wide availability of different digital data such as DEM (Digital Elevation Model), DSM (Digital Surface Model), LiDAR (Light Detection and Ranging) from low-resolution to high-resolution elevation Digital Elevation Model make it possible to delimit the surface ponds with a high precision and accuracy. LiDAR data, however, offers the possibility of delimiting these areas taking into account the existing obstacles on the ground surface (buildings, fences or road curbs) which directly influence the water draining and water accumulation on the ground surface (Haidu & Ivan, 2016a).

¹Babeş-Bolyai University, 400006 Cluj-Napoca, Romania, kinga.ivan@ubbcluj.ro;

²Nicolaus Copernicus University, 87-100 Toruń, Poland, daria_gag@wp.pl,

paulina.matecka95@gmail.com;

The present paper describes a new algorithm in order to automatically extract the surface ponds within an urban area (Wrocław, Poland) based on a Digital Elevation Model (LiDAR). The manual extraction of information regarding the ponds require a lot of time, energy and expertise in the field. The developed model offers the possibility of improvement of the already existing overland flow model, it can be helpful and can be used by policy makers from local level for changing and improving strategies on water management.

# 2. STUDY AREA AND DATA

In this paper model application has been made for the city of Wrocław, Poland (**Fig.** 1), which presents a high risk of urban flooding. Wrocław is located in the central part of the Silesian Lowland macro-region with a population of 638586 inhabitants (Local Data Bank of Poland, 2018) and an area of 292.92 km². In its composition the city includes smaller geographical units in the rank of mesoregions: Wrocław Glacial Valley, Wrocław Plain and Oleśnicka Plain. The average width of the glacial valley in the city is 7-10 km. Wrocław Plain stretches between Wrocław Glacial Valley and Sudetes Foreland. It stretches on the left bank of the Oder, between the valleys of Oława and Strzegomka. The highest elevation of the city is 155 m and the lowest is 105 m (Kondracki, 2009).



Fig. 1. Location of the study area (Source: authors).

The Odra, the second largest river in Poland, has enormous socio-economic importance for Wrocław. It affects the development of business, social integration and shaping the city's space. Odra divides the city into right and left-bank areas with uneven population. About 1/3 of the population of Wroclaw lives right bank of the Oder. On the section of the Odra flowing through Wrocław, strategic hydrotechnical constructions are located, including the Flood Canal, ensuring the main protection of the city through floods (SUiKZP, 2018).

During the flood of the millennium that hit Central Europe in July 1997, the waters of the Oder and its tributaries, including Bóbr, Bystrzyca, Kaczawa, Kwisa, Mała Panew, Nysa Kłodzka, Nysa Łużycka, Olza, Oława, Ślęza and Widawa flooded Wrocław. The flood waters of the Odra River broke into the city on July 12, 1997, and finally gave way in August 6. In Wroclaw, the flood of the millennium was particularly difficult because two flood waves overlapped: the Odra and Widawa rivers (Miskiewicz, 2007).

The model developed in this paper allows the extraction of surface ponds using as input data only a Digital Elevation Model. On a global scale elevation models with different resolution and precision are available. Of these models we can mention the SRTM digital elevation model with a spatial resolution of 90 m, ASTER data set with a spatial resolution of 30 m, both with low spatial resolution and precision in multiple regions (Mukul et al., 2017). Based on LiDAR data, with a high spatial resolution a detailed analysis of the ponds at the ground surface can be made, taking into account the existing objects from the ground surface as well.

In this paper surface ponds have been extracted based on a LiDAR digital elevation model with a 1m spatial resolution, obtained from CODGiK (2012). Lidar data have been used successfully by Hanus and Evans (2015) in a similar study in order to detect the medieval water reservoirs in Angkor.

### **3. METHODOLOGY**

In the developed model GIS technology and a Digital Elevation Model has been used for the extraction of ponds. The tools available in the ArcGIS10.4 toolbox and ArcGIS Model Builder allowed us to build and automate the model. Among the tools available within ArcGIS toolbox especially tools of the Spatial Analyst extension have been used.

The methodology for extracting surface ponds have assumed the following operations (Haidu & Ivan, 2016a), illustrated in **Fig.4**:

#### a) the delimitation of representative ponds

In the first part of the model we have focused on outlining the representative areas for each pond or knoll that exist in the study area.

- At first this stage implied the identification of the lowest and highest areas of the land, based on the elevation model;
- Subsequently all the adequate concentric contours for these areas have been delimited using the *Contour* function within the *Spatial Analyst* extension of ArcGIS program;
- Concentric contours thus obtained have been transformed into polygons, and in order to obtain a single representative polygon for each pond or knoll, the *Dissolve* and *Multipart to Singlepart* functions have been used;

### b) pond detection algorithm

The second part of the model consisted in the identification and separation of the ponds from knolls.

- Representative polygons for each pond or knoll have been transformed in Line feature type;
- Based on the Digital Elevation Model and with the help of the *Zonal Statistics* function, the average, maximum, and minimum altitude was calculated for each Line feature, as well the average altitude for each polygon;
- Using the expression (Fig.2) the detection of surface ponds and knolls have been used;

Input:

Line mean altitude  $(L_{mean})$ Line maximum altitude  $(L_{max})$ Line minimum altitude  $(L_{min})$ Polygon mean altitude  $(P_{mean})$ Algorithm: if  $(P_{mean}) > (L_{mean})$  then  $x = (L_{min})$ else  $x = (L_{max})$ end if



The identification of these areas implied the following: where the average value of the cell from the polygons was higher than the value  $L_{mean}$ , the  $L_{min}$  has been taken into consideration in the delimitation, and where the value  $P_{mean}$  was smaller than  $L_{max}$  has been taken into consideration in the delimitation (**Fig. 3**).



Fig. 3. Illustration of the delimitation of knolls and ponds (source: Haidu & Ivan, 2016a).

Later, following the conversion of these areas into raster files, using the *Cut Fill* tool, based on the Digital Elevation Model, the separation of the surface ponds of knolls has been carried out.



Fig. 4. Model Builder diagram showing the workflow to extract the surface ponds from the Digital Elevation Model (*Source: authors*).

#### 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

The model developed and presented in the present paper allows users to quickly and automatically delimit surface ponds using as input data only a Digital Elevation Model. Due to the large number of existing ponds on the ground, manual measurement or manual mapping of these ponds would consume a lot of time and energy.

In the city of Wrocław we have identified over 200000 ponds using the developed tool. Following their verification, of the total number of ponds detected, all of them have been positively identified. The ponds thus obtained have been filtered, those with a surface smaller than 100 m² have been considered insignificant in this study and have been eliminated. By filtering the pond areas from the total number of 219923 ponds, 210124 ponds have been eliminated, resulting in the end a number of 9799 ponds with a surface greater than 100 m² (**Fig.5**).



Fig. 5. Illustration of surface ponds identified in the city of Wrocław, Poland, based on LiDAR data (Source: authors).

From the remaining 9799 ponds, 68 ponds were identified with high influence (the ponds surface greater than 0.1 km²), 382 ponds that have medium influence (the ponds surface between 0.01 km² and 0.1 km²), 1664 ponds with low influence (the ponds surface between 0.001 km² and 0.01 km²) and 7685 ponds that have very low influence (the ponds

surface between 100 m² and 1000 m²). After analyzing and interpreting the data, we have found that these ponds are likely to occur near the rivers, green urban areas or road intersections.

The automated tool developed for filtering Lidar data can detect the ponds with different depths and dimensions based on a DEM, but it is necessary to classify them according to their surface which could disrupt the daily activity or transport. Depending on how high/medium/low limits are sets, the automated tool developed in the present study can be applied to other urban areas.

This tool has been designed to automatically identify natural or artificial surface ponds which are capable of retaining water during or after rainfalls. These temporary water storage nodes (Boonya-aroonnet, 2008) can be viewed as areas prone to flooding. The tool developed in the study has been successfully tested in several subwatersheds, such as those in Cluj-Napoca, Romania (Haidu & Ivan, 2016a; Haidu & Ivan, 2016b) as well as in France (Haidu & Ivan, 2016c). Therefore we can say that this tool is reliable and can be used by policy makers in order to find and implement measures to prevent urban flooding that can have major effects on the population.

Early knowledge of these areas can help local authorities to develop new flood management strategies. From effective flood control techniques we can mention: detention basins which can help reduce the peak flow (Ardeshir et al., 2013), green roofs, separated sewerage systems or paving the parking lots with permeable pavements which allow the pluvial water infiltration into the soil (Haidu & Ivan, 2015).

### 5. CONCLUSIONS

Urban pluvial flooding, often caused by the exceeded the capacity of the drainage system, or the clogging of drain holes, is a rapid and direct consequence of precipitations. They appear unexpectedly, without prior warning, most often in areas which are not prone to flooding. Their consequences can have pronounced effects on the population, on the environment and can sometimes lead to major economic losses.

The model developed in the present paper allows the early identification and knowledge of possible areas vulnerable to floods - surface pond - and may stand as a valuable tool for local decision-makers, in order to improve water management strategies. After analyzing the surface ponds we have found that the ponds having a surface greater than 100 m² could cause problems during heavy rainfalls to traffic or to civic life, if the sewer system is blocked by certain objects or materials or when the sewer system is under pressure. The model automation offers the user the ability to easily use it, saving time and energy and can underpin the improvement of other existing models.

## REFERENCES

- Ardeshir, A., Salari, K., Jalilsani, F., Behzadian, K. & Mousavi, S. J. (2013) Urban Flood Mitigation By Development Of Optimal Detention Ponds In Urban Areas: A Case Study. In *International Conference on Flood Resilience: Experiences in Asia and Europe*, 5-7 September 2013, Exeter, United Kingdom.
- Benedek, J. & Ivan, K. (2018) Remote sensing based assessment of variation of spatial disparities. Geographia Technica, 13 (1), 1-9.
- Boonya-aroonnet, S. (2008) Applications of the innovative modelling of urban surface flooding in the UK case studies. In *11th International Conference on Urban Drainage*, Edinburgh, UK.

- Chen, A. S., Hsu, M. H., Chen, T. S. & Chang, T. J. (2005) An integrated inundation model for highly developed urban areas. *Water Science & Technology*, 51(2), 221-229.
- CODGiK (2012). Centralny Ośrodek Dokumentacji Geodezyjnej i Kartograficznej (Central Documentation Centre of Geodesy and Cartography), Numeryczne dane wysokościowe (Numerical elevation data). Available from: from: www.codgik.gov.pl.
- Dey, A. K. & Kamioka, S. (2006) An integrated modelling approach to predict flooding on urban basin. 7th Int. Conf. on Urban Drainage Modelling and 4th Int. Conf. on Water Sensitive Urban Design, Melbourne, 2, 259-266.
- Haidu, I. & Ivan, K. (2015) Rainwater management aiming to improve the quality of urban surface runoff. Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Geographia, LX, 2, 35-44.
- Haidu, I. & Ivan, K. (2016a) Ponds delineation in various urban landforms. Case study for Cluj-Napoca, Romania. Environmental Engineering and Management Journal, 15(6), 1379-1386.
- Haidu, I. & Ivan, K. (2016b) The assessment of the impact induced by the increase of impervious areas on surface runoff. Case study the city of Cluj-Napoca, Romania. *Carpathian Journal of Earth and Environmental Sciences*, 11(2), 331-337.
- Haidu, I. & Ivan, K. (2016c) Urban runoff pathways and surface water volumes evolution. Case study: Bordeaux 1984-2014, France. *Houille Blanche-Revue Internationale de l eau*, 5, 51-56.
- Hanus, K. & Evans, D. (2015) Imaging the waters of Angkor: a method for semi-automated pond extraction from LiDAR data. Archaeol. Prospect, 23, 87–94.
- Ivan, K. (2015) The spatio-temporal analysis of impervious surfaces in Cluj-Napoca, Romania. *Geographia Technica*, 10 (2), 50-58.
- Kondracki, J. (2009) Geografia regionalna Polski. PWN, Warszawa, Poland.
- Local Data Bank of Poland (2018). Central Statistical Office of Poland. Available form: https://bdl.stat.gov.pl/BDL/start.
- Maksimovic, C., Pradanovic, D., Boonya-Aroonnet, S., Leitao, J. P., Djordjevic, S. & Allitt, S. I. (2009) Overland flow and pathway analysis for modelling of urban pluvial flooding. *Journal of Hydraulic Research*, 47(4), 512-523.
- Miskiewicz, M. (2007). Powódź tysiąclecia bilans dziesięciolecia. Money 12 July 2007. Available from:www.money.pl/gospodarka/raporty/artykul/powodz;tysiaclecia;;bilans;dziesieciolecia,135, 0,252551.html. [Accessed September 2018].
- Mukul, M., Srivastava, V., Jade, S. & Mukul, M. (2017) Uncertainties in the Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) Heights: Insights from the Indian Himalaya and Peninsula. Sci. Rep., 7, 41672.
- Peng, G. Q., Lu, F. Q., Song, Z. Y. & Zhang, Z. (2018) Key Technologies for an Urban Overland Flow Simulation System to Support What-If Analysis. *Journal of Water Resource and Protection*, 10, 699-724.
- Son, A.-L., Kim, B. & Han, K.-Y. (2016) A Simple and Robust Method for Simultaneous Consideration of Overland and Underground Space in Urban Flood Modeling. *Water*, 8, 494.
- SUiKZP (2018). Studium uwarunkowań i kierunków zagospodarowania przestrzennego Wrocławia, Wrocław.

# PROJECTION OF ANNUAL CROP COEFFICIENTS IN ITALY BASED ON CLIMATE MODELS AND LAND COVER DATA

# Mărgărit-Mircea NISTOR^{1*}

## DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.08

#### **ABSTRACT:**

Nowadays, a multitude of world changes are coming to affect the ecosystems, urban landscapes, and natural resources. Land use and land cover patterns represent an interactive layer between Earth surface and underground entities which is often consider in the hydrogeological studies. Many factors such as climate parameters and human activities affects the groundwater recharge, quality of water resources and also changes in the hydrologic regime. Crop evapotranspiration plays an essential role in the water balance and water deficit investigations. Here, we use the seasonal crop coefficients to calibrate the annual crop coefficients for the Italian territory. These values could be useful for the temperate zone area. Four stages of annual crop coefficients were set (initial, mid-season, end season, cold season) to perform the calculation of annual Crop coefficients. The annual crop coefficients (AKc) have been extracted from the annual ETc. CORINE land cover data and high resolution climate models of potential evapotranspiration (ET0) were the key datasets for AKc projection in Italy. These findings and original maps that we show in the paper represent important tools for the agriculture, environmental, and urban planning.

Keywords: land cover, seasons, crop coefficients, crop evapotranspiration, land cover projections, Italy.

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

In several cases, the climate change have had negative impact on surface water resources and groundwater (Loàiciga et al., 2000; Parmesan & Yohe, 2003; Brouyère et al., 2004; Campos et al., 2013; Prăvălie et al., 2014). It was shown that the ecosystems and it's ecolines are very sensitive to climate change, biodiversity and composition can have consistent changes. In addition to climate change, the land cover and land use pattern play an important role in the interface of land and atmosphere.

Slightly changes of land cover may disturb the entire functions of the ecosystems, which preserve the equilibrium in various domain: e.g. effect on water vulnerability in the regional and local hydrology, cultivation patterns in agriculture, and the evapotranspiration regime as a climatic parameter.

¹ Nanyang Technological University, School of Civil and Environmental Engineering, 639798, Singapore; margarit@ntu.edu.sg

Both climate and land cover are direct responsible for the evapotranspiration phenomena, fact for which many hydrological studies used the potential evapotranspiration and actual evapotranspiration for water balance and water surplus investigations (Li et al., 2007; Rosenberry et al., 2007; Gowda et al., 2008). The land cover changes on short-term could be detected by satellite images (Angelini et al., 2017), which are now available at high resolution. In the last years, Adamo et al. (2014) predicted the shoreline changes using the coastal erosion model based on altimeters and directional wave spectrum. Rogana & Chen (2004) have applied the remote sensing to identify and monitor the land cover and land use changes. In their study, the techniques of data collection from sensors, spatial resolution and data processing were discussed. Moreover, geographic information systems (GIS) and image analysis systems, become together strong tools in the land cover changes mapping (Treitz & Rogan, 2004). However, in this study, we have focused on CORINE Land Cover and Hercules models, because these databases are already validated and available for scientists' community.

A substantial contribution was the FAO Paper no. 56 (Allen et al., 1998) and Allen's work (Allen, 2000) that proposed a complex methodology to calculate the crop evapotranspiration (ET_c) and to carry out the K_c/evapotranspiration rate for different type of crops. In the same years, Grimmond & Oke (1999) done the measurements of evapotranspiration in various cities from United States and further they calculated the K_c related not only for crops and plants, but also for urban areas and impervious fractions. Integrating the K_c in the formula of ET_c, Nistor et al. (2017) calculated the ET_c for regional scale in four seasons for the Pannonian basin. They extracted the K_c from the CORINE Land Cover database and, considering the growth of crops period they divided the year months in the crop calendar. Thus, initial, mid-seasons, end season and cold seasons were the main periods for which they have calculated the seasonal ET_c. Summing the values of seasonal ET_c, the total annual ET_c was found.

The aim or our work was to complete the spatial distribution of seasonal  $K_c$  related to four stages of crop calendar and to calculate the annual  $K_c$  for the Italian territory. We choose this land because is composed by a heterogeneous landscape including almost all relief types and extends on more than 10 degrees in latitude, which implies an advantage for the annual  $K_c$  calculation in temperate zone. Moreover, Italian territory has a large coastal zone, with a diversity of vegetation cover, but also and the climate is complex in Italy. The findings carried out through our methodology are a huge contribution for climatologist and hydrogeologists due to a final product map annual  $K_c$  for present and future.

#### 2. STUDY AREA

Italian territory extends from 36°38' to 47°4' North and 6°38' to 18°32' East (GCS_WGS_1984 Projection) and is located in south of Europe (**Fig. 1**). Italy is a Mediterranean country, with a large coastal lines, various orography and complex climate. Thus, the eastern coast is bordered by Adriatic sea from North to South, the South and southeastern sides of the country are mainly bordered by Ionian Sea and Mediterranean Sea, when the northwestern and western sides of Italy are bordered by Ligurian Sea respective Tyrrhenian Sea. Attached to Italy are also Sicily and Sardinia Islands, but also many small islands.



Fig. 1. Location of the Italy on the Europe map (left) and land cover of the Italian territory (right).

Regarding the relief of the Italy, the major mountain belts are the Alps Mountains in North (Western Alps, Central Alps, and Eastern Alps) and Apennines Mountains (Northern Apennines, Central Apennines, and Southern Apennines) that extends from northwestern to southeastern through the central part of the Italian Peninsula. The main lowlands are Po Plain and Po River Delta, located in North sides of the country, but also the Adriatic coast represents the realm with lows elevations.

From climate point of view, the Cfa and Cfb are the main climate in the North of the country (Kottek et al., 2006) with Csa climate in the South. The mean annual temperature for the actual period in the study area ranged from -0.5 °C in North to 18.4 °C in South. The mean annual precipitation in the present period exceeds 1800 mm year⁻¹ in many locations of Alps and Northern Apennines and the maximum values reach 2100 mm year⁻¹ in the Northern Apennines. The ET₀ in Italy ranged from 367 mm up to 927 mm. The maximum values of ET_c (1299 mm) are found in the South of the Italy, but also the values over 1200

mm of  $ET_c$  are found in Sicily and West side of Sardinia. The highest value of  $ET_c$  in that area is influenced by the high temperatures and high  $K_c$  of vegetation (e.g. broad-leaved forest). The adapted vegetation at orography and climate were identified in Italy. In mountains areas the main covers are coniferous and mixed forest which included species as oak (Quercus), beech (Fagus), elms (Ulmus), and hornbeam (Carpinus) (European Environment Agency, 2007), pasture and transnational woodland and shrubs. The lowlands and plains are mainly covered by hay, herbaceous vegetation and agricultural lands. In the hilly areas and in the meadows along rivers are presents more broad-leaved forests and shrubs. The coastal areas are predominantly with Mediterranean vegetation as Italian stone pine (Pinus pinea), green areas, and sclerophyllous vegetation. On the coast zone are also located the ports areas, the lagoons and marshes.



**Fig. 2.** Land cover projections of Italy. (a) Scenario A1. (b) Scenario A2. (c) Scenario B1. (d) Scenario B2. Source: Sustainable futures for Europe's HERitage in CULtural landscapES" project (http://www.hercules-landscapes.eu/).

# **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

# 3.1. CORINE land cover data

Raster data with 250 m spatial resolution of CORINE Land Cover 2012 served to identify represent the land type categories in Italy for the present period. This database was elaborated by Copernicus Land Monitoring Services (2012) and cover the northern, southern, western and central sides of Europe.

Dynamic spatial changes of the land use and land cover for the future period have been depicted using the Hercules models carried out in the "Sustainable futures for Europe's HERitage in CULtural landscapES" project, GA no. 603447 (Schulp et al., 2015). Using four scenarios, Schulp et al. (2015) projected the land cover of Europe by 2040 based on macro-economic and land use models for which they set fourteen trajectories in the land trend considering the urbanization, agriculture and forestry.

The raster data of future Hercules models are available on website (http://www.hercules-landscapes.eu/) while the procedure of the trajectories, indices and mapping cultural landscapes is highlighted in the Report no. 1 off the Hercules project (Schulp et al., 2015). Four scenarios as A1, A2, B1, and B2 in sixteen classes (**Fig. 2**) built for 2040 were used for the present paper to represent the spatial distribution of seasonal  $K_c$ .

# 3.2. Seasonal crop coefficients (Kc)

According to Allen et al. (1998) and Grimmond & Oke (1999), for each land cover type was assigned a certain crop coefficient ( $K_c$ ) value. Based on these values, the ET_c calculation for four season and annual periods were done.

Allen et al. (1998) have mentioned tested values and a detailed analyzed  $K_c$  for various climate zones (e.g. Tropics, Temperate, and Mediterranean) in the Food and Agriculture Organization report. The  $K_c$  related to the urban areas and bare soil have been calculated and published by Grimmond & Oke (1999). Four stages of crop growth and specified  $K_c$  for have been considered in this study, as follow: initial season ( $K_{c ini}$ ) during the March, April, May; mid-season ( $K_{c mid}$ ) during June, July, August; end season ( $K_{c end}$ ) during September and October; cold season ( $K_c$  cold) during January, February, November, and December. Here, we adopt the Nistor et al. (2017) methodology to illustrate the spatial distribution of  $K_c$  in Italy and to carry out the annual crop coefficients ( $AK_c$ ). At regional scale, due to the overlap of growth crops calendar, the scientists insert this stage in the initial season (Nistor et al., 2017). The standard  $K_c$  values for initial season, mid-season, end season, and cold season related to the present and future are reported in the Table 1, respective Table 2.

Table 1. Corine Land Cover classes and representative seasonal Kc coefficients for the present in Italian territory						
	Corine Land Cover	Kc ini season	Kc mid season	Kc end season	Kc cold season	
CLC code 2012	CLC Description	Kclc	Kclc	Kclc	Kclc	
111	Continous urban fabric	0.2	0.4	0.25	-	
112	Discontinuous urban fabric	0.1	0.3	0.2	-	
121	Industrial or commercial units	0.2	0.4	0.3	-	
122	Road and rail networks and associated land	0.15	0.35	0.25	-	
123	Port areas	0.3	0.5	0.4	-	
124	Airports	0.2	0.4	0.3	-	
131	Mineral extraction sites	0.16	0.36	0.26	-	
132	Dump sites	0.16	0.36	0.26	-	
133	Construction sites	0.16	0.36	0.26	-	
141	Green urban areas	0.12	0.32	0.22	-	
142	Sport and leisure facilities	0.1	0.3	0.2	-	
211	Non-irrigated arable land	1.1	1.35	1.25	-	
212	Permanently irrigated land	1.2	1.45	1.35	-	
213	Rice fields	1.05	1.2	0.6	-	
221	Vinevards	0.3	0.7	0.45	_	
222	Fruit trees and berry plantations	0.3	1.05	0.5	_	
223	Olive groves	0.65	0.7	0.65	0.5	
231	Pastures	0.4	0.9	0.8	-	
	Annual crops associated with permanent	0.4	0.9	0.0		
241	crops	0.5	0.8	0.7	-	
242	Complex cultivation patterns	1.1	1.35	1.25	-	
243	Land principally occupied by agriculture, with					
244	significant areas of natural vegetation	0.7	1.15	1	-	
244	Agro-forestry areas	0.9	1.1	1.05	0.3	
311	Broad-leaved forest	1.3	1.6	1.5	0.6	
312	Coniferous forest	1	1	1	1	
313	Mixed forest	1.2	1.5	1.3	0.8	
321	Natural grasslands	0.3	1.15	1.1	-	
322	Moors and heathland	0.8	1	0.95	-	
323	Sclerophyllous vegetation	0.25	0.9	0.8	-	
324	Transitional woodland-shrub	0.8	1	0.95	-	
331	Beaches, dunes, sands	0.2	0.3	0.25	-	
332	Bare rocks	0.15	0.2	0.05	-	
333	Sparsely vegetated areas	0.4	0.6	0.5	-	
334	Burnt area	0.1	0.15	0.05	-	
335	Glaciers and perpetual snow	0.48	0.52	0.52	0.48	
411	Inland marshes	0.15	0.45	0.8	-	
412	Peat bogs	0.1	0.4	0.75	-	
421	Salt marshes	0.1	0.3	0.7	-	
422	Salines	0.1	0.15	0.05	-	
423	Intertidal flats	0.3	0.7	1.3	-	
511	Water courses	0.25	0.65	1.25	-	
512	Water bodies	0.25	0.65	1.25	_	
521	Coastal lagoons	0.3	0.7	1.3	-	
522	Estuaries	0.25	0.65	1.25	_	
523	Sea and ocean	0.4	0.8	1.4	-	

Kc - crop coefficient for plants, Ks - evaporation coefficient for bare soils, Ku - crop coefficient for urban areas, Kw - evaporation coefficient for open water, Kclc - crop coefficient for land cover. Source: From Allen et al. (1998); Nistor et al. (2017)
Table 2. Corine Land Cover classes and representative seasonal Kc coefficients used for the future scenarios in Italian territory									
		Corine Land Cover	Kc ini seasor	Kc mid seasor	Kc end seasor	Kc cold seasor			
CLC code 2012	CLC projection code	CLC Description	Kclc	Kclc	Kclc	Kclc			
133	0	Built-up area	0.16	0.36	0.26	-			
211	1	Arable land (non-irrigated)	1.1	1.35	1.25	-			
231	2	Pasture	0.4	0.9	0.8	-			
321 and 324	3	Natural and semi-natural vegetation (including Natural grasslands, scrublands, regenerating forest below 2 m, and small forest patches within agricultural landscapes)	0.45	1.1	1	-			
411	4	Inland wetlands	0.15	0.45	0.8	-			
335	5	Glaciers and snow	0.48	0.52	0.52	0.48			
212	6	Irrigated arable land	1.2	1.45	1.35	-			
321	7	Recently abandoned arable land (i.e. "long fallow"; includes very extensive farmland not reported in agricultural statistics, herbaceous vegetation, grasses and shrubs below 30 cm)	0.3	1.15	1.1	-			
241	8	Permanent crops	0.5	0.8	0.7	-			
313	10	Forest	1.2	1.5	1.3	0.8			
333	11	Sparsely vegetated areas	0.4	0.6	0.5	-			
331	12	Beaches, dunes and sands	0.2	0.3	0.25	-			
422	13	Salines	0.1	0.15	0.05	-			
123 and 521	14	Water and coastal flats	0.3	0.7	1.3	-			
322	15	Heathland and moorlands	0.8	1	0.95	-			
231 and 324	16	Recently abandoned pasture land (includes very extensive pasture land not reported in agricultural statistics, grasses and shrubs below 30cm)	0.6	1	0.9	-			

Kc - crop coefficient for plants, Ks - evaporation coefficient for bare soils, Ku - crop coefficient for urban areas, Kw - evaporation coefficient for open water, Kclc - crop coefficient for land cover. Source: From Allen et al. (1998); Nistor et al. (2017)

# 3.3.Climate data

Mean monthly air temperature models related to 2011 to 2040 served to carried out the seasonal  $ET_0$  in the present study and to calculate the seasonal and annual  $ET_c$ . The climate models are in raster grid format at very high spatial resolution with a temporal average of 30 years. Based on the ANUSplin software, Hamann et al. (2013) have completed the air temperature models for Europe. These models are courtesy by Andreas Hamann from Alberta University, Canada. The climate models were generated using the ClimateEU v4.63 software package (see http://tinyurl.com/ClimateEU) and followed the methodology described by Hamann et al. (2013).

# 3.4. Annual crop evapotranspiration (ET_c) and annual crop coefficient (AK_c)

The AK_c is the ratio expression of  $\text{ET}_c$  and  $\text{ET}_0$ . Based on the seasonal values of K_c and climate data, the seasonal and annual  $\text{ET}_c$  have been calculated. Firstly, for the each set season was performed the  $\text{ET}_0$  using the Thornthwaite (1948) method (Eq. 1). By multiplying the  $\text{ET}_0$  of season K_c, the  $\text{ET}_c$  related to the four seasons were calculated (Eqs. 4-7). The annual  $\text{ET}_c$  is the sum of initial  $\text{ET}_c$ , mid-season  $\text{ET}_c$ , end season  $\text{ET}_c$  and cold season  $\text{ET}_c$  (Eq. 8). Divided the annual  $\text{ET}_c$  at the  $\text{ET}_0$ , the AK_c (Eq. 9) was found for the present and further, implemented for the future scenarios. Further, from the annual  $\text{ET}_c$  and  $\text{ET}_0$ , the average value of AK_c for each land cover type was extracted. Using the pinpoint verification on the Italian map, the specific value of the AK_c were assigned to the respective land cover type.

$$ET_0 = 16\left(\frac{10T_i}{I}\right)^{\alpha} \tag{1}$$

$$I = \sum_{i=1}^{12} \left(\frac{T_i}{5}\right)^{1.514}$$
(2)

where:

ET₀ monthly potential evapotranspiration [mm]

- $T_i$  average monthly temperature [°C],  $ET_0=0$  if  $\overline{Tm} < 0$
- I heat index (Eq.(2))

where:

I annual heat index

$$ET_{c \, ini} = ET_{0 \, ini} \times K_{c \, ini} \tag{4}$$

$$ET_{c\ mid} = ET_{0\ mid} \times K_{c\ mid} \tag{5}$$

$$ET_{c end} = ET_{0 end} \times K_{c end} \tag{6}$$

$$ET_{c \ cold} = ET_{0 \ cold} \times K_{c \ cold} \tag{7}$$

$$Annual ET_c = ET_{c \, ini} + ET_{c \, mid} + ET_{c \, late} + ET_{c \, cold} \tag{8}$$

$$AKc = \frac{ETc annual}{ET0 annual} \tag{9}$$



**Fig. 3.** Spatial distribution of seasonal ET₀ in Italy. (a) ET₀ ini for the initial season. (b) ET₀ mid for the mid-season. (c) ET₀ end for the end season. (d) ET₀ cold for the cold season.



**Fig. 4.** Spatial distribution of  $K_c$  in Italy related to the present land cover. (a)  $K_c_{nii}$  for the initial season. (b)  $K_c_{nid}$  for the mid-season season. (c)  $K_c_{end}$  for the end season. (d)  $K_c_{cold}$  for the cold season.

# 4. RESULTS

**Figure 3** depicts the seasonal  $ET_0$  in Italy, carried out from the monthly  $ET_0$ . For the initial season, the  $ET_0$  varies from 0 to 177 mm, the maximum values were found in the Po Plain and southeastern sides of Italy, on the coastal area. The mid-season ET₀ ranges from 0 to 456 mm, with the several places where the values exceed 300 mm. These sides overlap to Po Plain, coastal areas, central sides of the country and to the Sicily and Sardinia Islands. The values of the  $ET_0$  in the end season varies from 0 to 230 mm, the southern parts and the islands are the main land with the high ET₀. As we expected, the cold season illustrates lower values of ET₀, especially in the North of Italy. In the Central Apennines, northern plains, and in the Alps regions the  $ET_0$  fall below 75 mm. In the South, South-East, and South-West, but also in the Sicily and Sardinia Islands, the  $ET_0$  register values above 100 mm in the cold season. In aim to calibrate the  $AK_c$  for the Italian territory, an detailed analysis of the  $K_c$  spatial distribution were done. Thus, the  $K_{c ini}$  varies in the present period from 0 to 1.3 showing a large part of Italy with high coefficient. In the northern sides, excepting the Alps area and cities, the K_c register values above 1. The same trend is also on the Tyrrhenian and Adriatic coast, while in the South of Italy the values are around 0.81 - 1in most of the territory, and fall below 0.6 in South of Sardinia, West and East of Sicily. The  $K_{c \text{ mid}}$  ranges from 0 to 1.6 and indicates high values in the Po Plain, northern and eastern coast, in central and south-central Italy, and on western coast. The southeastern, southern and northern parts of Italy shows values between 0.61 and 1. The most part of Sicily and Sardinia are covered by lands with values of 0.61 to 1.3 for  $K_{c mid}$ , but there are

106

also values which exceed 1.3. In the end season the  $K_{c end}$  varies from 0 to 1.5 and the major part of territory has values between 0.81 and 1.3. The North of Italy, especially in the Alps Mountains, but also around the big cities, southeastern sides of country, West and East of Sicily the  $K_{c end}$  fall below 0.6. During the cold season, 0.3 and less values are predominantly in the Italian land. In this season, opposite to the others, the Alps, Northern Apennines, and Central Apennines, and elevated parts of Sicily and Sardinia indicates highest values of the  $K_{c cold}$  due to the presence of the forest cover, which has the high evapotranspiration rate also in the cold seasons. **Figure 4** illustrates the  $K_c$  spatial distribution in Italy during the four seasons related to the present period.



Fig. 5. Spatial distribution of  $K_c$  in Italy related to the projection of scenario A1. (a)  $K_c$  ini for the initial season. (b)  $K_c$  mid for the mid-season season. (c)  $K_c$  end for the end season. (d)  $K_c$  cold for the cold season.

The future projection of the land cover indicates slightly differences of the K_c pattern for all seasons due to the simplified land cover classes carried out for 2040. The K_{c ini} varies in the future from 0 to 1.2 with values between 1 and 1.2 in the northern and inside central peninsula sides, while on the coastal areas, major land of Sicily and Sardinia, and Alps Mountains the values of K_{c ini} ranges from 0.11 to 0.6. The K_c in the mid-season increase up to 1.5 and shows large parts of Italian territory with K_{c mid} values over 1.3. These values extends in the North of the country, central and South of the Italian Peninsula. Southeastern and some southern sides of Italy, western, northern, and eastern parts of Sicily, central and North of Sardinia has medium values of K_{c mid} (0.6 to 1). The Kc end varies for the future scenarios from 0 to 1.35, with elevated values (1 to 1.35) in the central and northern areas of Italy, while the southern areas of Italy, Sicily and Sardinia are cover more by land with Kc end values between 0.6 and 1.

The lowest values are located in the elevated mountains and surrounding the large urban areas and in the metropolitan area of the capital. In the cold season, the  $K_{c \text{ cold}}$  illustrates the lowest values of evapotranspiration rate and, more than this, only values below 1.



Fig. 6. Spatial distribution of  $K_c$  in Italy related to the projection of scenario A2. (a)  $K_c$  ini for the initial season. (b)  $K_c$  mid for the mid-season season. (c)  $K_c$  end for the end season. (d)  $K_c$  cold for the cold season.



**Fig. 7.** Spatial distribution of  $K_c$  in Italy related to the projection of scenario B1. (a)  $K_c$  ini for the initial season. (b)  $K_c$  mid for the mid-season season. (c)  $K_c$  end for the end season.

#### (a) (c) Kc ini Kc end 0 - 0.1 0 - 0.05 Ligurian Sea Lightian Sea 0.11 - 0.3 0.06 - 0.3 0.31 - 0.6 0.31 - 0.6 Tyrhenian Se henian Sea 0.61 - 0.8 0.61 - 0.8 0.81 - 1 0.81 - 1 1.01 - 1.2 1.01 - 1.2 150 300 600 Km 150 300 600 Km 1.21 - 1.35 (d) (b) Kc mid Kc cold 0 - 0.15 Ligurian Sea Ligurian Sei 0 - 0.48 Iriatic 0.16 - 0.3 Sea 0.48 - 0.8 0.31 - 0.6 Tyrhenian Si Tyrrhenian 0.61 - 0.8 0.81 - 1 1.01 - 1.3 150 150 300 0 300 600 K 1.31 - 1.5

Fig. 8. Spatial distribution of  $K_c$  in Italy related to the projection of scenario B2. (a)  $K_c$  ini for the initial season. (b)  $K_c$  mid for the mid-season season. (c)  $K_c$  end for the end season. d)  $K_c$  cold for the cold season.



Fig. 9. Spatial distribution of annual ET_c in Italy related to the present (details of three sides).

#### (d) $K_{c \text{ cold}}$ for the cold season.

Thus, in the mountain areas covered by forest and trees, the  $K_{c \text{ cold}}$  varies from 0.48 to 0.8, while in the plains, coastal areas, urban areas, Sicily and almost whole territory of Sardinia the values are 0. The pattern of  $K_{c \text{ ini}}$ ,  $K_{c \text{ mid}}$ ,  $K_{c \text{ end}}$ , and  $K_{c \text{ cold}}$ , are very similar for all scenarios. Figures 5 - 8 show the variation of  $K_c$  in the Italian land considering the four seasons. Following the presented methodology, from the seasonal  $ET_0$  and seasonal  $K_c$ , the annual  $ET_c$  was calculated for the present in aim to extract the  $AK_c$ . Figure 9 illustrates three sheets of Italian Peninsula where the annual  $ET_c$  is more diversified and the values pattern can be observed in details.



**Fig. 10.** Spatial distribution of AK_c in Italy related to the present and future projection. (a) AK_c for the present. (b) AK_c for the Scenario A1. (c) AK_c for scenario A2. (d) AK_c for the scenario B1. (e) AK_c for the scenario B2.

The annual  $ET_c$  ranges from 0 to 1675 mm, indicating the lowest values (below 400 mm) in the mountain areas, in the urban and in the no vegetated areas. The high values of annual  $ET_c$  were depicted in the all three set sheets, especially in many sides of the North,

central and South of Italy, where the ferest area is located. After the ratio of  $ET_c$  and  $ET_0$ , the AK_c have been calculated for Italy using the present climate and land cover layers.

**Figure 10** depicts the  $AK_c$  spatial distribution for the present and future. Few territories has low values of  $AK_c$  (below 0.2) and are located in the North of Italy, some sides of Tyrrhenian coast, and in the agglomerated urban areas. The highest values (above 1.3) of the  $AK_c$  could be found in the Alps and Apennines Ranges while in the plains, and coastal areas the values of  $AK_c$  varies from 1 to 1.3. The southeastern part of Italy, western and eastern parts of Sicily, the  $AK_c$  has values between 0.4 and 0.7. Table 3 reports the calibrated values of  $AK_c$  for the present and Table 4 reports the  $AK_c$  for the future.

#### 5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Spatial distribution of seasonal  $K_c$  in Italy have been mapped for the present and future period. From the annual ET_c calculation, the AK_c specified for all classes of land cover was found. Due to the detailed division of CORINE Land Cover up to 4th level, the present AK_c map illustrates a distribution of crops presence mare diversified than in the future scenarios. In all cases, the high values of AK_c extends in the North of Italy, more precise in Prealps areas between Po Plain and Alps, in the Northern and Central Apennines, where the forest and the crops with evapotranspiration capacity rate rise over 1.3, but also in some sides of the South of Italy, Sicily and Sardinia. The lower AK_c (below 0.4) were depicted din the high mountains areas and surrounding the big cities.

Under the land cover projections, the land with high values of AK_c extends up to 2040, the scenario A1 is the most alarming for the Italian territory. Is the evolution of land cover will follow this scenario, the direct negative effects on agriculture and water resources will affected due to the irrigation water quantity requires.

Our work has obvious some limitations, not really from the calculation survey but more related to some aspects of missing field measurements. The complex land of Italy and the spatial extension no not allow us to complete an exhaustive study by tensiometers and lysimeters. For the same reason, in the Thornthwaite equation, the latitude factor of sunshine was set at 1. These limitations doesn't affects the investigations considering the large scale of the study, but also the appropriate results carried out here are in range with other studies about  $K_c$  and  $ET_c$  in central and southern Europe.

Present and future maps of seasonal  $K_c$  and  $AK_c$  at spatial scale of Italy represent significant tools for climatologists and hydrogeologists from one of the larger and complex country from Europe. Based on these maps, the water deficit and water surplus for different locations of the country may be calculated.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank to the Copernicus Land Monitoring Services, which provided the land cover data for the present study. Many thanks are welcome to Andreas Hamann from Alberta University for all support during the research and for the climate data models provided. The second affiliation of the author is Earthresearch Company, Department of Hydrogeology, Cluj-Napoca, Romania.

Table 3. Corine Land Cover classes and annual Kc calculated for present in Italy.									
	Corine Land Cover		K	Ke annu	al				
CLC code 2012	CLC Description	Kc	Ks	Ku	Kw	Kclc			
111	Continous urban fabric	-	-	0.29	-	0.29			
112	Discontinuous urban fabric	-	-	0.21	-	0.21			
121	Industrial or commercial units	-	-	0.3	-	0.3			
122	Road and rail networks and associated land	-	-	0.25	-	0.25			
123	Port areas	-	-	0.39	-	0.39			
124	Airports	-	-	0.3	-	0.3			
131	Mineral extraction sites	-	-	0.26	-	0.26			
132	Dump sites	-	-	0.26	-	0.26			
133	Construction sites	-	-	0.26	-	0.26			
141	Green urban areas	-	-	0.21	-	0.21			
142	Sport and leisure facilities	-	-	0.21	-	0.21			
211	Non-irrigated arable land	1.14	-	-	-	1.14			
212	Permanently irrigated land	1.25	-	-	-	1.25			
213	Rice fields	0.94	-	-	-	0.94			
221	Vineyards	0.5	-	-	-	0.5			
222	Fruit trees and berry plantations	0.68	-	-	-	0.68			
223	Olive groves	0.66	-	-	-	0.66			
231	Pastures	0.7	-	-	-	0.7			
241	Annual crops associated with permanent cror	0.67	-	-	-	0.67			
242	Complex cultivation patterns	1.16	-	-		1.16			
243	Land principally occupied by agriculture, with significant areas of natural vegetation	0.92	-	_	-	0.92			
244	Agro-forestry areas	0.92	-	-	-	0.92			
311	Broad-leaved forest	1.42	-	-	-	1.42			
312	Coniferous forest	1	-	-	-	1			
313	Mixed forest	1.33	-	-	-	1.33			
321	Natural grasslands	0.97	-	-	-	0.97			
322	Moors and heathland	0.92	-	-	-	0.92			
323	Sclerophyllous vegetation	0.62	-	-	-	0.62			
324	Transitional woodland-shrub	0.83	-	-	-	0.83			
331	Beaches, dunes, sands	-	0.23	-	-	0.23			
332	Bare rocks	-	0.15	-	-	0.15			
333	Sparsely vegetated areas	0.48	-	-		0.48			
334	Burnt area	_	0.1	-	-	0.1			
335	Glaciers and perpetual snow	-	-	-	0.5	0.51			
411	Inland marshes	-	-	-	0.5	0.45			
412	Peat hors	-	-	-	0.4	0.37			
421	Salt marshes			-	0.3	0.32			
422	Salinas		0.1		0.5	0.52			
423	Intertidal flate	-	-	-	-	0.64			
511	Water courses				0.6	0.63			
512	Water bodies	-	-		0.6	0.64			
521	Coastal lagoons	-	-	-	0.0	0.04			
522	Estuarias	-	-	-	0.7	0.62			
522	See and ocean	-	-	-	0.0	0.02			

Table	2	Corino	I and (	OVOR .	laccac	and	onnuol	K.o.	onlon	latad	for nro	cont in	n Itolv

Table 4. Corine Land Cover classes and calculated annual Kc for future scenarios in Italy.									
		Kc							
CLC code 2012	C code projection code CLC Description						Kclc		
133	0	Built-up area	-	-	0.3	-	0.26		
211	1	Arable land (non-irrigated)	1.1	-	-	-	1.14		
231	2	P as ture	0.7	-	-	-	0.7		
321and 324	3	Natural and semi-natural vegetation (including Natural grasslands, scrublands, regenerating forest below 2 m, and small forest patches within agricultural landscapes)	0.9	-	-	-	0.9		
411	4	Inland wetlands	-	-	-	0.45	0.45		
335	5	Glaciers and snow	-	-	-	0.51	0.51		
212	6	Irrigated arable land	1.3	-	-	-	1.25		
321	7	Recently abando ned arable land (i.e. "long fallow"; includes very extensive farm land not reported in agricultural statistics, herbaceous vegetation, grasses and shrubs below 30 cm)	1	-	-	-	0.97		
241	8	P ermanent crops	0.7	-	-	-	0.67		
313	10	Forest	1.3	-	-	-	1.33		
333	11	S parsely vegetated areas	0.5	-	-	-	0.48		
331	12	Beaches, dunes and sands	-	0.2	-	-	0.23		
422	13	Salines	-	0.1	-	-	0.1		
423 and 521	14	Water and coastal flats	-	-	-	0.66	0.66		
322	15	Heathland and moorlands	0.9	-	-	-	0.92		
231and 324	16	pasture land not reported in agricultural statistics, grasses and	0.8	-	-	-	0.76		

### REFERENCES

- Adamo, F., De Capua, C., Filianoti, P., Lanzolla, A.M.L. & Morello, R. (2014) A coastal erosion model to predict shoreline changes. *Measurement*, 47, 734–740.
- Allen, R.G., Pereira, L.S., Raes, D. & Smith, M. (1998) Crop Evapotranspiration: Guidelines for Computing Crop Water Requirements. FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper 56. FAO: Rome, pp. 300.
- Allen, R.G. (2000) Using the FAO-56 dual crop coefficient method over an irrigated region as part of an evapotranspiration intercomparison study. *Journal of Hydrology*, 229, 27–41.
- Angelini, M.G., Costantino, D. & Di Nisio, A. (2017) ASTER image for environmental monitoring: Change detection and thermal map. IEEE International Instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference, Proceedings, 7969745.
- Brouyère, S., Carabin, G. & Dassargues, A. (2004) Climate change impacts on groundwater resources: modelled deficits in a chalky aquifer, Geer basin, Belgium. *Hydrogeology Journal*, 12, 123–134.
- Campos, G.E.P., Moran, M.S., Huete, A., Zhang, Y., Bresloff, C., Huxman, T.E. et al. (2013) Ecosystem resilience despite large-scale altered hydroclimatic conditions. *Nature*, 494, 349–353.
- Copernicus Land Monitoring Services. (2012) CORINE Land Cover of Europe. URL: http://land.copernicus.eu/ (accessed 21 July 2016).
- European Environmental Agency. (2007) Land-use scenarios for Europe: qualitative and quantitative analysis on a European scale. ISSN 1725-2237. EEA Technical report No 9/2007.

- Gowda, P.H., Chavez, J.L., Colaizzi, P.D., Evett, S.R., Howell, T.A. & Tolk, J.A. (2008) ET mapping for agricultural water management: present status and challenges. *Irrigation Science*, 26(3), 223– 237.
- Grimmond, C.S.B. & Oke, T.R. (1999) Evapotranspiration rates in urban areas, Impacts of Urban Growth on SurfaceWater and Groundwater Quality. Proceedings of IUGG 99 Symposium HSS. Birmingham, July 1999.
- Hamann, A., Wang, T., Spittlehouse, D.L. & Murdock, T.Q. (2013) A comprehensive, high-resolution database of historical and projected climate surfaces for western North America. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 94, 1307–1309.
- Kottek, M., Grieser, J., Beck, C., Rudolf, B. & Rubel, F. (2006) World Map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. *Meteorologische Zeitschrift*, 15(3), 259–263.
- Li, K.Y., Coe, M.T., Ramankutty, N. & De Jong, R. (2007) Modeling the hydrological impact of landuse change in West Africa. *Journal of Hydrology*, 337, 258–268.
- Loàiciga, H.A., Maidment, D.R. & Valdes, J.B. (2000) Climate-change impacts in a regional karst aquifer, Texas, USA. *Journal of Hydrology*, 227, 173–194.
- Nistor, M.M., Cheval, S., Gualtieri, A., Dumitrescu, A., Boţan, V.E., Berni, A., Hognogi, G., Irimuş, I.A. & Porumb-Ghiurco, C.G. (2017) Crop evapotranspiration assessment under climate change in the Pannonian basin during 1991-2050. *Meteorol. Appl.*, 24, 84–91.
- Parmesan, C. & Yohe, G. (2003) A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. *Nature*, 421(2), 37–42.
- Prăvălie, R., Sîrodoev, I. & Peptenatu, D. (2014) Detecting climate change effects on forest ecosystems in Southwestern Romania using Landsat TM NDVI data. *Journal of Geographical Sciences*, 24, 815–832.
- Rogan, J. & Chen, D.M. (2004) Remote sensing technology for mapping and monitoring land-cover and land-use change. *Progress in Planning*, 61(4), 301–325.
- Rosenberry, D.O., Winter, T.C., Buso, D.C. & Likens, G.E. (2007) Comparison of 15 evaporation methods applied to a small mountain lake in the northeastern USA. *Journal of Hydrology*, 340, 149–166.
- Schulp, C.J.E., Tieskens, K.F., Sturck, J., Fuchs, R., van der Zanden, E.H., Schrammeijer, E. & Verburg, P.H. (2015) *EU scale analysis of future cultural landscape dynamics*. Report no. 1, WP 5 Fine- and broad-scale modelling of future landscapes.

Thornthwaite, C.W. (1948) An approach toward a rational classification of climate. *Geogr. Rev.*, 38, 55–94.

Treitz, P. & Rogan, J. (2004) Remote sensing for mapping and monitoring land-cover and land-use change—an introduction. *Progress in Planning*, 61, 269–279.

# FLUNETS: A NEW MATLAB-BASED TOOL FOR DRAINAGE NETWORK ORDERING BY HORTON AND HACK HIERARCHIES

Candela PASTOR-MARTÍN¹, Loreto ANTÓN¹, Carlos FERNÁNDEZ-GONZÁLEZ²

DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.09

### **ABSTRACT:**

This work presents FLUNETS (FLUvial NETwork Sorting tool), a new MATLAB-based tool designed for channel network ordering by Horton and Hack hierarchies. Differently to Strahler and Shreve hierarchies, Hack and Horton orderings allow organizing a drainage network in a hierarchy, identifying the parent segment over the child segment, giving as a result a network where the value of a river remains unchanged from the mouth upstream to the headwater. The novelty of FLUNETS is that it allows the user to choose the hierarchy attribute. Therefore, a fluvial network can be ordered by distance to the mouth or by accumulation upstream. In addition, FLUNETS offers a wide set of optional parameters, which turns it into a friendly tool to attain a highly tailored ordered fluvial network. A continuous fluvial network is the starting point for multiple landscape analysis applications. available authors' The source code is in the GitHub account (https://github.com/geouned/FLUNETS).

**Key-words:** Hydrology, Fluvial hierarchies, Channel network, Horton, Hack, Geomorphology.

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

In the last three decades advances in modelling Earth's surface have been made due to the development of algorithms and computer simulation models (e.g. Refice et al., 2012). Land surface analysis, hydrogeology assessment, drainage network analysis, etc., they all had an extensive development since the 1980s (Jenson, 1985, O'Callaghan and Mark, 1984), and keep developing today (Schwanghart and Kuhn, 2010, Jasiewicz and Metz, 2011). Regarding hydrology analysis, many flow-related algorithms have been developed, such as flow direction (Lindsay, 2003, O'Callaghan and Mark, 1984), flow accumulation, flow length, stream order, among others. In addition, numerous geomorphologic indices and other quantitative analysis based on the fluvial network have been developed. These indices provide information on landscape evolution (Antón et al., 2014, Tucker and Hancock, 2010, Whipple K.X. et al., 2003, Daxberger et al., 2014, Pastor-Martín et al., 2017b). Based on streams characterization, those analysis help to understand fluvial systems and landscape responses to external drivers such as climate, tectonics, human actions, etc. (Antón et al., 2012, Font et al., 2010, Pedrera et al., 2009, Johnson and Finnegan, 2015, Scherler et al., 2016, Shugar et al., 2017).

Most of the flow-related algorithms are implemented in Geographic Information System (GIS) software and have been developed for non-spatial software, such as MATLAB (MathWorks, 2012) or Octave (Eaton et al., 2014). Regarding channel network

¹Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia (UNED), Dpto. de Ciencias Analíticas / Facultad de Ciencias, Senda del Rey 9, 20840 Madrid, Spain, cpastor@pas.uned.es; lanton@ccia.uned.es;

²Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia (UNED), Dpto. de Física Interdisciplinar / Facultad de Ciencias, Senda del Rey 9, 20840 Madrid, Spain, cafernan@ccia.uned.es;

ordering algorithms, the majority of GIS software offers only topological network orderings, based on joining segments, such as Strahler or Shreve orderings. These systems provide single segments between junctions but not complete streams. To approach many studies related to geomorphology or hydrology, it is necessary to start the study from the extraction of a continuous fluvial network, in which each stream is identified as a complete river. Therefore, other channel network hierarchies are required, such as Horton and Hack. Hack and Horton hierarchies provide a continuous channel network, where the river value remains unchanged from the mouth up to the headwater. These two hierarchies ease to tackle stream long profile analysis (for example Jiménez-Cantizano et al., 2017, Pastor-Martín et al., 2017a) and most geomorphic indices calculations.

Attaining a suitable channel network for landscape analysis is still a challenge. The aim of this paper is to present FLUNETS, a new tool for channel network ordering by Horton and Gravelius/Hack hierarchies. Relying on the set of MATLAB functions for relief analysis provided by TopoToobox (Schwanghart and Kuhn, 2010, Schwanghart and Scherler, 2014), FLUNETS is designed to address the construction of an ordered fluvial network. The wide set of parameters this tool offers turns it into a very suitable tool for the correct extraction of a continuous channel network from a Digital Elevation Model (DEM) that serves as the starting point for multiple terrain analysis. Finally, we present the functionality with a case study investigating the channel network in the Pisuerga watershed, in the Iberian Peninsula.

# 2. FLOW-RELATED CONCEPTS

# 2.1. Fluvial concepts

Flow refers to a natural watercourse that goes from one place to another. Normally a fluvial network can be idealized as a planar tree where a channel is a branch and the master channel is the tree trunk. The furthest point downstream is the channel network outlet or mouth. Points furthest upstream are called stream heads or headwaters. The points where two channels join are called junctions or confluences.

# 2.2. Drainage network ordering

Drainage network ordering refers to the method to sort a channel network. There are multiple methods to order a drainage network. The most common ordering methods included in conventional GIS software are Strahler method (Strahler, 1957) (**Fig. 1.A**) and Shreve method (Shreve, 1967) (**Fig. 1.B**). In addition to these sorting hierarchies, there are other network orderings, such as original Horton hierarchy (Horton, 1945) (**Fig. 1.C**) and normal stream hierarchy proposed by Gravelius (1914) also known as Hack's main streams (Hack, 1957) (**Fig. 1.D**).

The main difference between the above mentioned sorting methods relies on that for Horton and Hack hierarchies the network is sorted from the mouth upstream direction until finding the headwaters. In contrast, Strahler and Shreve methods sort the channel network from the headwaters downstream towards the mouth.

Strahler remains to an idealized topological model, where the stream order changes from the watershed mouth point up to the stream head (Strahler, 1957). The smallest fingertip tributaries are designated with order 1. When two segments of the same order n join, a segment of order n + 1 is formed. When two segments of different order meet, they form a segment of maximum order of both (**Fig. 1.A**). The master stretch is therefore the segment of highest order. Shreve hierarchy is similar to Strahler hierarchy. Fingertip

segments are of order 1. When two segments join, the resultant segment downstream order is the sum of the segments' order joining. Hence, the magnitude of a segment is equal to the total number of stream heads ultimately tributary to it (Shreve, 1967) (**Fig. 1.B**). Both hierarchies, Strahler (1957) and Shreve (1967) are purely topological hierarchies, where the interconnected segments between junctions do not involve lengths, shapes, accumulation rates or orientations of the segments comprising the channel network.

In contrast, Gravelius proposed one of the first attempts to classify drainage networks on the basis of branching (Gravelius, 1914, Hack, 1957). Starting from the watershed outlet, the main stream is designated as order 1 and smaller tributary streams are designated with increasingly higher orders, from the stream confluence upstream to the headwaters. When a parent channel of order n meets a junction, ascribes order n + 1 to the joining tributary (**Fig. 1.D**). On the contrary, Horton considered that the main stream should be the one with the highest order and that unbranched fingertip tributaries should always be designated as order 1. Tributaries of second order receive only tributaries of first order, third order tributaries receive tributaries of second order but may also receive first order tributaries, and so on (Horton, 1945) (**Fig. 1.C**). To determine which the parent segment is and which is the child segment in a junction, Horton considers that the stream that forms the greatest angle with the parent is of lower order. If both joining streams form the same angle with the parent, the shorter stream is taken as of the lower order.



Fig. 1. Stream network orderings: (A) Strahler (Strahler, 1957), (B) Shreve (Shreve, 1967), (C) Horton (Horton, 1945), (D) Hack (Hack, 1957).

#### **3. METHODOLOGY**

FLUNETS relies on TopoToolbox 2 (Schwanghart and Kuhn, 2010, Schwanghart and Scherler, 2014), thus it requires download the set of functions freely available on the authors' webpage (<u>physiogeo.unibas.ch/topotoolbox</u>). Technical requirements for its use are explained in detail in the user guide and readme files available on the author's GitHub repository (<u>https://github.com/geouned/FLUNETS</u>).

### 3.1. Tool-related concepts

In this tool, the furthest point downstream of the channel network is called outlet. The point where two channels join is called confluence and the point before the cell where two channels converge is called pour point.

### 3.2. Parameters

FLUNETS requires setting a set of mandatory and optional input parameters prior to its execution. Mandatory parameters are the following: (i) selecting the DEM file. This can be an ASCII or TIFF/GeoTIFF file; (ii) the sorting method: Horton or Hack and (iii) the hierarchy attribute which defines the hierarchy of a segment over another when two or more segments converge in a confluence. It can be upstream accumulation or upstream distance.

If two channels have the same hierarchy attribute value at the pour point, elevation is compared as a second parameter. In such case, the branch with lowest elevation at the pour point will be given the highest order (Jasiewicz and Metz, 2011). Upstream accumulation and upstream length replace Horton's previous idea to give the greatest order to the branch that has a smaller angle with respect to the parent branch (Horton, 1945). This idea was discarded because it resulted in unrealistic drainage structures (Ai, 2007).

hack		
Hierarchy Attribute		
accumulation		
Max. tributary order (optional)		
1		
Min. drainage area (m^2) (optional)		
Max. base (optional)		
Max. base (optional) Calculate Internal fluvial files: (yes/no) (optional)		
Max. base (optional) Calculate Internal fluvial files: (yes/no) (optional) Calculate Pour Points: (yes/no) (optional)		
Max. base (optional) Calculate Internal fluvial files: (yes/no) (optional) Calculate Pour Points: (yes/no) (optional) Output File extension: TIF or ASC (optional)		

Fig. 2. FLUNETS user interface.

There is also a set of optional parameters. The aim of the optional parameters is to attain a more customized channel network to avoid the tedious steps of post processing the data, hence to provide a valid output to be the starting point for multiple terrain analysis. If these parameters are left empty, a default value for each of them will be set. The optional parameters are the following: (i) the maximum tributary order, which is the '-ith' order up to which the channel network will be sorted; (ii) the minimum drainage area, which refers to the minimum drainage area of a channel -at the pour point-; (iii) the maximum base level, which is the height an outlet must have to be considered. This parameter is useful to select only outlets located at a certain elevation; (iv) the pour points location and the flow-related matrices can be provided as raster output files; (v) and finally, the raster format for the sorted channel network. It can be either ASCII or TIFF/GeoTIFF –in case of having the

MATLAB Mapping Toolbox package installed, a GeoTIFF file can be generated for the TIFF option, else a normal TIFF file will be given-. The output channel network is also given as a CSV file. The CSV contains a record for each cell of each river sorted. The fields store the following information: the x and y coordinates for each cell (these coordinates represent the cell center), the height, the order (Hack's or Horton's), the accumulation, the accumulated drainage area in square meters, the river identifier, the distance downstream in meters, the pour points and the outlets of the network. Fig. 2 shows an example of the FLUNETS user interface.

### 3.3. Extraction and sorting processes

The internal process of this tool is shown in **Fig. 3**. The initial points are the outlets. From these points, the drainage network skeleton is performed in upstream direction, finding pour points along the river until reaching the head of the channels. These pour points will be the starting points to extract new channels of the network until reaching the headwaters.



Fig. 3. Workflow of the processes for the extraction and ordering by Horton or Hack hierarchies. (A) Complete workflow. (B) Schemas of *find_next_river_cell* and *find_pourpoints_cells* functions.

The first step is to compute the flow-related matrices. To initially generate the flowrelated matrices functions from the TopoToolbox 2 (Schwanghart and Kuhn, 2010, Schwanghart and Scherler, 2014) are applied. This is done in build streams map function, where the GRIDobj function reads the DEM file, FLOWobj generates the flow direction model from the DEM, *flowacc* calculates the accumulation model, *STREAMobi* and flowdistance compute a flow distance model and finally, if Horton is chosen as the hierarchy method, a Strahler model is created. Once this first step is achieved, the process of extracting a channel network begins. The build channel function is responsible for extracting each single channel, from the pour point up to the headwater. The first channel cell to assess is the watershed outlet. To assess a channel cell, a 3x3 auxiliary window matrix is created around it (Fig. 4). Six empty arrays -named as * neighbors in Fig. 3.Aare created, and each array is filled with neighboring cells values of the following matrices: elevation, flow direction, flow accumulation, flow distance, Strahler (only for Horton hierarchy) and neighbors' linear indices. When the auxiliary arrays are filled, find next river cell function finds the neighbor that will become the next channel cell and, hence, the next cell to be addressed.



**Fig. 4.** Building a 3x3 auxiliary window around the channel cell to obtain the cell values of the eight neighbors from the DEM, flow direction, flow accumulation, flow distance and Strahler matrices and their linear indices. Values are stored in the arrays ending as "_neighbors".

The last step in the process is to identify the pour points that will become the initial cells to delineate tributaries. The *find_pourpoints_cells* checks the value set in the minimum watershed area parameter. Only the neighbors with equal or higher watershed area than the value set, except for the neighbor already identified as the next channel cell, will be stored as pour points (**Fig. 3.B**). The *build_channel* function continues to loop until it finds the headwater of the channel, which remains to the end of this channel. *build_channel* function returns  $xy_channel$  and  $xy_poipoint$  arrays, where the river cells and the pour points cells have been stored. Then starts looping over the newly found pour points to begin a new process of channels extraction. This process keeps on looping until the outputs are successfully generated. The CSV output file is filled with data from the *_matrix variables, which are auxiliary variables used during the stream network extraction.

process to store river cell values, such as elevation, accumulation upstream, distance to the mouth, etc.

#### 3.4. Case of study

The case of study is located in the Pisuerga watershed (**Fig. 5**) in the Iberian Peninsula. Pisuerga river is 270 km in length with a watershed of  $15,700 \text{ km}^2$ . Five of its main tributaries are Arlanza, Odra and Esgueva rivers, on the left side, and Carrión and Valdavia rivers, on the right side. The used DEM was taken from the Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) (Rabus et al., 2003) version 4.1 of 90 m of spatial resolution.



Fig. 5. Pisuerga basin SRTM v.4.1 DEM showing the master channel and main tributaries: Carrión, Valdavia, Odra and Esgueva rivers and the Arlanza-Arlanzón system.

FLUNETS was used to investigate the Pisuerga watershed. Table 1 shows the results of applying FLUNETS to the Pisuerga basin and the different parameters used. These output networks were filtered and the main first-order tributaries with a length over 80 km were selected. In addition, the Arlanzón river was added to the filtered networks, because some hierarchies have considered it as part of the main river (**Fig. 6**). The channel networks were equivalent to the tributaries of Carrión, Valdavia, Odra, Esgueva, Arlanza and Arlanzón recognized as main tributaries by the Confederación Hidrográfica del Duero (CHD) and by the Instituto Geográfico Nacional (IGN) (**Fig. 6.E**).

### 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The trajectories of the channels coincide with the channels provided by the CHD and IGN (**Fig. 6**). The cases in which the upstream distance was the hierarchy attribute, the river identified as the main channel follows the Pisuerga path recognized in the topographic

maps of the IGN (**Fig. 6.A** and **Fig. 6.C**). In addition to this, in Hack hierarchy (**Fig. 6.A**), tributaries of Carrión, Valdavia, Odra, Esgueva and Arlanza were identified as first order tributaries, and Arlanzón river as second order tributary, resembling the CHD and IGN channel networks for the Pisuerga watershed (**Fig. 6.E**).

However, the two channel networks that were ordered by upstream accumulation (**Fig. 6.B** and **Fig. 6.D**), have identified Arlanzón river as part of the main river, turning the Pisuerga upper reach into a tributary of this one. In these two channel networks, Arlanzón river, accumulates more water at the pour point than Pisuerga upper reach.





filtered networks, because some of the hierarchies considered it as part of the main river. (A-D) Different combinations of the hierarchy method with the hierarchy attribute. (E) Official hydrological network from the CHD at 1: 50,000 scale.

Sorting type	Hierarchy attribute	Max. tributary order	Total number of channels	Number of 1 st order tributaries	Number of 2 nd order tributaries	Min. channel length [m]	Max. channel length [m]	Min. order	Max. order
Hack	Acc.	2	997	158	838	1,409	243,335	1	3
Hack	Dist.	2	967	183	783	1,558	272,985	1	3
Horton	Acc.	2	993	164	828	1,409	247,335	3	10
Horton	Dist.	2	978	188	789	1,589	271,778	3	10

**Table 1:** Results of FLUNETS applying different parameters.

The combination of factors that in the past determined the hierarchy and the headwaters location of a drainage network varies depending on the place. These historical

reasons determine the fluvial networks presented in nowadays-topographic maps. The drainage networks extracted using FLUNETS, may not totally agree with the channel's hierarchy presented in the topographic maps, although they represent a way to sort a continuous channel network that describes more realistically the topography. This is because depending on the parameter that is chosen as hierarchy attribute, the channel network will be sorted in a certain way according to the elevation values and the topography. Therefore, the hierarchy of the tributaries will be determined by the river extracted as master channel.

Nevertheless, FLUNETS provides a highly customized continuous channel network. Not only does FLUNETS provide a sorted channel network but also information about the drainage watershed from which it can be inferred other information such as the topography and geomorphology of the terrain.

In addition, a sorted network by one of these two hierarchies eases the following steps in the analysis of a watershed. For instance facilitates previous steps for the automation of geomorphological indices, such as Valley Height-Width Ratio (Vf), Stream Length-Gradient Index (SL), basin asymmetry factor, etc., which require a continuous channel network previously extracted from the DEM. These indices give a more extensive knowledge of the characteristics and properties of a watershed, and the combination of these indices provides very significant information on fluvial morphology useful to understand landscape evolution in terms of tectonics, climate change or geomorphological processes.

#### 5. CONCLUSIONS

In this paper, we present FLUNETS, a new MATLAB-based tool for drainage network sorting in a non-spatial environment. The tool offers two ordering hierarchies, Hack and Horton. This tool is applicable to any DEM. In this work, the tool was applied to the Pisuerga watershed, a subbasin of the Duero river, and the differences in the results derived from the different combination of parameter values support its robustness.

Up to our knowledge, nowadays no tool was available for non-spatial software that allowed the ordering of stream networks by Hack and Horton hierarchies. In addition to this, this tool allows choosing the hierarchy attribute to lead the sorting process, between upstream accumulation and upstream distance. Also, the high number of optional parameters enables to attain a highly tailored sorted drainage network that best suites the user's requirements, such as selecting the maximum order of tributaries instead of extracting a complete and dense channel network. The multiple information provided in the CSV file enable an in deep analysis of the channel network (longitudinal profiles extraction, length and ordering analysis and/or filtering, etc.) and facilitate the data management.

Horton and Hack hierarchies provide a continuous drainage network, as each channel retains the same value from its mouth up to the headwater. Unlike nodes graphs, this type of ordering eases the analysis of terrain properties that can be inferred from them. A channel network sorted by Hack or Horton hierarchies are necessarily the starting point for landscape evolution studies and terrain analysis, by the extraction of longitudinal profiles or the calculation of geomorphometric indices.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by Spanish Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad [PEJ-2014-A-93258]; Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia [GID2016-19]; MITE [CGL2014-59516-P] and CARESOIL [S2013/MAE-2739].

# **REFERENCES**

- AI, T. 2007. The drainage network extraction from contour lines for contour line generalization. ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, 62, 93-103.
- ANTÓN, L., DE VICENTE, G., MUÑOZ-MARTÍN, A. & STOKES, M. 2014. Using river long profiles and geomorphic indices to evaluate the geomorphological signature of continental scale drainage capture, Duero basin (NW Iberia). Geomorphology, 206, 250-261.
- ANTÓN, L., RODÉS, A., DE VICENTE, G., PALLÀS, R., GARCIA-CASTELLANOS, D., STUART, F. M., BRAUCHER, R. & BOURLÈS, D. 2012. Quantification of fluvial incision in the Duero Basin (NW Iberia) from longitudinal profile analysis and terrestrial cosmogenic nuclide concentrations. Geomorphology, 165-166, 50-61.
- DAXBERGER, H., DALUMPINES, R., SCOTT, D. M. & RILLER, U. 2014. The ValleyMorph Tool: An automated extraction tool for transverse topographic symmetry (T-) factor and valley width to valley height (Vf-) ratio. Computers & Geosciences, 70, 154-163.
- EATON, J. W., BATEMAN, D., HAUBERG, S. & WEHBRING, R. 2014. GNU Octave version 3.8.1 manual: a high-level interactive language for numerical computations, CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.
- FONT, M., AMORESE, D. & LAGARDE, J.-L. 2010. DEM and GIS analysis of the stream gradient index to evaluate effects of tectonics: the Normandy intraplate area (NW France). Geomorphology, 119, 172-180.
- GRAVELIUS, H. 1914. Flusskunde. Goschen Verlagshan dlug Berlin. Zavoianu, I.(1985): Morphometry of Drainage Bassins. Amsterdam, Elsevier.
- HACK, J. T. 1957. Studies of longitudinal stream profiles in Virginia and Maryland, US Government Printing Office.
- HORTON, R. E. 1945. Erosional Development of Streams and Their Drainage Basins; Hydrophysical Approach to Quantitative Morphology. Geological Society of America Bulletin, 56, 275.
- JASIEWICZ, J. & METZ, M. 2011. A new GRASS GIS toolkit for Hortonian analysis of drainage networks. Computers & Geosciences, 37, 1162-1173.
- JENSON, S. K. Automated derivation of hydrologic basin characteristics from digital elevation model data. Proc. Auto-Carto, 1985. 301-310.
- JIMÉNEZ-CANTIZANO, F., ANTÓN, L., SORIA-JÁUREGUI, Á. & PASTOR-MARTÍN, C. 2017. Cálculo del perfil teórico de equilibrio de un río en función del índice de gradiente. Geogaceta, 62.
- JOHNSON, K. N. & FINNEGAN, N. J. 2015. A lithologic control on active meandering in bedrock channels. Geological Society of America bulletin, 127, 1766-1776.
- LINDSAY, J. B. 2003. A physically based model for calculating contributing area on hillslopes and along valley bottoms. Water Resources Research, 39, n/a-n/a.

- MATHWORKS 2012. Bioinformatics Toolbox: User's Guide (R2012a). http://www.mathworks.com/help/pdf_doc/bioinfo/bioinfo_ug.pdf.
- O'CALLAGHAN, J. F. & MARK, D. M. 1984. The extraction of drainage networks from digital elevation data. Computer vision, graphics, and image processing, 28, 323-344.
- PASTOR-MARTÍN, C., ANTÓN, L. & FERNÁNDEZ-GONZÁLEZ, C. 2017a. Matlabbased tool for drainage network ordering by Horton and Hack hierarchies. Primer Congreso en Ingeniería Geomática, 1.
- PASTOR-MARTÍN, C., ANTÓN, L. & FERNÁNDEZ-GONZÁLEZ, C. Quantification in tectonic geomorphology: An ArcGIS Toolbox for the automatic extraction of the basin asymmetry index (Af). In: GEOMORFÓLOGOS, A. P. D., ed. 8° Congresso Nacional de Geomorfologia, 4-7 October 2017b Oporto. 5-6.
- PEDRERA, A., PÉREZ-PEÑA, J. V., GALINDO-ZALDÍVAR, J., AZAÑÓN, J. M. & AZOR, A. 2009. Testing the sensitivity of geomorphic indices in areas of low-rate active folding (eastern Betic Cordillera, Spain). Geomorphology, 105, 218-231.
- RABUS, B., EINEDER, M., ROTH, A. & BAMLER, R. 2003. The shuttle radar topography mission—a new class of digital elevation models acquired by spaceborne radar. ISPRS journal of photogrammetry and remote sensing, 57, 241-262.
- REFICE, A., GIACHETTA, E. & CAPOLONGO, D. 2012. SIGNUM: A Matlab, TINbased landscape evolution model. Computers & Geosciences, 45, 293-303.
- SCHERLER, D., LAMB, M. P., RHODES, E. J. & AVOUAC, J.-P. 2016. Climate-change versus landslide origin of fill terraces in a rapidly eroding bedrock landscape: San Gabriel River, California. Geological Society of America bulletin, 128, 1228-1248.
- SCHWANGHART, W. & KUHN, N. J. 2010. TopoToolbox: A set of Matlab functions for topographic analysis. Environmental Modelling & Software, 25, 770-781.
- SCHWANGHART, W. & SCHERLER, D. 2014. Short Communication: TopoToolbox 2 MATLAB-based software for topographic analysis and modeling in Earth surface sciences. Earth Surface Dynamics, 2, 1-7.
- SHREVE, R. L. 1967. Infinite topologically random channel networks. The Journal of Geology, 75, 178-186.
- SHUGAR, D. H., CLAGUE, J. J., BEST, J. L., SCHOOF, C., WILLIS, M. J., COPLAND, L. & ROE, G. H. 2017. River piracy and drainage basin reorganization led by climate-driven glacier retreat. Nature Geoscience, 10, 370-375.
- STRAHLER, A. N. 1957. Quantitative analysis of watershed geomorphology. Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union, 38, 913-920.
- TUCKER, G. E. & HANCOCK, G. R. 2010. Modelling landscape evolution. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 35, 28-50.
- WHIPPLE K.X., WOBUS, C., KIRBY, E. & SNYDER, N. P. 2003. Tectonics from topography: Methods, Application, and Limitations. AGU Fall Meeting Abstracts.

# TOURIST FLOWS BETWEEN CENTRAL EUROPEAN METROPOLISES (IN THE CONTEXT OF METROPOLISATION PROCESSES)

Martin ŠAUER¹, Markéta BOBKOVÁ¹

#### DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.10

#### **ABSTRACT:**

This paper focuses on the tourist flows between Central European metropolises. The main aim is to identify these flows and to evaluate position of metropolises within the spatial structure of the Central European tourism. The core of the analysis lies in the evaluation of the main tourist flows and their spatial distribution. Hence, the paper measures the appropriate quantitative network characteristics of tourist flows and visualizes them. For this purpose, it is also necessary to find a method that allows quantifying tourist flows, because current statistics cannot capture tourist streams at the level of individual metropolises. Finally, the results are discussed in the context of metropolisation processes. The results reveal the importance of the Vienna network connection, as the most important analysed tourist destination, to the rest of the metropolises. The weakness of the network connection has been confirmed especially in Polish metropolises, while Berlin can be considered an important transit hub.

Key-words: urban tourism, tourist flows, network analysis, metropolis, Central Europe

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Nowadays, tourism is a global branch of the world economy. Just international tourism's share of the global GDP amounts to 10% and makes up about 7% of the global export. In this context, tourism ranks third among the most significant export industries in the world (UNWTO, 2017). Trips to cities represent quite significant part of the global tourism. Urban tourism is considered by United Nations World Tourism Organisation (UNWTO) to be an important segment of the international tourism, and as such, it plays a significant role in economic as well as in social environment of many urban destinations. According to World Travel Monitor (IPK International, 2015), Trips to cities make up about 22% of all holiday flows; moreover, between 2007 and 2014 the number of such trips went up by 82%. Obviously, the importance of urban tourism is reflected also in the role of tourism within urban economy (e.g., Dumbrovská & Fialová, 2014). Development of urban tourism in cities can also be a driving force of their economic, social and spatial transformation, which is projected for instance in revitalisation of public spaces, development of public infrastructure, interconnection of residential and recreational functions of the cities, enterprise enhancement and development of partnership between public and private sectors, or attracting other trade industries and services (UNWTO, 2018).

In addition, we can witness urbanisation processes which are probably, on a long-term basis, most visible outcomes of the global socio-economic development (Viturka et al., 2017). These days, more than 50% of the world population live in cities and make up more than 60% of the global GDP. By 2030, the share of city population will increase to about 66%, whereas this number will double in developing countries, and the built-up area could

¹ Masaryk University, Faculty of Economics and Administration, 602 00 Brno, Czech Republic, martin.sauer@econ.muni.cz; marketa.bobkova @econ.muni.cz

be even three times larger (UN-Habitat, 2015). That implies that metropolisation may be considered as a higher stage of urbanisation, which is no longer primarily focused on the concentration of population, but on the concentration of importance. On one hand, the source of importance comes from the concentration of production services, finance, technologies, trade and people in one place, which creates space for the economies of scale and for creation of synergies. In this context, we can talk about agglomeration effects which influence, through labour mobility, also the background of metropolises (Pařil et al., 2015). On the other hand, interconnection of metropolises is an even more significant factor which stimulates horizontal and vertical cooperation of metropolises as an important tool for enhancement of national and regional competitiveness (Viturka et al., 2017). Metropolises functioning within networks have stronger ties with one another than with the surrounding hinterland (Jałowiecki, 2006). Additionally, there does not exist just one global network of metropolises, but on the contrary, the networks are internally specialised and hierarchically arranged (Castells, 2008). It corresponds also to the assumption (for more information see Viturka et al., 2017) claiming that human advance is characteristic due to hierarchic differentiation of social systems and their integration through spatial division of labour. Furthermore, Viturka et al. (2017) state: "The resulting spatial arrangement ensures coherence of social systems reflecting the achieved level of balance between economic, social and ecological factors. As for the spatial integration of the systems, the following driving forces are considered to be decisive: labour interactions on a microregional level. production interactions on a mesoregional level, administrative interactions on a macroregional level and trade interactions on a global level."

Beyond doubt, the international tourism contributes to such processes. It enhances connection to global space systems both on a transport level and a trade level (congress and trade fair tourism), or a socio-culture level (creative industries, attractiveness of the city, culture and social life).

Contemporary literature dealing with tourist mobility is particularly extensive (Ferrante, Abbruzzo, & De Cantis, 2017). Travel routes analysis dominates over publication outcomes; at least five studies analysing tourist flows in various localities have come into existence in the course of the last quarter century (Mings & McHugh, 1992; Lue, Crompton, & Fesenmaier, 1993; Flognfeldt, 1999; Lew & McKercher, 2002). In total, 26 various types of travel itineraries were identified, distinguished according to the way of transport, distance, number of stops and in-land and cross-border journeys. Subsequently, McKercher and Lew (2004) came to create four fundamental patterns of visitors' mobility: The simplest itinerary style involves a single main destination, there and back journey with or without a side trip. The second itinerary style includes a journey to a main destination, out of which the visitor sets out for a round tour while staying overnight in various places. After the round tour is completed, the tourist comes back to his/her original destination and via the same journey he/she leaves the destination. The third type of journey is just a round tour with multiple stops, there is no transit to the main destination. The last style of travelling is a hub-and-spoke, which means that tourists come to a main destination and make individual (one-day or more-days) trips always returning back to the original destination. Thus, the spatial structures of the tourist flows analysis is based on the application of the network analysis methods (D'Agata, Gozzo, & Tomaselli, 2013; Lee et al., 2013; Luo, MacEachren, 2014; Hong, Ma, & Huan, 2015) and the methods of sequence alignment (Shoval & Isaacson, 2007; McKercher, Shoval, Ng, & Birenboim, 2012). There are also studies coming to light that simulate tourist flows through gravity approaches (Khadaroo & Seetanah, 2008).

The aim of this paper is to identify ties between Central European metropolises, and based on this identification to evaluate position of individual centres within the network. Taking into consideration the data availability, the fundamental task of this paper is to find a method which makes the quantification of tourist flows between individual centres possible. The contemporary statistics is not able to capture tourist flows at the level of individual cities. Therefore, it is necessary to find a method which will be able to estimate such flows.

### 2. METHODOLOGY AND DATA

The fundamental file consisting of 27 analysed metropolises has been taken over from the article The Metropolisation Processes – A Case of Central Europe and the Czech Republic (for more information see Viturka et al., 2017). Selection of the metropolises is based on three qualitative and quantitative components: the population of the metropolis, a sufficient size of which is regarded to be an initial assumption for commencement of the metropolisation process, the economic profile emphasising representation of knowledgebased industries, and finally, the investment attractiveness reflecting high quality of entrepreneurial and social environment. The Central European region includes Germany, Switzerland, Austria, Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary, and Slovenia.

Intensity of tourist flows is spatially determined by attractiveness of destinations, population size of source centres and distance between the centres. Modelling of tourist flows is based on the information on proved demand for the studied metropolises and identification of sources of such demand by means of a gravity model. We obtained an overview on geographic structure of metropolises' attendance in 2015 from TourMIS (see Wöber, 2003) database, or alternatively from the national statistical offices. The data is available according to individual source countries. Therefore, it was necessary to estimate a share of tourist arrivals which will be attributed to studied metropolises in each country. At first, based on a share of the number of inhabitants of all metropolises in the particular country. Next step was an estimation of the tourist arrivals contributed to individual metropolises. We used a gravity model which estimates capacity of interactions under conditions of insufficient availability of the data:

$$G_{ij}=\frac{m_i \ x \ m_j}{d_{ij}}$$

,

whereas  $G_{ij}$  = economic force acting between metropolises,  $m_i$  = overall foreign attendance of a metropolis,  $m_j$  = number of inhabitants living in the source metropolis, and  $d_{ij}$  = distance between the involved metropolises.

To measure the distance, we considered the length of the fastest highway/motorway connection (taking into consideration the maximum daily driving limits for trucks according to the EU Regulation which correspond to a maximum distance of 600 - 700 kilometres). As a result, we got a set of tourist flows for each pair of studied metropolises (origin-destination matrix).

With the aim to map the structures of the identified tourist flows and to evaluate the integration capacity of the Central European metropolises we applied the network analysis method. The outputs are created in Gephi 0.9.2, by means of which various types of networks are modelled. Gephi has its own data laboratory with an Excel-like interface to

manipulate the data columns, search and transform the data (Bastian et al., 2009). After selection of desired criteria, the program can adjust the size and colour of nodes so as the appearance of the network could be visualised from various perspectives. By using the module which divides the network nodes into positions according to latitude and longitude, it is easy to link the network analysis also with a spatial perspective (e.g. Luo, MacEachren, 2014; Bobková, Holešinská, 2017). Moreover, Gephi offers variety of other advanced visualisation technologies for which it uses various algorithms influencing the arrangement of nodes and network shapes, which allows easy understanding of identification of critical points and opportunities in the studied structures.

Specific algorithm in Gephi software, which offers a simplified view on a certain part of reality, proved to be a suitable tool for modelling. By means of modelling, the studied phenomena can be better understood, and behaviour of such systems can be found out by observation. However, to get a plausible depiction of a model, the target needs to be specified beforehand and quality data background must be prepared.

The assessment of ties and structures is based on the number of network matrices. The key ones deal mainly with centrality which is most frequently used for identification of key positions. The centrality analysis makes comparison of the structure and functioning of various networks possible. The centrality represents placement of nodes within the network. The nodes can be clustered within the network according to their degree. They are expressed by the number of links between individual stakeholders (Hanneman & Riddle, 2005). In our case, a degree of centrality can be distinguished into in-degree (thus, the links ending at a given node; input) and out-degree (the links starting at a given node; output). Based on the in-degree value it is possible to identify the so-called hubs within the network.

Centrality does not have to be assessed just according to a degree. It is also possible to use, for instance, the so-called closeness centrality, which means that the node is in the centre of affairs and it has a favourable position to be linked with other nodes. The nodes with the highest level of closeness centrality have, in a figurative sense, the best overview of what is happening within the network (Hanneman & Riddle, 2005).

Another centrality is represented by the so-called betweenness centrality. The nodes with high betweenness centrality are regarded to be intermediaries since they link the clusters and have a favourable position for control of information spread; although, the number of their edges within the network does not have to be of great importance. They generate opportunities for innovations and growth in the network because they have, thanks to their proximity to other clusters, access to different perspectives and ideas unknown to other network nodes (Hoppe & Reinelt, 2010).

### 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

According to statistical offices in relevant countries, accommodation in all studied countries was provided to 40.5 million foreign tourists in 2015. However, attendance of metropolises is significantly spatially differentiated. Determinant deviation of attendance is higher than the average value for the whole set of metropolises. More than half of the cities do not reach the boundary of 1 million foreign visitors per year. **Fig. 1** demonstrates a set of metropolises which have entered the analysis and their categorisation with respect to their tourist importance. Such importance was determined on the basis of layout of their overall foreign attendance by using Jenks natural breaks classification method. The global importance category includes only three metropolises: Prague (5.7 mil.), Vienna (5.5 mil.) and Berlin (4.9 mil.). Those cities generate almost 40% of the entire attendance. The second

most important group is created by three German metropolitan regions of Rhein-Ruhr, Frankfurt am Main, Munich, and also Budapest, Hungary. The third group includes most popular Polish cities of Warsaw and Krakow, and German metropolises of Hamburg and Mannheim, and Zurich, Switzerland. Position of the other metropolises in respect to tourism is not of great importance.



Fig. 1. Location of the study area (Source: TourMIS database, 2017; original work).

By application of a gravity model, we identified 261 tourist international flows; each flow includes a two-way stream of tourists. The overall volume of interactions reaches a value of 2.77 million visitors. A share of the Central European metropolises within the general performance of cities is only 7%. On one hand, such a low share is determined by less than 1/3 share of studied cities in the overall population of the Central European region. On the other hand, it indicates globality of the international tourism, whereas the most of performance is generated by the countries outside the Central European region. Above-average ties to the Central European region were found in Wroclaw (16%), Poznan (14%) and Bratislava (11%). On the contrary, the weakest ties were found in Budapest and Krakow (Prague is slightly below the average).

On the basis of a geography analysis of individual tourist flows it can be concluded that the differences regarding their force are very significant. About half of their volume is generated by the first 24 interactions. In the layout of flows, strong ties between Germany, Austria and Switzerland (9 out of 15 most important ties fall upon the mentioned area) become evident. In this context, Vienna plays a fundamental role as the most important destination of all studied metropolises. The most important interaction whatsoever can be found between Vienna and Munich, followed by interlinking of Vienna and Berlin and other German cities (Hamburg, Rhein-Ruhr region, Frankfurt am M., etc.). Strong ties are also between Zurich and Munich and Berlin (see **Table 1**). High rate of interlinking of German-speaking countries is disrupted only by Prague and its ties to both Western and Eastern Europe, and by Budapest and its ties to Vienna and Berlin (Prague occupies the sixth position of the most visited European cities, and Budapest is included in the TOP 10).

With respect to the tourism, Poland is not linked much to other Central European countries. Warsaw, Wroclaw and Krakow have stronger ties, mainly to Germany. Despite clear attractiveness of Krakow, its periphery position prevents from having stronger position within the network of tourist flows. Its strongest tie to Berlin is as down as in the 62nd position, and it ranks only fifth among Polish cities (behind Warsaw and Wroclaw).

#### Table 1.

				The main	The main
	Inbound	Outbound	Total	sources of	destinations for
				inbound flows	outbound flows
				Munich, Rhine-	Munich Barlin
Vienna	620,774	424,522	1,045,296	Ruhr, Berlin,	Droguo Homburg
				Frankfurt	Flague, Hallourg
				Berlin, Vienna,	Bratislava Vianna
Prague	496,603	108,593	605,196	Bratislava, Rhine-	Budapast
				Ruhr	Dudapest
				Rhine-Ruhr,	Munich Berlin
Zürich	127,412	276,618	404,030	Munich, Stuttgart,	Vienna Hamburg
				Vienna	v ienna, maniburg
Berlin	192 723	202 938	395 660	Vienna, Zürich,	Vienna, Prague,
Derini	172,725	202,730	373,000	Basel, Geneva	Budapest, Wroclaw
Munich	188 239	197 304	385 542	Vienna, Zürich,	Vienna, Prague,
withinen	100,237	177,504	303,342	Basel, Geneva	Zürich, Budapest
Rhine-	104 634	219 517	324 151	Vienna, Zürich,	Vienna, Prague,
Ruhr	104,054	219,517	524,151	Basel, Geneva	Zürich, Budapest
Budapest	185 105	96 307	281 412	Vienna, Berlin,	Vienna, Prague,
Dudupest	105,105	70,507	201,412	Rhine-Ruhr	Munich, Krakow
				Rhine-Ruhr,	Berlin Munich
Basel	58,036	161,698	219,734	Stuttgart, Munich,	Vienna Rhine-Ruhr
				Frankfurt am M.	vienna, Runne Runn
Hamburg	91 270	103 342	194 612	Vienna, Zürich,	Vienna, Prague,
maniourg	71,270	103,342	177,012	Basel, Geneva	Budapest, Zürich
Frankfurt	62 718	127 302	190.020	Vienna, Zürich,	Vienna, Prague,
am M.	02,710	127,302	170,020	Basel, Geneva	Zürich, Budapest

#### Inbound and outbound tourism in the metropolises.

Source: original work

The stated conclusions are well illustrated in the following graphic outcomes of network analysis by using the algorithm Geo Layout which is able to coordinate position of nodes within the network according to their latitude and longitude (**Fig. 2**). In this way visualisation of nodes and edges in real space was made possible. The colour of a node corresponds to a particular country, whereas thickness of the edge depends on the number of tourist arrivals.



Fig. 2. Visualization of tourist flows in real space (Source: original work).

Within simulation, the network can be manipulated also by means of setting various filters. In this case, **Fig. 3** includes only edges expressing more than 15,000 or alternatively more than 45,000 journeys. The other edges have been deleted. This procedure clearly indicates the importance of axis Hamburg – Berlin – Prague – Vienna – Bratislava – Budapest, interlinking the North-western part of the region with the Eastern part. The second important metropolitan axis is Zurich – Munich – Vienna – Budapest, and last but not least, it is a tie between Rhein-Ruhr and Vienna, and then Prague, marginally. The picture shows that the flows are in the shape of a funnel, narrowing from the west towards the east. It means that despite a great number of the Western European metropolises the tourist flows go only to several selected metropolises in the Central and Eastern part of the region (Prague, Vienna, and Budapest). Moreover, this feature of spatial arrangement tends to grow stronger towards the Western part of the region. As a characteristic feature is the absence of ties to Polish cities and Ljubljana, Slovenia.



Fig. 3. Metropolises and their weighted flows connections (Source: original work).

The central position within the network is occupied by Vienna. According to **Table 2**, Vienna achieved the highest values in all basic features of the network, whether it is the centrality degree (degree, in-degree, out-degree), closeness centrality, or betweenness centrality. These markers indicate not only the frequency and importance of Vienna being linked to the other metropolises, but also its position towards the others. Vienna represents some sort of a bridge between the Western and Eastern parts of the studied region (betweenness centrality is by 47% higher than Berlin, which ranks second).

Table	2.
-------	----

					Closeness	Betweenness
Metropolises	State	In-degree	Out-degree	Degree	centrality	centrality
Vienna	AT	25	21	46	0,83871	126,5635
Zurich	СН	15	19	34	0,78788	50,44158
Prague	CZ	26	16	42	0,72222	67,5744
Berlin	DE	15	15	30	0,70270	86,29246
Budapest	HU	24	15	39	0,70270	46,12996
Geneva	СН	6	14	20	0,68421	7,298279
Basel	СН	11	14	25	0,68421	22,88105
Rhein Ruhr	DE	9	14	23	0,66667	21,47345
Munich	DE	10	13	23	0,63415	15,99586
Frankfurt a. M.	DE	7	13	20	0,63415	9,195914
Hamburg	DE	6	11	17	0,60465	6,507387
Warsaw	PL	14	8	22	0,59091	6,28049
Stuttgart	DE	4	11	15	0,57778	1,710847
Katowice	PL	2	7	9	0,57778	0,453968
Ljubljana	SLO	9	7	16	0,57778	1,982782
Bratislava	SK	13	6	19	0,56522	2,094234
Hannover	DE	2	8	10	0,54167	0,385439
Nuremberg	DE	6	8	14	0,54167	1,435536
Krakow	PL	15	4	19	0,54167	2,83594
Poznan	PL	5	4	9	0,54167	0,786429
Wroclaw	PL	12	4	16	0,54167	2,83594
Bremen	DE	2	7	9	0,53061	0,385439
Lodz	PL	1	3	4	0,53061	0
Mannheim	DE	6	5	11	0,50980	0,859274
Dresden	DE	6	6	12	0,50980	0,736519
Leipzig	DE	3	4	7	0,49057	0,076923
Gdansk	PL	5	2	7	0,48148	0,786429

Network metrices in analysed metropolises.

Source: original work

Concurrently, it is as strong as the pole which attracts the attendance also as a source of attendance for other metropolises. Zurich has a similar position, except for one difference – it has significantly weaker betweenness markers. This is due to its crucial focus on Western metropolises in Germany and Austria. As for closeness centrality, the third position is occupied by Prague. Prague profits from its high attractiveness (as for arrivals, it is the second most visited city of all studied metropolises; it comes after Vienna); as a source destination for journeys to abroad it has weaker position. Therefore, it has been overtaken by Zurich. Another important metropolis within the network is Berlin which achieves, similarly as Vienna, high betweenness levels. Therefore, it can be regarded as an important transit hub. Moreover, it is necessary to mention Budapest which is well anchored within the network, despite its relatively peripheral location. In addition, the network analysis has proved a weak position of Polish cities, in particular, Lodge, Gdansk and Poznan.

**Fig. 4** demonstrates differences in the layout of metropolises within the network with respect to outbound and inbound tourism. The outbound tourism is unambiguously affected by purchasing power, or alternatively, by differences in economic development of the studied metropolises. Tourist flows are dominated by Western Europe, with Vienna, Berlin, Munich, Rhein-Ruhr and Zurich in the lead. Typical feature of such countries is also high intensity of outbound tourism (the number of outbounds per capita) and strong mutual networking (German speaking countries). For instance, the intensity of outbounds performed by Vienna inhabitants is almost three times higher than in Prague. Polish cities achieve even lower outbound intensity level (one fifth of the Prague level).

The figure depicting inbound flows fundamentally affects the performance of Prague, as one of the most attractive destinations in Europe. Significantly weaker trend, but similar, can be seen in Budapest. On the other hand, the importance of Switzerland metropolises in inbound tourism is declining, which is due to the peripheral position of the region in connection to the studied area and price non-competitiveness for possible visitors coming from the countries of the Visegrad Group (V4).



Fig. 4. Metropolises in the context of a) outbound and b) inbound tourism (Source: original work).

The last part of the tourist flows and their networks analysis is devoted to modelling of interactions by using force algorithm ForceAtlas 2, which helps to visualize the structural proximity within the network and thus, it shows the effect of forces on the nodes (Jacomy et al., 2014). Furthermore, the simulation includes the so-called modularity which clusters elements within the network and stipulates the level of separation of communities. If positive values are achieved, it indicates that community structures might be present

(Newman, 2006). The extent of network structuration in a form of separation of communities may be highlighted on the basis of clusters distinguished by colours according to their modularity.

Application of algorithms generates two basic clusters, whereas the first one is created by metropolises from Germany, Austria and Switzerland, and the second one is focused rather to the East (mainly the V4 countries), provided that Budapest and Katowice tend to focus on the Western bloc. Yet, each of them has different reasons. As for the tourism, Katowice is not attractive, and its position is determined by force of outbounds to Germany and Austria. On the contrary, Budapest attracts attention of the Western European source markets. The third cluster is not complete, a dominating city is Berlin. In respect to modularity, the importance of Berlin for Polish cities is noticeable, and with respect to force algorithm, the results prove ambiguous position within the network divided between the above mentioned main clusters.



Fig. 5. Tourist flows in the context of structural proximity (Source: original work).

# 4. CONCLUSIONS

Based upon results of the implemented analyses we can emphasize three conclusions, as follows. Firstly, spatial organization of tourism and its order structuration demonstrate rather small influence of the market proximity factor. The studied metropolises are not fundamentally integrated within Central Europe. This fact holds true especially for the most significant destinations such as Prague, Budapest or Berlin which are integrated within the network of global integrity. However, Vienna is an exception as it has strong ties both to the Central Europe area and the global area. Central European network of metropolises has somewhat significant influence on second cities (Šauer, 2016); which means, the cities operating mainly in the European market (Wroclaw, Bratislava or Poznan).

Secondly, the analyses have revealed the fact that even after thirty years an imaginary boundary between Western and Eastern areas of the region has still been in existence. Probably, mental division of Europe into West and East is still persisting (e.g., Applebaum, 2017; Meinhof, 2018). This image is somewhat disrupted by Prague and Budapest that gradually constitute a new axis of Berlin – Prague – Vienna – Bratislava – Budapest. Polish cities remain outside the main flow. On one hand, they are challenged by German markets and V4 markets. In case of linking to V4 countries, higher degree of integration is limited by the quality and expansion of transport infrastructure, or by accessibility for remote source markets. On the other hand, their development might be successful due to the involvement into global processes. In reality, this approach is feasible only for Warsaw and Krakow.

The final conclusion is of methodological character. In respect to the tourist flows analysis, the network analysis is limited. High rate of interlinking (supported by using gravity model, the result of which is represented by ties of a n:n type) leads to a small differentiation of network matrices. This method is suitable, in particular, for the systems which are typical for larger diversity of behaviour of network elements, e.g. personal or other social networks.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This article was supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of Czech Republic in the Operational Programme Research, Development and Education [grant "New mobility - high-speed transport systems and transport behaviour of the population" with project no. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_026/0008430].

#### REFERENCES

- Applebaum, A. (2017) Between east and west: Across the borderlands of Europe. Anchor, Reprint edition. 336 p. ISBN 978-05-254-3318-7.
- Bastian, M., Heymann, S. & Jacomy, M. (2009) Gephi: an open source software for exploring and manipulating networks. *ICWSM Conference*, 8, 361-362.
- Bobková, M. & Holešinská, A. (2017) Networking in a destination from the perspective of virtual relationships and their spatial dimension. *Geographia Technica*, 12 (2), 10-19. ISSN 2065-4421. DOI: 10.21163/GT_2017.122.02.
- Castells, M. (2008) The new public sphere: Global civil society, communication networks, and global governance. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 616 (1), 78-93.
- D'Agata, R., Gozzo, S. & Tomaselli, V. (2013) Network analysis approach to map tourism mobility. *Quality & Quantity*, 47 (6), 3167-3184.
- Dumbrovská, V. & Fialová, D. (2014) Tourist intensity in capital cities in Central Europe: Comparative analysis of tourism in Prague, Vienna and Budapest. *Czech Journal of Tourism*, 3 (1), 5-26.
- Ferrante, M., Abbruzzo, A. & De Cantis, S. (2017) Graphical models for estimating network determinants of multi-destination trips in Sicily. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 22, 109-119.
- Flognfeldt, T. (1999) Traveler geographic origin and market segmentation: The multi trips destination case. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, 8 (1), 111-124.
- Hanneman, R. A. & Riddle, M. (2005) Introduction to social network methods. University of California, Riverside, California, 322 pp.
- Hong, T., Ma, T. & Huan, T. C. T. (2015) Network behavior as driving forces for tourism flows. Journal of Business Research, 68 (1), 146-156.

- Hoppe, B. & Reinelt, C. (2010) Social network analysis and the evaluation of leadership networks. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 21 (4), 600-619. DOI: 10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.06.004.
- IPK International. (2015) ITB World Travel Trends Report 2014/2015. Berlin: Messe Berlin GmbH.
- Jacomy, M., Venturini, T., Heymann, S. & Bastian, M. (2014) ForceAtlas2, a Continuous Graph Layout Algorithm for Handy Network Visualization Designed for the Gephi Software. *PLoS ONE*, 9 (6). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098679.
- Jałowiecki, B. (2006) Polish cities and metropolisation processes. Studia Regionalne i Lokalne, 75-84. ISSN 1509–4995.
- Khadaroo, J. & Seetanah, B. (2008) The role of transport infrastructure in international tourism development: A gravity model approach. *Tourism Management*, 29 (5), 831-840.
- Lee, S. H., Choi, J. Y., Yoo, S. H. & Oh, Y. G. (2013) Evaluating spatial centrality for integrated tourism management in rural areas using GIS and network analysis. *Tourism Management*, 34, 14-24. ISSN 0261-5177. DOI: 10.1016/j.tourman.2012.03.005.
- Lew, A. A. & McKercher, B. (2002) Trip destinations, gateways and itineraries: The example of Hong Kong. *Tourism Management*, 23 (6), 609-621.
- Lue, C. C., Crompton, J. L. & Fesenmaier, D. R. (1993) Conceptualization of multi-destination pleasure trips. Annals of Tourism Research, 20 (2), 289-301.
- Luo, W. & MacEachren, A. M. (2014) Geo-social visual analytics. Journal of Spatial Information Science, 8, 27-66.
- McKercher, B. & Lew, A. A. (2004) Tourist flows and the spatial distribution of tourists. A *Companion to Tourism*, 36-48.
- McKercher, B., Shoval, N., Ng, E. & Birenboim, A. (2012) First and repeat visitor behaviour: GPS tracking and GIS analysis in Hong Kong. *Tourism Geographies*, 14 (1), 147-161.
- Meinhof, U. H. (2018) Living (with) Borders: Identity Discourses on East-West Borders in Europe: Identity Discourses on East-West Borders in Europe. Routledge, Reprint edition. 162 p. ISBN 978-13-517-4788-2.
- Mings, R. C., & McHugh, K. E. (1992) The spatial configuration of travel to Yellowstone National Park. *Journal of Travel Research*, 30 (4), 38-46.
- Newman, M. E. (2006) Modularity and community structure in networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103 (23), 8577-8582.
- Pařil, V., Kunc, J., Šašinka, P., Tonev, P. & Viturka, M. (2015) Agglomeration effects of the Brno city (Czech Republic) as exemplified by the population labour mobility. *Geographia Technica*, 10 (1).
- Shoval, N. & Isaacson, M. (2007) Sequence alignment as a method for human activity analysis in space and time. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 97 (2), 282-297.
- Šauer, Martin. (2016). V4 second cities as a tourist destination a view of students selected Brno universities. In Klímová, V.; Žítek, V. (Eds.). XIX. International Colloquium on Regional Sciences. Paper Proceedings. Brno: Masaryk University, 2016. 977-983, ISBN 978-80-210-8273-1. DOI: 10.5817/CZ.MUNI.P210-8273-2016-126.
- TourMIS database. (2017) Marketing-Information-System for tourism managers. Wien: MODUL University Vienna. Available online: wwww.tourmis.info (downloaded 30th June 2017).
- UN Habitat. (2015) The State of Asian and Pacific Cities 2015 Urban transformations Shifting from quantity to quality. The United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) and United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat). ISBN: (Volume) 978-92-1-132681-9
- UNWTO. (2018) UNWTO/WTCF City Tourism Performance Research. Madrid: UNWTO. ISBN 978-92-844-1961-6.
- UNWTO. (2017) Tourism Highlights. Madrid: UNWTO, 2017 Edition. ISBN 978-92-844-1901-2.
- Viturka, M., Pařil, V., Tonev, P., Šašinka, P. & Kunc, J. (2017) The Metropolisation Processes A Case of Central Europe and the Czech Republic. *Prague Economic Papers*, Praha: University of Economics, 26 (5), 505-522. ISSN 2336-730X. DOI: 10.18267/j.pep.624.
- Wöber, K. W. (2003) Information supply in tourism management by marketing decision support systems. *Tourism Management*, 24 (3), 241-255.

# PERCEIVING THE IMPACT OF BROWNFIELDS ON THE REAL ESTATE PRICES: A CASE STUDY FROM FOUR LOCATIONS IN THE CZECH REPUBLIC

Kamila TURECKOVA¹, Jan NEVIMA¹

### DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.11

### ABSTRACT:

The abandoned buildings and areas - brownfields are continuously an integral part of settlements across Europe. One form of interaction between brownfields and the surrounding area is through the property market when it is clear that brownfields affect the value of real estate in its neighborhood. The subject of our research was why and with what intensity this is happening. The research was conducted between 2017 and 2018 in four municipalities in the Czech Republic (Olomouc, Skrbeň, Stonava and Životice) through a questionnaire survey aimed at identifying factors that determine the specific perception of the impact of brownfields on the value of surrounding real properties. The results of the research clearly supported the logical assumption that brownfields are perceived completely negatively in the context of their existence and the impact of their presence on the surrounding residential property values of the inhabitants of the selected municipalities. The findings are a desirable public interest argument for finding solutions to brownfield issues. It is necessary to suppress the negative side of brownfields and transform it into the potential for further development of the area and regions.

Key-words: Brownfield, Residential property values, Real estate price, Czech Republic.

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Brownfields, abandoned and unused areas and objects, are an integral part of the urban consequences of human activity, which can transform into a source of untapped potential for development in both the regional and transnational spheres (Turečková et al., 2018). The increasing dynamics of socio-economic change is continually accompanied by the transformation of residential and living space, where inappropriate areas are left "to their fate" so that some of them may find new, alternative uses in the future. While the empty brownfield is characterized by a number of negative externalities, the effects of positive externalities are reflected in the process of its regeneration, increasing the social surplus not only resulting from the restoration of public space but also from the environmental responsibility and cultural link of our ancestors (Navrátil et al, 2018). Brownfields are perceived as significant, albeit specific, elements of territorial development and spatial arrangement of the cultural and natural environment (Brown, 2012 or Krzysztofik et al., 2016). Within the framework of the modern (modern) approach and in the context of economic development and the simultaneous dynamic deepening of the quality of life. The new use of temporarily abandoned areas and areas helps to reduce the pressure on construction on greenfields in the urbanized area and maintain the compactness of the current built-up area (Sucháček, 2013). The argument of the undesirable effects associated

¹ Silesian University in Opava, Department of Economics and Public Administration, 733 40 Karvina, Czech Republic; <u>tureckoya@opf.slu.cz</u>, <u>nevima@opf.slu.cz</u>
with suburbanization and urban sprawl also speaks for the reuse of abandoned areas (Frantal et al., 2015, Putman, 2000, Oliver 2001, Jackson, 2002 or Sýkora, 2003).

Indeed, boosting support for brownfield regeneration might contribute to more sustainable development of cities and rural municipalities from the perspective of their physical compactness (Kladivo and Halas, 2012), might reduce consequent environmental and health risks (Litt et al., 2002, Eiser et al., 2007) for local population and significantly contribute to an increase of attractiveness of cities and municipalities (Andrés and Grésillon, 2013 or Somlyódyné Pfeil, 2017). Such support might also help to enhance our responsibility (Morvay, 2017) for implications of our industrial history and business activities (Pakšiová, 2016) that is still significantly affecting face and structure of our contemporary cities, countries and Europe Union. Generally, support for brownfields regeneration might strengthen our nowadays more environmentally friendly path of thinking about urban space that prefers utilization of existing properties over those that are being built on greenfields (De Sousa, 2003). Therefore, due to the importance for wider development, this branch is also subject of the EU financial support (Melecký and Staníčková, 2017).

The content of this paper is to analyze one of the unwanted speeches that brownfields in the built-up area are related to, and their property to influence the value of the real estate that is adjacent to the brownfield. This area of research is addressed in terms of perception of the local population of four municipalities in the Czech Republic where the research was carried out. This research builds on earlier primary research in three other cities of the Czech Republic, and further specifies the subject (see Turečková et al., 2017a, Turečková et al., 2017b, Škrabal et al., 2017 and Chmielová et al., 2017). Based on the logical assumption that brownfields are perceived negatively in the context of their impact on the value of the (residential) immovable property, which is undesirably transformed into the reduced price at which these properties are traded on the market (e.g. Bowes and Ihlanfeldt, 2001). Through this lower property price, there is a social loss from the economic point of view and the social surplus decreases. By identifying the undesirable factors associated with brownfields, it is possible to define the possibility of mitigating their negative impact on the prices of surrounding properties and to better activate remedial measures (Turečková, 2018). The aim of the paper is to examine the influence of brownfields on the residential property values that are located in their neighbourhoods, as perceived by the local population.

It can be assumed that proximity of neglected, abandoned and decaying grounds impacts values of residential properties. Reasons behind this hypothesis lie for example in the lower level of aesthetic quality that is usually connected to such abandoned or neglected brownfields. Next reason could be linked to possible contamination of these sites, their bad technical state or occurrence and concentration of socio-pathological phenomena in these buildings (like homelessness, high level of criminality etc.).

Our results and findings are based on primary research conducted between 2017 and 2018 through a questionnaire survey in four villages in Moravia, Czech Republic. Municipalities Stonava and Životice are located in the Moravian-Silesian Region and the city Olomouc and village Skrbeň in the Olomouc Region. It is to be expected that differences in the location of municipalities will be reflected in respondents' answers. Because while Stonava and Životice are located in the Ostrava-Karvina agglomeration, typical of the huge occurrence of brownfields after heavy industry and mining, Olomouc

and Skrbeň are located in the agricultural area of Haná. The number of respondents was 352.

#### 2. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK OF THE STUDY

It is not possible to define a brownfield uniformly because its explanation depends on the time, geographical, political, economic and social perception of the given concept (Turečková, 2018). In general, we can characterize the brownfield in the widest possible sense as an abandoned area (an object, building, area, land) that previously performed a certain economic activity but which has already been terminated and new use has not been found for this area (Martinát et al., 2017). With reference to former economic activity in a given brownfield, we are divided into brownfields for industrial, mining, military, transport, agricultural and brownfields for former amenities (shopping centers, hospitals, restaurants, apartment buildings, etc.) (Martinát and Turečková, 2016). Brownfields can also be ecologically polluted, contaminated and dangerous from a technical construction point of view. Because these sites are decaying (even decades), they disrupt the urban structure and architectural style of the site, are unsightly, and are the usual place of concentration of socially pathological phenomena (especially homeless and drug addicts). Within the European Union, brownfields are defined by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (2017), which defines brownfields as a land and property located inside urbanized areas that have lost their function and use and are likely to contain environmental burdens. The National Brownfield Regeneration Strategy of the Czech Republic (CzechInvest, 2008) or previously Alker (2000) or Yount (2003) define brownfield as the real estate property (land, building or ground) that is insufficiently utilized, neglected and might be also contaminated. The occurrence of brownfields is usually perceived as a weakness or a threat for future development of cities, towns and municipalities. On the other, brownfields might also be considered as an opportunity for development (Adams et al., 2010). These sites are usually unsightly and aesthetically do not meet requirements of the local population how the city should look like which significantly affect the perception of these sites (Martinat et al., 2017). The problem of brownfields is especially distinct in cities that are heavily affected by the recent decay of the heavy industry and mining, where it might be assumed that brownfields are specifically perceived (Krzysztofik et al., 2012). Systematic regeneration of brownfields might undoubtedly contribute to the improvement of the quality of life in these cities (Pediaditi et al., 2010) and at least partially contribute to a more environmentally friendlier way of thinking of nowadays society (Apsan, 2002).

The occurrence of brownfields significantly affects values of residential properties that are located in neighbourhoods of these sites (e.g. De Sousa, 2000, Kaufman and Cloutier, 2006, Mihaescu and vom Hofe, 2012, Sun and Jones, 2013) and has significant fiscal consequences (Růžičková and MacGregor Pelikánová, 2014, Jánošíková and MacGregor Pelikánová, 2017). It is also well known that the property prices are constructed by characteristics of the local real estate market where geographical location belongs to factors of crucial importance (e.g. Can, 1992 or Hesse, 2004). Undoubtedly, values of residential properties in the neighbourhood of brownfields are also considerably influenced by the way how population perceive these sites (Munroe, 2007). Willingness to purchase the real estate in the proximity of brownfield is affected by the mix of factors, part of them might be described as "hard" factors (like already mentioned geographical location, accessibility of the site, availability of infrastructure) and part of them as "soft" factors where perception surely belongs. These soft factors are usually not of static, but more of dynamic nature that might be changed due to course of time as the process of particular brownfield regeneration approaches. On the contrary, once brownfield regeneration process is finished, values of residential properties in neighbourhoods usually increase.

## 3. METHODOLOGY AND DATA

The primary research involved on perceiving the influence of brownfields on the value of nearby properties and its real estate prices. As was mention these present results are the next in a series of extensive research on the territory of Morava (the part of territory of the Czech Republic). Individual phases of conducted research were performed simultaneously in one city (Olomouc) and tree rural municipality (Skrbeň, Stonava, Životice) of the Moravian-Silesian Region and The Olomouc region in 2017 and 2018 (see **Figure 1**). The primary research was relies on questionnaire survey and its aim was to ascertain opinions and attitudes of the local population on the issue of the influence of brownfields on prices of the neighbouring real estate.



Fig. 1 Location of the four case study municipalities Source: Google Maps, authors processing

Firstly, was to determine the number of brownfields and describe its characteristics in selected municipalities by the observation method. On the basis of open access brownfields inventories (CzechInvest and Invest More) and own research, a database for the four municipalities was developed. For the purposes of this paper there was necessary the

information about number of brownfields and its expanse (area). In Olomouc was determined 14 brownfields, in Skrbeň 4, in Stonava 11 and in Životice 6 brownfields. This information is important in context of respondents' views on the influence of brownfields on the price of surrounding properties. It can be assumed that the more respondents have direct experience with brownfields, the more negative they will perceive,

Secondly, the data on perception of residential property values were gathered by means of the questionnaire survey. The questionnaire has been created on the basis of previous studies and contained 12 questions. A preliminary survey was conducted in March 2016 to be sure that individual questions are clearly defined and to avoid any misinterpretations. Individual questionnaires were gathered by trained university students by a face-to-face communication with respondents. The questionnaires were completed by the method of semi-structured interviews. Last year we had 347 respondents from tree municipalities: Karviná, Orlová and Dětmarovice (see Turečková et al., 2017) and in this year a number of respondents that participated in the research were 352 in total (120 respondents from Olomouc, 80 respondents from Skrbeň, 50 respondents from Stonava and 102 respondents from Životice). A number of respondents, who participated in the survey, were ensured to be at least 3.4‰ of the total population of individual municipalities. All respondents lived in selected municipalities and their socioeconomic, demographic, educational and gender structure of the population was balanced (please see Table 1 for the structure of respondents). Factors behind were also determined to ensure why and how the occurrence of brownfields affects the value of local residential properties. Respondents were selected to be sure that all parts of municipalities, where brownfields are located, are represented.

Variables	Municipality	Olomouc	Skrbeň	Stonava	Životice
	Population (year)	99809 (2015)	1206 (2012)	1828 (2012)	1322 (2017)
	Number of questionnaires	120	80	50	102
Gender	Female	59%	56%	56%	61%
	Male	41%	44%	44%	39%
Age	18-25 years	32%	50%	8%	6%
	26-45 years	39%	31%	38%	56%
	46-65 years	21%	19%	34%	25%
	65 and more years	8%	0%	20%	13%
Education	Elementary	12%	6%	6%	11%
	Secondary without final exam	35%	17%	38%	28%
	Secondary with final exam	29%	63%	46%	37%
	Higher professional education	8%	6%	4%	9%
	Tertiary	16%	8%	6%	15%
Social status	Employees	43%	50%	48%	25%
	Students	26%	31%	8%	20%
	Entrepreneurs	4%	0%	6%	24%
	Unemployed	4%	0%	0%	9%
	Retired persons	9%	0%	30%	15%
	On maternal/parental leave	14%	19%	8%	8%
Habitation	Own residential house	25%	67%	54%	66%
	House in rent	3%	0%	0%	34%
	Dormitory	8%	0%	0%	0%
	Own apartment/flat	34%	28%	0%	0%
	Cooperative apartment	0%	0%	0%	0%
	Apartment in rent	30%	5%	46%	0%

Segmentation of respondents of surveys in four municipalities.	Table 1
----------------------------------------------------------------	---------

Sources: set of own surveys (n=352) and Czech Statistical Office

**Table 2** shows selected indicators of municipalities and brownfields on its territory. For purpose of our research was useful to set by authors the index named index of civic proximity to brownfield which is calculated as:

The value of index is within the range  $(0, \infty)$  and the smaller value of index is better because means, in generally, less experience of inhabitances of municipalities with the brownfields from a spatial point of view. The higher value of this index constitutes that the inhabitants of a given village or city live closer to brownfields than lower value. If is the value of index of civic proximity to brownfield is zero it means no brownfields on the territory of the municipality. This information given via created index will be connected with the results of questionnaire survey in the next part of this paper.

Indicator/Municipality	Olomouc	Skrbeň	Stonava	Životice
Area of municipality (ha)	10336	787	1387	430
Number of brownfields	14	4	11	6
Area of brownfields (ha)	55	0.584	115	0.71
Share of area of brownfields on area of municipality	0.53%	0.07%	8.30%	0.17%
Population	99809	1206	1828	1322
Area of municipality per capita (ha)	0.10	0.65	0.76	0.33
Index of civic proximity to brownfield	0.05	0.00	0.11	0.01
Order by index	3	1	4	2

Selected indicators of municipalities and brownfields

Sources: set of own surveys and Czech Statistical Office Note: the smaller index value is better

As we can see from the Table 2 through comparting the value of index of civic proximity to brownfield and also with other values of selected indicators present in table there is clear that, in general, the largest personal experience with brownfields should have the inhabitants of Stonava. Eleven brownfields in Stonava have the largest share of size of area of brownfields on size of area of municipality (8.30%). This factor is very strong even in fact that the area of municipality per capita is the smallest (0.76 hectare per capita). On the other hand, village Skrbeň in the Olomouc Region has only 4 brownfields with very small size of their area and relatively large area of municipality per capita (0.65) what indicated assumption that inhabitants from Skrbeň should have the lowest direct experience with brownfields in spatial and residential point of view. Whether these findings correspond to the findings of the primary research are set out in the next chapter 4 called Results - perceiving the impact of brownfields on the real estate prices.

#### 4. RESULTS - PERCEIVING THE IMPACT OF BROWNFIELDS ON THE REAL ESTATE PRICES

The key finding of our survey is (what was also expected base on previous research) that the living in the neighborhood of brownfields is problematic for the majority of respondents (see **Figure 2**). Quite surprising is the result from municipality Životice where only 6% of respondents do not mind living near brownfields while in other 3 municipalities it is between 26% - 33%. It could be assumed that local population is more used to live in the neighborhoods of these sites than in Životice.

This result and differences among individual municipalities can be explained rather a consequence of negative phenomena that are usually connected to the occurrence of brownfields (criminality, homelessness etc.) and, especially in case of Životice, it could be the fact that it is a small village with a higher population density (0.33 ha per capita) in combination with character of its 6 brownfields. Brownfields in Životice are made up of a ruin of a local castle and skeletons of agricultural areas, all of them are located in the center of the village and therefore in the eyes of the inhabitants of the village.



**Fig. 2.** Unwillingness to live in the neighbourhood of brownfields. Source: own survey (n=352)

Much more impressive differences in opinions of respondents were found in a question, how the local residential property values are affected by the occurrence of brownfields? While the opinions of the respondents from Olomouc and Skrbeň are not very different, the answers of the respondents from Stonava and Životice are more peculiar (see **Figure 3**). The respondents of these two villages do not admit any influence of brownfields on the prices of surrounding properties on the one hand but on the other hand about 48% of respondents stated that due to the occurrence of brownfields the residential property values are lower between 20% - 40% and 14% of respondents of Stonava and 46% of respondent of Životice (...) are lower by 50% in comparison to other parts of the city without brownfields.

Overall, for more than three quarters of respondents, the existence of brownfields has some (smaller or larger) impact on the value of residential properties. This result could be supported by other responses (results are presented in **Figure 4** and **5**). In the next step, we asked the respondents if they would buy a residential property in the neighbourhoods of brownfield if its price was about 20% lower than the usual price. It seems that our hypothesis related to the specific perception of brownfields in Stonava and Životice are confirmed as the population of these two municipalities again evaluates this problem again differently (with much higher polarity) in comparison to other two cases (Olomouc and Skrbeň). We assume that this might be caused by the dense occurrence of brownfields in Stonava and Životice and significant everyday experiences of the local population with life with brownfields and consequent occurrence of socially problematic phenomena.



Fig. 3 Influence of brownfields on residential property values in four municipalities. Source: own survey (n=352)

When we asked respondents to evaluate their willingness to buy the residential property in immediate proximity of brownfield if the price is lower by 20% the response were significantly negative replies among respondents from Životice and Stonava where only 5%, respectively 14%, of them were open to buy such residential property (see Figure 4). Respondents from Skrbeň and Olomouc were not so negative in their answers and more than 56%, respectively 45%, of them would be opened to buy such real estate without any problems.



Fig. 4.Willingness to buy residential property in immediate proximity of brownfield if price is lower by 20 %. Source: own survey (n=352)

Part of the research was also to determine the factors that people brownfields perceive negatively and which affect opinions of respondents that brownfields significantly affect the value of residential properties in their neighbourhoods. The reasons why brownfields are undesirable are as follows: (1) the brownfield is usually dangerous from a construction and technical point of view, (2) there is no certain future use of brownfield, (3) brownfield is aesthetically unsightly, (4) brownfield is dangerous due to possible contamination and pollution that threatens health, (5) brownfield blocks development of the city, and (6) social-pathological phenomena are concentrated in the brownfield.

Respondents could select out of these six defined answers. Shares of positive and negative answers are graphically displayed in **Figure 5**. Generally, it was found that respondents of all municipalities connect occurrence of brownfields much more strongly to negative consequences because of social-pathological phenomena (like homelessness, criminality, possible contamination and health risks for population etc.). The second and third major reasons for negative attitudes towards brownfields are dangerous outgoing from a construction and technical state of brownfields and dangerous due to possible contamination and pollution that threatens health. What was surprising was that usually reduced aesthetics of non-regenerated brownfields was not taken into account as a serious problem, similarly as consequences for urban planning (brownfields block development of the city, there is no certain future use of brownfields).



**Fig. 5.** Reasons why brownfields have significant influence on the residential property values. Source: own survey (n=352)

The largest share of respondents (on average 86%) is convinced that brownfields as an abandoned sites are problematic and rather dangerous which is the fact that reduces prices of the neighbouring real estate. Main reasons for such argument were identified in the

concentration of socially pathological phenomena in brownfields (like homelessness, higher rates of criminality, drug dealing, vandalism etc.) (chosen at 80%). The second factor that was found as important (around 55 %) were technical state of brownfields. Respondents were expressing their fears that brownfields are dangerous as for the bad quality of their technical infrastructure, and not usually secured against the intrusion of people who should not be there. They perceive that risks connected to bad statics and neglected maintenance of individual buildings, or failures of concrete structures due to corrosion of materials are very high. The environmental and health risks (occurrence contamination of soils and pollution) that might affect the health of the population that is living in the neighbourhoods was identified as a third important factor (around 52%). This factor might be interpreted as some kind of distrust that majority of contamination have been removed or cleaned up. The population was quite unsure that these contaminants are safe and do not bear any health risks. Reasons why brownfields negatively influence the price of the neighbouring real estate are for 34% of respondents connected to uncertainty concerning future use of the site. They usually argued that it is not sure what will be built on a particular brownfield in future and how the site will be used. The 23% of respondents believes that lower real estate prices of buildings in proximity to brownfields are connected to aesthetics of brownfields. These sites are usually abandoned and neglected, sometimes aesthetically unsightly with peeled facade or are ruined, covered by weed or walls are damaged by graffiti etc. Only 19.5% of respondents perceived brownfields as barriers for the further development of the city. We can say respondents were not so optimistic when thinking about the future development of their city. It seems that this distrust towards future reduces demand for housing within the city and indirectly it noticeably reduces the value of the local real estate.



Fig. 6. Influence of brownfields on real estate buying behaviour of respondents. Source: own survey (n=352)

The last presented research results are answers to the question where respondents were asked to evaluate the possibility to buy the real estate in the proximity of brownfields (see **Figure 6**). The answers to this question confirm previous findings. While the citizens (in 50% - 60%) of Stonava and Životice would consider buying a property if it was more than 500 meters away from brownfields, the respondents from Olomouc in 40% do not have any problem with buing property in neighborhood of brownfields if they do not see them. This should be given in matter of fact that the Olomouc is quite big city with a different approach to housing than in the village. What was suprising, for respondents from Skrbeň (in 50%) brownfields do not play a role in influence their decision to buy real estate or (in 19%) if they did not see brownfield. This could be explained via low negative experience with brownfields (see **Table 2**).

#### 5. CONCLUSIONS

Brownfields, the reasons for their origin, the effects of their existence, the problems associated with them and the proposals for their solution are the current topic for professional and lay discussion across public and private bodies and institutions involved in this issue. In the context of the existence of brownfields, it is a priority to find their new, beneficial use. This enables the brownfield to see the potential for further development of the region, together with its regeneration, the growth of economic and social activity and the increased attractiveness of the area for all stakeholders. Leaving abandoned areas without the effort to find alternative uses for them, regional development is hampered by the fact that it prevents the development of the built-up area, adversely affects the environment and society and has an adverse impact on the entire territorial unit.

The aim of the paper was to examine the perception of brownfields on the values of residential properties, as perceived by the local population. The set of semi-structured interviews has been conducted in four municipalities (Stonava, Životice, Skrbeň and Olomouc) that are significantly affected by the occurrence of brownfields. By means of our survey hypothesis was confirmed that the occurrence of brownfields significantly affects the value of the residential properties. Brownfields are perceived quite negatively as the local population believes that they reduce prices of residential properties. This finding is in line with the results of previous studies (e.g. Bond et al., 2004). Respondents of our survey also claimed in their majority that they would not buy the real estate in the proximity of brownfield even if the price was reduced by on fifth in comparison with other locations within the same city or municipality. Such exact finding can be hardly generalized, however, the stand-off of local population from purchasing the real estate in the neighbourhoods of non-regenerated brownfield seems to be clear. This argument might utilized while arguing for the speeding-up of the brownfield regeneration process.

Factors that the most significantly influence such decision is a concentration of socially pathological phenomena, dangerous due to possible contamination and pollution that threatens health and risks connected to possible contamination of brownfields and health risks for the local population. This confirms the expectation that the inhabitants of Stonava and Životice, who comes from the area affected long-term coal mining industry and will be loaded towards brownfields negatively tuned than residents of rural areas Olomouc and Skrbeň, where attitudes to brownfields are not so pronounced and associated with unwanted prejudices.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This paper was kindly supported by the project with the title; Brownfields in urban and rural space: geographic, economic, historical, legal contexts and their importance for regional development (BURAN) (SGS/21/2016).

## REFERENCES

- Adams, D., De Sousa, C., & Tiesdell, S. (2010). Brownfield development: A comparison of North American and British approaches. *Urban Studies*, 47(1), 75-104.
- Alker, S., Joy, V., Roberts, P & Smith, N. (2000). The definition of brownfield. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 43(1), 49-69.
- Andres, L. & Grésillon, B. (2013). Cultural brownfields in European cities: a new mainstream object for cultural and urban policies. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 19(1), 40-62.
- Apsan, H. N. (2002). Environmental Value: A Business View of Environmental Costs and Opportunities. *Environmental Quality Management*, 11(4), 75-81.
- Bond, S., & Cook, D. (2004). Residents' Perceptions Towards Asbestos Contamination of Land and It's Impact on Residential Property Values. *Pacific Rim Property Research Journal*, 10(3), 328-352.
- Bowes, D. R., & Ihlanfeldt, K. R. (2001). Identifying the impacts of rail transit stations on residential property values. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 50(1), 1-25.
- Brown, L. (2012). World on the edge: how to prevent environmental and economic collapse. Routledge. New York.
- Can, A. (1992). Specification and estimation of hedonic housing price models. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 22(3), 453-474.
- Chmielová, P., K. Turečková, S. Martinát, J. Nevima & Škrabal J. (2017). Perception of Influence of the Brownfields on the Value Property: Case Study of Town Orlova, Czech Republic. *In: Vision* 2020: Sustainable Economic development, Innovation Management, and Global Growth. Madrid: IBIMA, 2569-2578.
- Czech Statistical Office (2018). *Statistics*. [online]. [2018-05-10]. Available from: https://www.czso.cz/csu/czso/statistiky
- CzechInvest (2008). Národní strategie regenerace brownfieldů [online]. [2018-06-09]. Available from: http://www.cityinvestczech.cz/data/files/nsb-595.pdf
- De Sousa, C. (2000). Brownfield redevelopment versus greenfield development: A private sector perspective on the costs and risks associated with brownfield redevelopment in the Greater Toronto Area. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 43(6), 831-853.
- De Sousa, C. A. (2003). Turning brownfields into green space in the City of Toronto. *Landscape and urban planning*, 62(4), 181-198.
- Eiser, J. R., Stafford, T., Henneberry, J., & Catney, P. (2007). Risk perception and trust in the context of urban brownfields. *Environmental Hazards*, 7(2), 150-156.
- Frantal, B., Greer-Wootten, B., Klusacek, P., Krejci, T., Kunc, J., & Martinat, S. (2015). Exploring spatial patterns of urban brownfields regeneration: The case of Brno, Czech Republic. *Cities*, 44, 9-18.
- Hesse, M. (2004). Land for logistics: locational dynamics, real estate markets and political regulation of regional distribution complexes. *Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie*, 95(2), 162-173
- Invest More (2018). *Brownfieldy*. [online]. [2018-05-10]. Available from: http://www.investmsr.com/cz/component/investor/?ref=type02&Itemid=133
- Jackson, J. (2002). Urban Sprawl. Urbanismus a území rozvoj, 5(6), 21-28.
- Jánošíková, P. & MacGregor Pelikánová, R. (2017). The Heterogenous Diversity of the Real Estate Transfer Tax in the EU, pp. 247-255 IN: Jajuga, K. Orlowski, L.T., Staehr, K. (Eds.). *Contemporary Trends and Challenges in Finance*. Springer Proceedings in Busienss and Economics, 320 p.

- Kaufman, D. A., & Cloutier, N. R. (2006). The impact of small brownfields and greenspaces on residential property values. *The Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics*, 33(1), 19-30.
- Kladivo, P. & M. Halas, (2012). Quality of life in an urban environment: A typology of urban units of Olomouc. *Quaestiones Geographicae*, 31(2), 49-60.
- Krzysztofik, R., Runge, J., & Kantor-Pietraga, I. (2012). Paths of Environmental and Economic Reclamation: the Case of Post-Mining Brownfields. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 21(1), 219-223.
- Krzysztofik, R., Tkocz, M., Sporna, T & Kantor-Pietraga, I. (2016). Some dilemmas of postindustrialism in a region of traditional industry: The case of the Katowice conurbation, Poland. *Moravian Geographical Reports*, 24(1), 42-54.
- Litt, J. S., Tran, N. L., & Burke, T. A. (2002). Examining urban brownfields through the public health" macroscope". *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110(Suppl 2), 183.
- Martinát, S. & Turečková, K. (2016). Local development in the post-mining countryside? Impacts of an agricultural ad plant on rural community. *Geographia Technica*, 11(1), 54–66. ISSN 2065-4421.
- Martinát, S., Navrátil, J., Pícha, K., Turečková, K. & Klusáček, P. (2017). Brownfield regeneration from the perspective of residents: place circumstances versus character of respondents. DETUROPE – The Journal of Regional Development and Tourism, 9(2), 71-92.
- Melecký, L. & Staníčková, M. (2017). Cost Efficiency of EU Funded Projects: Case of Selected SMEs in the Moravian-Silesian Region. In: Strategic Management and its Support by Information Systems. Ostrava: VŠB TU Ostrava, 293-302.
- Mihaescu, O., & vom Hofe, R. (2012). The impact of brownfields on residential property values in Cincinnati, Ohio: A spatial hedonic approach. *Journal of Regional Analysis & Policy*, 42(3), 223-236.
- Morvay, S. (2017). Cultural ambitions of cities in Central and Eastern Europe in the light of two cities – Tallin and Maribor – case studies. DETUROPE – Journal of Regional Development and Tourism, 9(3), 162-176.
- Munroe, D. K. (2007). Exploring the determinants of spatial pattern in residential land markets: amenities and disamenities in Charlotte, NC, USA. *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 34(2), 336-354.
- Navrátil, J., Pícha, K., Martinát, S., NathanaiL, P. C., Turečková, K. & Holešínská, A. (2018). Resident's preferences for urban brownfield revitalization: Insights from two Czech cities. *Land Use Policy*, 76(1), 224-234. DOI: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.05.013.
- OECD (2017). The Governance of Land Use Policy Highlights [online]. [2018-05-12]. Available from: https://www.oecd.org/cfe/regional-policy/governance-of-land-use-policy-highlights.pdf
- Oliver, J. E. (2001). Democracy in Suburbia. Princenton: Princenton Uversity Press.
- Pakšiová, R. (2016). Understanding of corporate social responsibility in large companies in Slovakia within the context of a sustainable development. In: *Economic policy in the European union member countries: proceedings of 14th international scientific conference*. Karviná: OPF in Karviná, SU in Opava, 516-525.
- Pediaditi, K., Doick, K. J., & Moffat, A. J. (2010). Monitoring and evaluation practice for brownfield, regeneration to greenspace initiatives: A meta-evaluation of assessment and monitoring tools. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 97(1), 22-36.
- Putman, R. (2001). *Bowling Alone. The Collapse and Revival of American Community*. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Růžičková, E.D. & MacGregor Pelikánová, R. (2014). Recent trends in the regime of transfer tax in the Czech Republic and selected EU member states. *Scientific Papers of the University of Pardubice, Series D 2/2014*, 31, 25-33.
- Škrabal, J., K. Turečková, S. Martinát, J. Nevima & Chmielová, P. (2017). Brownfields in context of property, house and real estate price in Dětmarovice (Czech Republic). In: Vision 2020: Sustainable Economic development, Innovation Management, and Global Growth. Madrid: IBIMA, 2720-2728.

- Somlyódyné Pfeil, E. (2017). Chances of Effective Urban Policy in Hungary under the Influence of the European Cohesion Policy. *DETUROPE – Journal of Regional Development and Tourism*, 9(3), 141-161.
- Sucháček, J. (2013). Investment location from the perspective of urban and regional activities in the Czech Republic. In: Culik, M. (ed.): Financial Management of Firms and Financial Institutions: 9th international scientific conference: proceedings. Ostrava: VŠB - TU, 851-857.
- Sun, W., & Jones, B. (2013). Using multi-scale spatial and statistical analysis to assess the effects of brownfield redevelopment on surrounding residential property values in Milwaukee County, USA. *Moravian Geographical Reports*, 21(2), 56-64.
- Sýkora, L. (2003). Suburbanizace a její společenské důsledky. Praha, Sociologický ústav AV ČR.
- Tagaia, G. (2016). The territorial dimension of social exclusion in East-Central Europe. *DETUROPE* - *The Journal of Regional Development and Tourism*, 8(2), 58-71.
- Turečková, K. (2018). The Role of Public Administration and EU in the context of Brownfields. In: Proceedings of the 4rd International Conference on European Integration 2018. Ostrava: VŠB-TU Ostrava, 1522-1530.
- Turečková, K., Nevima, J., Škrabal, J. & Martinát, S. (2018). Uncovering patterns of location of brownfields to facilitate their regeneration: Some remarks from the Czech Republic. *Sustainability*, 10(6), 224-234. DOI: 10.3390/su10061984.
- Turečková, K., S. Martinát, J. Nevima, J. Škrabal & Chmielová, P. (2017b). Impact of brownfields on the real estate prices: A case study from three locations in the Moravian Silesian Region (Czech Republic). In: Vision 2020: Sustainable Economic development, Innovation Management, and Global Growth. Madrid: IBIMA, 2560-2568.
- Turečková, K., S. Martinát, J. Škrabal, P. Chmielová & Nevima, J. (2017a). How local population perceive impact of brownfields on the residential property values: some remarks from postindustrial areas in the Czech Republic. *Geographia Technica*, 12(2), 150-164.
- Yount, K. R. (2003). 'What are brownfields? Finding a conceptual definition. *Environmental Practice*. 5(01), 25-33.

## DESCENDING MOUNTAIN ROUTES FUTURE: THE NORTH YUNGAS AND FĂGĂRAȘ GEOSYSTEM`S COMPARATIVE STUDY

### Mihai VODA¹, Yuri Sandoval MONTES²

#### DOI: 10.21163/GT_2018.132.12

#### **ABSTRACT:**

The Yungas region geographical position on the Eastern slopes of Cordillera Real and the Făgăraş Mountains East-West alignment generated unique Geosystems. A single gravel road links La Paz with Amazonia Boliviana: *El Camino de la Muerte* and only one road crosses the Făgăraş Mountains: the *Transfăgărăşan*. Mountain roads networks are connecting communities and their resources all over the world. This research is adding value to the old mountain roads systems using the new technical Geography advances and transforming them in tourist sites. The cultural ecosystem services have a growing popularity that can be valorized for the locals benefits if managed accordingly. This paper focuses on the special descending sections identification and assessment for the mountain recreational activities development. The North Yungas and the Făgăraş areas represent unique Geosystems from the Bolivian Andes and the Romanian Mountains, analyzed using Geomedia techniques. Here we show that our *Death Road* model can securely allow tourist access, increase locals' livelihood and protect mountain environments. Our research results prove that the South American Geosystem's unique attributes can constitute a functional reference for a considerable number of world's mountain routes future sustainable development.

**Key-words:** Geomedia, Smartphone, Ecosystem services, Geosystem, Transfăgărășan; Yungas.

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

The North Yungas Geosystem reflects changes in the field of community-based tourism by presenting new research approaches using the smartphone's Android emerging technologies. The *Death Road* frame model developed with Geomedia techniques will help mountain communities around the world to mitigate their poverty problems. It provides insight into the mountains' natural resources virtual exploitation issues. The Geomedia techniques are using the digital geo-information from different media sources (earth observing media such as Google Maps, Google Earth, social media such as Facebook and geo-located mobile apps) to virtually illustrate the unique characteristics of special geographical locations, spatially defined as Geosystems (Ernawati et al., 2018; Voda et al., 2017) and having a corresponding geodatabase (Nicoara and Haidu, 2011).

A considerable number of people are affected by poverty, struggling to survive in the mountains or leave. Currently, the increasing migration rate to the European developed countries is positioning Romania after Syria, which is in the midst of a civil war (UN DESA, 2017). The Bolivian mountains impoverished citizens are living in difficult conditions.

¹ Dimitrie Cantemir University, 540545, Targu Mures, Romania, mihaivoda@cantemir.ro;

² Universidad Mayor de San Andrés, Carrera de Ingeniería Geográfica, La Paz, Bolivia, ysandoval@umsa.bo.

Bolivia's human development index ranks 118th out of 188 countries and territories (UNDP, 2016).

Valorizing the mountain roads potential for recreational activities constitute an environmentally friendly solution for the future as the cultural ecosystem services such as trekking, wildlife photographing or mountain biking, have become popular in the recent years (Newsome and Davies, 2009; Winters et al., 2011; Webber, 2007; Morckel and Terzano, 2014; Goeft and Alder, 2001). The Bolivian and Romanian policy makers have to take into account the creation and communication of the cultural ecosystem services knowledge (Fish, 2016; Voda et al., 2017). Community decision factors can administrate the designated sections and local inhabitants can contribute by offering accommodation, guiding and traditional farming experiences. The local organization, the self-control of the social networks and the innovative technology support represent the answers for the rural communities in search for alternative livelihood provided by the cultural ecosystem services development (Lew and Cheer, 2018; Ernawati et al., 2018).

The *Death Road* phenomenon proves our Yungas Geosystem theory in which the tourist flow constitutes the matter; the locals symbolize the energy while the internet, the social media and the smart apps represent the information input. Here we show the dynamic equilibrium between the matter, energy and information input and output fluxes, quantified by the *Death Road* recreational ecosystem services. The North Yungas functional attributes can be identified in the Făgăraş Geosystem and many other mountainous environments throughout the world. The mountain tourism characteristics, such as trails, gravel roads and guideposts are present in most of the world's ranges with their wilderness subjugated by human intervention. Descending on mountain bikes in Bolivia represent an adventure recreational activity, geographically located in the *Cordillera Real* wilderness, which is generally characterized by dense tropical forest and steep slopes (Walter, 1982; Beedie, 2003).

The Death Road frame model has to stimulate new, important questions: how to educate local communities to keep the Geosystem balanced; which are the development acceptable limits, according to the local environment physical capacity of support? Our grounded theory was constructed based on Death Road phenomena to emphasize the value of the North Yungas Geosystem's unique attributes and anticipate prospective changes in Romania and other world's mountain communities.

A significant number of websites, social media and smartphone apps promote the *Death Road* (*El Camino de la Muerte*) route, located in Bolivia, which unites the snowy highlands above the seat of the country government (La Paz) with the Yungas region, in the jungle. It covers about 64 kilometers and exceeds a drop of more than 3,600 meters, starting on the tarmac road from the 4,470 meters of altitude. The pavement is left for the gravel and the width of the road is narrowed to a merely 3.2 meters, although there are sidings. Fog and rain are frequently registered along the jungle section with descending left side precipices of up to 800 meters of free fall (Camino de la Muerte, 2009).

Recreational ecosystem service development using the Geomedia techniques facilitate the opening of new mountain routes not only in Bolivia or Romania but anywhere in the world. As new technological advancements and especially smart applications are progressively seen as an answer for many ecosystem services and tourism activities development, it is efficacious to investigate their impact in Bolivia, which has the most famous descending mountain route in the world, the *Death Road*.

Various investigations have explored the subject, notably Sil et al. (2016), Kumar and Kumar (2008), Boyd and Banzhaf (2007), Sherrouse et al. (2011), Wimpey and Marion

(2011), Wescott and Andrew (2015), emphasizing the importance of the world's mountainous regions in provisioning ecosystem services. The recreational experiences are quantifying people's non-material benefits offered by different environments through the cultural ecosystem services (MEA, 2005; Sanna and Eja, 2017). Fish et al. (2016) advanced a relational approach to cultural ecosystem services, based on the human's contact with the natural landscapes.

Buhalis and Law (2008) observed the smartphone applications linkage to the tourists' independent travels development. Schwanen and Kwan (2008) showed that modern technology facilitates the personal interconnection and leisure activities organization. Dickinson et al. (2014) argued that travellers have all the needed information about a destination in their smartphones. Martínez-Graña et al. (2017) proved that the local natural and cultural resources are considerably better protected and disseminated with the help of mobile phones smart applications. The geographical representation of various Geosystems evolved from paper maps to smartphone apps (Voda, 2013). Lapenta (2011) believes that Geomedia's augmented reality displays our environmental features through the digital visualization systems. Ernawati et al. (2018) found that images with geolocation could be transformed into the Geosystem's scientific illustration with the help of Geomedia techniques. Inal et al. (2017) showed the smartphones' GPS efficiency for the historical sites coordinates validation. Baiocchi et al. (2017), emphasized the Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) techniques relevance for the smartphones maps accuracy. The geolocated images and virtual maps sharing processes through the social media channels are controlling the Geosystem's information and energy fluxes, interconnecting people and geographical spaces (Lapenta, 2011; Voda and Negru, 2015; Zheng et al., 2010).

Our study will show how Geomedia techniques were used to analyze the North Yungas Geosystem's characteristics and future development capabilities. The *Death Road* tourist site can be a model for the virtual imagery elaboration of the Transfăgărășan road or other mountainous region's descending routes. With the help of the new modern geographical technologies based on WebGIS, smart apps and geolocation, the mountain communities will identify their particular natural assets and transform them into emerging tourist sites.

## 2. METHODOLOGY AND MATERIALS

The geospatial indicators of the North Yungas and the Făgăraş Geosystems were identified based on available satellite imagery, regional bio-geographical maps, social media assessment and WebGIS analysis. The *Cordillera Real* gravel roads network were explored on motorbikes and mountain bikes in April-May 2017 and April 2018.

We analyzed, assessed and digitally processed the North Yungas and Făgăraş Geosystems's natural and anthropogenic components. For both mountainous regions, the natural common attributes are represented by the towering peaks, deep valleys, steep rocky slopes and tumultuous river rapids. The anthropic interference with the mountains generated other standard characteristics such as rural settlements, passage roads, but also created the indigenous culture, which produced the unique functional attributes. Based on our Geosystem grounded theory where the inputs and outputs of matter, energy and information have to be constantly balanced in a dynamic equilibrium state, we used the Geomedia techniques to digitally transform and integrate all the relevant environmental components into virtual functional illustration of the analyzed geographical spaces (Mac, 1996). The field work of our exploratory research was carried out with Garmin GPS, Iphone8+ and Xiaomi Redmi 3S embedded geolocation systems for the data collection and spatial layers validation. The photos taken on the mountain trails registered the exchangeable image file (EXIF) data for the coordinate determination and mapping purposes.

The Geomedia technique incorporates the spatial geographical characteristics into virtual Geosystems where all the environmental components are interconnected. Following the human experience of the geographical space, the Geosystem's elements were synthetized and transformed into visual imagery structures (Park and Santos, 2017). Furthermore, the multi-scale modeling process required the components assessment and the different attributes recognition. According to Haidu (2016), when operating with information from various levels, the characteristics of the Geosystem's structure-components interrelation determination and the digital processing of geographical data is possible and generates the technical character of the research.

Google Maps[™] and Google Earth datasets of the Cordillera Real sections, Coroico and Coripata were utilised for maps creation. The descending mountain tracks were charted on orthophoto maps and vectorized using satellite images of 30 m resolution from Google Earth, ESRI, EarthStar Geographics and the international GIS user communities. The Geomedia technique approach to the mountain communities' development contributes to the identification, evaluation and valorisation of the existent natural and cultural resources. The Geosystem grounded theory is based on the *Death Road* phenomena whose functionality will be validated by the new technological advancements, regulated and coordinated by the social networks and the smartphone applications. Our research scope was to design Geomedia techniques able to extend the Yungas Geosystem's qualities and externalize its virtual representation functionalities.

### 3. RESULTS

Although the Bolivian North Yungas and Romania's Făgăraş region integrate the common functional characteristics of the world's mountains, the international tourists are attracted to the areas by a unique Geosystem attributes, generated by a cumulus of internal and external factors.

The Yungas Geosystem's special features were developed in time with the local and international media contribution, which amplified the hazardous factor associated with the specific rough geographical characteristics. Everywhere in the world, the creation of a future tourist site is fundamentally influenced by the media (Milne et al., 1998). Considering the physical challenges determined by the transition from altitudes of 4470 m in the Andes to 1000 m in the Amazon rainforest, the media virtual imagery was easily exaggerated. Before visiting a geographical location, people's mind generates *naïve* images about the place, built on collective conventional images (Cheriffi et al., 2014). The *Death Road* stereotypical image was constructed based on its unique functional attribute: dangerousness. The transformation of the most intriguing mountain road into a tourist site followed. The findings were evaluated; the North Yungas and the Făgăraş Geosystems attributes were determined and compared.

Formerly, there were no roads to the Yungas or the Amazon for motor vehicles, only routes on foot or "loin of beast", the best known was the path of "Choro". Apart from the Choro there are three other pre-Columbian roads, which are the Sillu Tinkara, the Huancané, and a third that leaves Challapampa. Currently covered by vegetation, each one has a rehabilitation project with no definite term. Despite being still used by automobile traffic, the

old road to Coroico, named "*El Camino de la Muerte*" due to the number of vehicles that fall from it every year, now serves as a mountain bike trail for hundreds of tourists per year, who pay between 40 and 60 US \$ for the service to La Paz agencies. At the same time, Coroico has become in recent years a visited tourist center that has a wide range of services, including accommodation, restaurants and outdoor activities (Coroico, 2018). Haukeland et al. (2010) argues that recreation could be a motivational factor for adventure tourism.

#### 3.1. The North Yungas Geosystem

The need to connect La Paz with the Yungas, an area located northeast of the La Paz city in the Central Andes, determined the road construction in a region dominated by dense wilderness, coca plantations and mountain ecosystems, in a very rainy climate and with frequent mists (Yungas, 2018).

*El Camino de la Muerte* is one of the most dangerous roads in the world, especially in the section that descends from *La Cumbre* (4470 m) to Yolosa for approximately 64 km, the average of vehicles descending to the abysses of 800 meters is more than two a month. Imboden (2012) emphasized the risks importance in adventure tourism, stating that the experiences offered have to be presented as safe and secure in order to be desired. In 1995, the Inter-American Development Bank named La Paz to Coroico route "the world's most dangerous road." The international media started to contribute to the tourist site creation. This road was built by Paraguayan prisoners during the Chaco War in the 1930s. It is one of the few routes that connect the Amazon rainforest in the north with the rest of the country, following the former Inca Choro trail (Chaco, 2009).

The tourist *Death Road* (DR) starts on tarmac from the highest La Paz- Choro connection route, altitude of 4470 m (Tarmac Road_DR) descending for 32 km up to the gravel road (GR) section (DR_GR). Usually accompanied by a tourist guide from La Paz agencies, the biker groups learn this section rule of driving and proceed for another 32 km on gravel to Yolosa small community, the *Death Road* end point (DR_GR_end) (**Fig. 1**).



Fig. 1. The North Yungas Geosystem's map with the *Death Road* extension (from Tarmac Road_DR to DR_GR_end).

It was once the only way of communication between the Amazon Coca farms and the La Paz highlands, this meant that there was a huge traffic of people and mechanisms in both directions, mainly trucks and heavy buses, which had to make difficult maneuvers to pass on the road and many fell into the abyss. This is how it got its name: "the route of death".

Because Paraguayan prisoners of the Chaco War (in the 1930s) were the ones who built the road and then were thrown into the void, a legend tells that the prisoners cursed this road and promised to take souls to death with them. The legend was born and the countless accidents explained through a local mystical approach. The new two-lane road has 54 bridges and a slope stabilization number (The Death Road, 2018). When driving on this road the left must be maintained, (it is the only place in Bolivia where vehicles are driven on the left side) so that the drivers from the left side are able to observe more easily the edge of the road, which in almost all crossing places is an abyss, which can reach in some places 800 m vertically. The law indicates that the driver who drives up the hill (in the direction of La Paz) has priority over the one that goes down (in the direction of Choro), so the vehicle that descends must stop when another one climbs. In 2011 there were a total of 114 accidents (the second route with the most incidents in Bolivia after the road between La Paz and Oruro), with a total of 42 deaths (Blind Worlds, 2017).

The danger posed by this route made it a popular tourist destination since the 1990s. In particular, mountain bike enthusiasts use it for its steep descents and the exquisite scenery of the 32 km long gravel road section, from DR_GR_start to DR_GR_end (**Fig. 2**).



Fig. 2. The Death Road gravel sectors start (DR_GR_start) and finish (DR_GR_end) points.

The *Death Road* model is defined by the gravel road section which represents the quintessence of the North Yungas Geosystem. As one descends the Northern mountain slopes from 3150 m (DR_GR_start) to 1200 m (DR_GR_end) in Yolosa, the tourist groups constitute the matter input in the Geosystem. They pay a 25 *Bolivianos* (\$us 3,50) fee at the local community checkpoint. La Paz travel agencies generate the Geosystem's energy, providing means of transportation to the geographical location. Small resorts spread in the *Río Coroico* valley, therefore, after the mountain bike descent, the tourists interact with the

locals, taste the local food and relax in the swimming pools before heading back to La Paz. The information flux is created on the social networks such as Instagram, Facebook and WhatsApp once the adventurers start sharing their experience. Although written details can be found in the LonelyPlanet, Fromer's, or Rough Guides pages, the modern tourists prefer the smartphone applications. Furthermore, the participants' opinion and pictures are counted and the virtual representations validated online by the reviews and rating systems (Ernawati et al., 2018).

Apart from *El Camino de la Muerte*, two other routes were identified in the North Yungas region. The first one is a gravel road that connects Suapi village to the *Río Coroico* main valley and the second represents an Inca paved route that starts from Coroico settlement and penetrates the mountain dense forest down to the same river valley.

The Suapi route follows a left Coroico river tributary and crosses spectacular mountain ridges from 1000 m to 1650 m altitude along a 16 km long dirt road. Small forest sections, Coca plantations, beautiful meadows and majestic waterfalls can be admired on this alternative adventure route. Small community households are scattered in the Suapi track vicinity, easing the potential future tourist-local inhabitant interaction (**Fig. 3**).



Fig. 3. The Suapi route potential development from Rio Coroico's Choro road.

The Inca route that connects Coroico with the homonym valley consists of a narrow mountain track paved with rounded riverbed rocks. The common functional attribute of this route is represented by the mountain steep slopes and dense tropical forest characteristics. Dangerous under rainy conditions because of the slippery rocks, the Inca route from Coroico to the Coroico river valley is one of the unexplored sections of the North Yungas region (**Fig. 4**).

The *Death Road* model offers a different approach to the cultural ecosystem services development opportunities, taking into account all the nonconsumptive outputs of the North Yungas Geosystem. The Bolivian people's comprehension of their Geosystem's unique attributes functionality is giving rise to the mountain inhabitants well-being.

## 3.2. The Făgăraș Geosystem

Romania's Făgăraş Mountains represent the country's highest range (2544 m on Moldoveanu Peak) forming a natural border between Transylvania and Walachia historical provinces. The Făgăraş Geosystem's common attributes are illustrated by the glaciated alpine mountain range with dense forests, flat top ridges, sharp edged peaks, cirques and small troughs (Martonne, 1917). The Romanian shepherds' annual migration from Transylvania to the South conducted to the Făgăraş Geosystem unique attribute conservation: the ancient Romanian habits and peculiar customs. It is the quintessence of the Romanian national identity, validated by the distinctive Latin language preservation throughout the centuries of barbaric invader waves (Martonne, 1917; Mac, 1996).



Fig. 4. The Inca trail from Coroico to Choro road down to the river valley.

The Transfăgărăşan road is considered a unique functional attribute of the Făgăraş Geosystem which facilitates the matter, energy and information fluxes. It was built between 1970 and 1974 for strategic reasons generated by the Russian military invasion of Czechoslovakia in 1968. The Romanian military deflagrated 6250 tons of dynamite to dislocate the massive rocks (Moceanu, 2017). It has the longest (887 m) high altitude tunnel (2045 m) that connects 80 km of dangerous mountain roads from the last Southern village of Căpătaneni to Cârtisoara in the North. It represents the world's best road trip according to Top Gear (TopGear, 2010; Transfăgărăşan, 2017; LosApos, 2018). The road construction works required 3.8 million tons of rock displacement, decreasing the shear strength of the slopes and triggering the dynamics of today's geomorphological processes (Urdea, 2000; Urdea et al., 2009). Chiroiu et al. (2016) used the tree-ring techniques for the Northern Făgăraș slope stability determination. Based on dendrochronological analysis and the aerial photographs they proved that the deforestation activities associated to the Transfăgărășan road construction activated rockfalls and avalanches, unbalancing the Geosystem's natural equilibrium. On the 17th of April 1977 an avalanche killed 19 kids from Brukental Lyceum in Balea Lake.



Fig. 5. The Transfăgărășan road from Poienari Castle to Cârtisoara village.

Many human lives were lost along the Transfăgărăşan route (**Fig. 5**), before, during and after the road construction. Căpătaneni's village name (*căpătani* meaning heads) is related to the bloody Posada battle from 1330s and the considerable number of skulls with fighting helmets found into the local grounds. The fights with Mehmet II Fatih throughout the year of 1462 determined Vlad Tepes's wife to throw herself from a Poienari Citadel window thus generating the legend of *Raul Doamnei* (Lady's River). Bram Stoker's Dracula character was inspired by Vlad Tepes (the Impaler), the cruel Walachian prince (LosApos, 2018; Ernawati et al., 2018).The Transfăgărăşan cultural ecosystem benefits are associated with the Romanian national identity and the *miorita* (the little ewe) space. *Miorita* is an ancient pastoral ballad that defines the Romanian people's strong attachment to the mountains (Babuts, 2000). The Romanian policy makers should focus more on people rights to explore the mountain gravel road networks and facilitate the development of cultural ecosystem services as services that integrate human built structures, individuals and social capital to initiate recreation and cultural distinctiveness production.

#### 3.3. Descending recreational activities and locals livelihood

Our research offers comprehensive recommendations for the Romanian policy makers regarding the cultural ecosystem services and for the Bolivian government to extend the *Death Road* recreational model to other descending routes from the Yungas region. Our

study proposes modern solutions for the local communities' future development in terms of new technology trend awareness and adoption.

The Yolosa, *Río Selva*, Coroico, Căpătaneni and Cârtisoara young hosts are aware of the local assets potential to be developed as tourism attractions. Smartphones technological advancements facilitate digital processing of any asset images. A photo can be transformed into a designed composition using the golden ratio mean. The better framed images are needed to transmit the locals' message to the international viewers. Any community asset image with the golden ratio is considerably better handled by the human mind. The brain sends the message that such an image is aesthetically pleasing (Patkar, 2015).

Analyzing the Airbnb phenomenon, Ert et al. (2016) emphasized the image relevance for the internet website credibility construction, demonstrating the Geosystem's virtual imagery efficiency. The geographical space personalization with distinctive photos in transforming any Geosystem's image, increases the Airbnb's platform authenticity and functionality. Tussyadiah and Pesonen (2016) pointed out the local community's importance in the host-guests social relationships. Sigala (2017) claims that Airbnb is leading the world's peer to peer accommodation system. Due to the modern smartphone application reviews and ratings, the North Yungas and the Făgăraş Geosystems' virtual image will attract more tourists, encouraging the local inhabitants to become superhosts and improve their livelihood (Wang and Nicolau, 2017; Liang et al., 2017; Gunter, 2018).

The *Death Road* and Transfăgărăşan are considered dangerous and untamed roads. Their stereotypical collective images have the same unique functional attributes that can be valorized in the future. Moreover, the Făgăraş Geosystem's access routes to the main mountain ridge can develop cultural ecosystem services due to their richness in specific customs and ancient Romanian traditions. If developed accordingly, the Suapi route, the Inca's paved trail from Coroico to the river valley and the Coripata-Rio Beni gravel road can considerably contribute to the local inhabitants' income increase in the future. The smartphone application advancements allow direct contact between tourists and community members, without La Paz travel agencies as intermediaries. In addition to the mountain biking experience, complementary activities such as whitewater rafting, canyoning, wild temperate forest or jungle exploration should be offered in order to keep tourist for another day in the region. Moreover, the local households can be adjusted and transformed to become exquisite Airbnb accommodations and provide extra-income.

#### 4. DISCUSSION

The world's mountains represent elaborate eco-social Geosystems where biodiversity has to be protected and the recreational activities developed in a sustainable way (Eriksson et al., 2012; Lai et al., 2016; Voda et al., 2017). Our developed Geomedia technique identifies the valuable assets of a geographical place evaluating the natural and cultural resources from a Geosystemic approach. The common and unique functionality of the Geosystem's attributes were analyzed from a dynamic equilibrium perspective. The Geomedia means of promoting the natural and cultural values of a place should significantly increase the North Yungas locals experience in terms of balancing the conservation and recreational activities (Lai et al., 2016; Voda and Negru, 2015). Currently, the South American *Death Road* appears to be one of the world's most famous mountain bike descending route (**Fig. 6**) (Ridersmate, 2016; Verity, 2016). The cultural ecosystem services can provide benefits for the rural inhabitants of Căpătaneni and Cârtisoara villages situated in the Transfăgărășan proximity just as the *Death Road* is sustaining the benefits for the North Yungas

Geosystem's locals. The collective imagery of the North Yungas and the Făgăraş Geosystems was created with the social networks sharing capacity to maintain the information fluxes between the virtual and the real geographical spaces (Voda et al., 2014; Colvin et al., 2015). The social media contribution to the internet community building is undeniable, representing a place where the geographical locations virtual images are developed (Wheaton et al., 2016). Although it has been suggested that tourists flow can destroy the environmental physical capacity of support, it is generally agreed that the modern technology advancements can regulate and organize the information, matter and energy fluxes using the online smartphone applications.



Fig. 6. The Death Road virtual image (Coripata-left and Coroico-right).

The *Death Road* frame model implementation in Transfăgărășan or other North Yungas Geosystem's areas such as Suapi or Coripata has advantages and potential disadvantages. Community-based tourism success could reduce social inequality, encouraging the local inhabitants' identity expression and development. On the other hand, supplementary costs intervene when a local household is transformed into an Airbnb accommodation. Alternatively, biodiversity destruction might constitute a threat to the mountain ecosystem's integrity. Overall, the community's benefits are considered more valuable in most cases.

It is generally agreed that mountains are generating cultural values for humans. Firstly, the Romanian public access to the Fagaraş Geosystem's mountain roads should be granted. Babuts (2000) emphasized the significant impact that *Miorița* virtual space has had on the Romanian psyche. Their value of wellbeing comes from seeing the mountain streams, the glacier lakes, the untamed scenic views. Secondly, the viewing sites placement and picnic areas establishment is compulsory. Thirdly, an integrated management and controlling system based on a collaboration among the local administration, the regional forest service, police enforcements and protected areas authorities need to be implemented.

Compared to the Romanian restrictive mountain laws, the Bolivian policy makers seem to better understand the positive effects of the cultural ecosystem services development in the North Yungas Geosystem.

#### 5. CONCLUSIONS

Our main finding prove that any community can use Geomedia tools to create the virtual imagery of their living environment, scientifically illustrated through intelligently constructed photography of the Geosystem's unique functional attributes. In the North Yungas, for example, the cultural goods are essentialized through the *Death Road* organized recreational activities, Yolosa, Rio Selva and Coroico locally produced food and drinks.

The impressive technological evolution availability and the recent smartphone applications advancements based on the GPS capabilities for the geo-location and photos geotagging, support the semantic connotation identification of the special Geosystem's assets. The North Yungas and the Făgăraş Geosystems' cultural ecosystem services benefits such as spiritual enrichment or aesthetic experiences are generating unquantifiable value and a different sense of wellbeing for the visitors that is indirectly reflected on the locals' welfare. The research results can be applied not only in the Făgăraş for the Transfăgărăşan route development or in the North Yungas region to extend the mountain bike descending routes from Coroico to Coripata, down to the Beni river valley, but anywhere in the world's mountains, allowing the creation of the *Death Road* type recreational frameworks for the benefit of the poorest communities. The cultural ecosystem services development helped to the formation of a unique *Death Road* identity that can be reframed in other geographical locations.

There are a number of limitations to be considered, given the technical challenges of the Geosystem's identity creation processes: one would be the North Yungas and the Făgăraş communities' specialized education in terms of sustainability and environmental balance maintenance between biodiversity conservation and recreational activities development, another, the poor access to technology. The sustainability of ecosystem services in the natural North Yungas Geosystem are not encumbered by governmental policy schemes such as Romanian Forest Law that forbids public access into the mountain gravel roads (Forest Law, 2015). Bolivia is progressing to assisting its impoverished rural inhabitants adopting various development programs to alleviate poverty (Fredette, 2017; World Bank, 2018).

Further research is required to analyze the local authorities' managerial capabilities of effectively coordinate sustainable recreation activities in the Cordillera Real and Făgăraş Mountains for their own community welfare. The Bolivian authorities should make the North Yungas Geosystem a focus of attention and properly valorize the potential of its unique attributes in the future.

## REFERENCES

- Babuts, N., (2000). 'Miorita': A Romanian Ballad in a Homeric Perspective. A *Quaterly Journal in Modern Literatures*, 54, 3-15, https://doi.org/10.1080/00397700009598285.
- Baiocchi, V., Constantino, D., & Vatore, F., (2017). Suitability of Averaging GPS/GNSS Paths to Build Geometrically Correct Digital Road. *Geographia Technica*, 12 (2), 1-9.
- Beedie, P., (2003). Mountain guiding and adventure tourism: reflections on the choreography of the experience. *Leisure Studies*, 22:2, 147-167.
- Blind Worlds, (2017). Accidents on Death Road. [Online]. https://www.blindworlds.com/publicacion/39405 [Accessed 24 December 2017].
- Boyd, J., & Banzhaf, S., (2007). What are ecosystem services? The need for standardized environmental accounting units. *Ecol. Econo.*, 63, 616–626.
- Buhalis, D., & Law, R., (2008). Progress in tourism management: Twenty years on and 10 years after the internet: The state of eTourism research. *Tourism Management*, 29(4), 609–623.
- Camino de la Muerte, (2009). Diariomotor. [Online]. https://www.diariomotor.com/2009/06/24/los-yungas-la-carretera-mas-peligrosa-del-mundo [Accessed 15 April 2018].
- Chaco, (2009). Paraguyan prisoners building The Death Road. [Online]. http://www.cosasexclusivas.com/2009/06/la-carretera-de-la-muerte-en-bolivia.html [Accessed 5 May 2018].
- Cherifi, B., Smith, A., Maitland, R., & Stevenson, N., (2014). Destination images of non-visitors. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 49, 190-202.

- Colvin, R.M., Witt, G.B., & Lacey, J., (2015). The social identity approach to understanding socio-political conflict in environmental and natural resources management. *Glob. Environ. Change* 34, 237–246.
- Coroico, (2018). Tourism development in the Yungas Norte. [Online].
- http://www.parkswatch.org/parkprofiles/pdf/conp_spa.pdf. [Accessed 3 May 2018].
- Chiroiu, P., Ardelean, A.C., Onaca, A., Voiculescu, M., & Ardelean, F. (2016). Assessing the antrophogenic impact on geomorphic processes using tree-rings: a case study in the Făgăraş Mountains (Romanian Carpathians). *Carpathian Journal of Earth and Env.Sci.*, 11/1, 27-36.
- Dickinson, J.E., Ghali, K., Cherrett, T., Speed, C., Davies, N., & Norgate, S., (2014). Tourism and the smartphone app: capabilities, emerging practice and scope in the travel domain. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 17(1), 84-101.
- Eriksson, L., Nordlund, A.M., Olsson, O., & Westin, K., (2012). Recreation in Different Fores Settings: A Scene Preference Study. *Forests*, *3*, 923–943.
- Ernawati, N.M., Torpan, A., & Voda, M., (2018). Geomedia role for mountain routes tourism development. Mesehe and Pisoiu Waterfall comparative study. *Geographia Technica*, 13 (1), 41-51.
- Ert, E., Fleischer, A., & Magen, N., (2016). Trust and reputation in the sharing economy: The role of personal photos in Airbnb, *Tourism Management*, 55, 62-73.
- Fish, R., Church, A., & Winter, M., (2016). Conceptualising cultural ecosystem services: A novel framework for research and critical engagement, *Ecosyst. Serv.*, 21, 208–2017.
- Forest Law 133, (2015). Motorised public acces into the National Forest Fund. [Online].http://www.dreptonline.ro/legislatie/legea_133_2015_modificare_lege_46_2008_codul _silvic.php, [Accessed 12 April 2017].
- Fredette, C., (2017). Four reasons why Bolivia is poor. https://borgenproject.org/reasons-why-bolivia-is-poor/, [Accessed 10 August 2017].
- Goeft, U., & Alder, J., (2001). Sustainable mountain biking: A case study from the Southwest of Western Australia. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 9(3), 193–210.
- Gunter, U., (2018]. What makes an Airbnb host a superhost? Empirical evidence from San Francisco and the Bay Area. *Tourism Management*, 66, 26-37.
- Haidu, I. (2016). What Is Technical Geography. Geographia Technica, 11(1), 1-5. DOI: 10.21163/GT_2016.111.01
- Haukeland, J.V., Grue, B., & Veisten, K., (2010). Turning national parks into tourist attractions: Nature orientation and quest for facilities. Scand. Journ. of Hos. and Tour., 10(3), 248–271.
- Imboden, A., (2012). Between Risk and Comfort: Representations of Adventure Tourism in Sweden and Switzerland. *Scand. Journ. of Hos. and Tour.*, 12:4, 310-323.
- Inal, C., Kocak, O., Esen, O., Bulbul, S., & Kizgut, R., (2017). Surveying and Mapping using Mobile Phone in Archaeological Settlements. *Geographia Technica*, 12 (2), 82-96.
- Kumar, M., & Kumar, P., (2008). Valuation of the ecosystem services: A psychocultural perspective. *Ecol. Econo.*, 64, 808–819.
- Lai, P.S.; Hsu, Y.C.; & Wearing, S., (2016). A social representation approach to facilitating adaptive co-management in mountain destinations managed for conservation and recreation. J. Sustain. Tour., 24, 227–244.
- Lapenta, F. (2011). Geomedia: on location-based media, the changing status of collective image production and the emergence of social navigation systems, *Visual Studies*, 26:1, 14-24.
- Lew, A.A., & Cheer, J., (2018). Lessons Learned: Globalization, Change, and Resilience in Tourism Communities. In J. Cheer and A.A. Lew, editors. Tourism, Resilience, and Sustainability: Adapting to Social, Political and Economic Change, 319-323. London: Routledge.
- Liang, S., Schuckert, M., Law, R., & Chen, C. C., (2017). Be a "Superhost": The importance of badge systems for peer-to-peer rental accommodations. *Tourism Management*, 60, 454-465.
- LosApos. (2018). Transfăgărășan: world's best road trip according to Top Gear. [Online]. http://www.losapos.com/Transfăgărășan, [Accessed on 4 June 2018].
- Mac, I., (1996). Geomorfosfera și geomorfosistemele, Editura Presa Universitară Clujeană, Cluj Napoca.

- Martínez-Graña, A.M., Serrano, L., González-Delgado, J.A., Dabrio, C.J., & Legoinha, P., (2017). Sustainable geotourism using digital technologies along a rural georoute in Monsagro (Salamanca, Spain), *Int.J.Dig.Earth.*, 10:2, 121-138.
- Martonne, E. (1917). The Carpathians: Physiographic Features Controlling Human Geography, *Geographical Review*, 3(6), 417-437, DOI: 10.2307/207688.
- MEA. (2005). Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. In *Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis*; Island Press:Washington, DC, USA.
- Milne, S., Grekin, J., & Woodley, S. (1998). Tourism and the Construction of Place in Canada's Eastern Arctic. In *Destinations: Cultural Landscapes of Tourism*, ed. Greg Ringer (London, Routledge), 101–120.
- Moceanu, R. (2017). Documentar: Transfăgărășanul- drumul nostru prin paradis, [Online]. http://www.rador.ro/2017/09/20/documentar-Transfăgărășanul-drumul-nostru-prin-paradis/, [Accessed on 3 December 2017].
- Morckel, V., & Terzano, K., (2014). The influence of travel attitudes, commute mode choice, and perceived neighborhood characteristics on physical activity. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 11(1), 91–98.
- Newsome, D., & Davies, Claire, (2009). A case study in estimating the area of informal trail development and associated impacts caused by mountain bike activity in John Forrest National Park, Western Australia. *Journ. of Ecot.*, 8:3, 237-253.
- Nicoara, Monica Elena & Haidu, I., (2011). Creation of the roads network as a network data set within a geodatabase. *Geographia Technica*, 9(2), 81-86.
- Park, S., & Santos, C.A., (2017). Exploring the Tourist Experience: A Sequential Approach. Jour. of Trav. Res., 56(1) 16–27.
- Patkar, M., (2015). Using the Golden Ratio in Photography for Better Composition. [Online]. https://www.makeuseof.com/tag/golden-ratio-photography/, July 23, 2015, [Accessed 12 August 2015].
- Ridersmate, (2016). 6 of the Best: Our Favorites Extreme Mountain Bike Trails. [Online]. https://www.ridersmate.com/6-of-the-best-our-favourite-extreme-mountain-bike-trails/, [Accessed 15 March 2016].
- Sanna, S., & Eja, P., (2017). Recreational cultural ecosystem services: How do people describe the value? *Ecosyst. Serv.*, 26, 1–9.
- Schwanen, T., & Kwan, M-P., (2008). The Internet, Mobile-phone and Space-time Constraints, Geoforum, 39 (3) 1362-1377.
- Sherrouse, B.C., Clement, J.M., & Semmens, D.J., (2011). A GIS application for assessing, mapping, and quantifying the social values of ecosystem services. *Appl.Geogr.* 31, 748–760.
- Sigala, M., (2017). Collaborative commerce in tourism: Implications for research and industry. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 20, 346-355.
- Sil, A., Rodrigues, A.P., Carvalho-Santos, C., Nunes, J.P., Honrado, J., Alonso, J., Marta-Pedroso, C., & Azevedo, J.C., (2016). Trade-offs and synergies between provisioning and regulating Ecosystem Services in a mountain area in Portugal affected by landscape change. Mt. Res. Dev. 36, 452–464.
- The Death Road, (2018). Biker informations. [Online]. http://www.freebikesbolivia.com/index.php/es/varios/historia-del-camino-de-la-muerte [Accessed 8 March 2018].
- Transfăgărășan. (2017). Povestea trista a Transfăgărășanului, 20.09.2017, www.descopera.ro [Accessed 8 November 2017].
- Tussyadiah, I.P., & Pesonen, J., (2016). Impacts of Peer-to-Peer Accommodation Use on Travel Patterns. Journal of Travel Research, 55(8) 1022–1040.
- UN DESA. (2017). United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs/Population Division. International Migration Report 2017. [Online]. www.un.org/en/development/MigrationReport2017 [Accessed 14 January 2018].
- UNDP. (2016). United Nations Development Programme. Human Development Reports. [Online].http://hdr.undp.org/en/home [Accessed 12 May 2017].

- Urdea P., (2000). The geomorphological risk in Transfăgărășan Highway area. *Studia Geomorphologica Carpatho-Balcanica*, Vol.XXXIV.
- Urdea, P., Török-Oance, M., Ardelean, M., Vuia, F., & Voiculescu, M., (2009). Geomorphological aspects of the human impact in the alpine area of the Southern Carpathians (Romania). *Croatian Geographic Bulletin* (71), No.1, 19-31.
- Yungas, (2018). La Paz connection to The Yungas Region. [Online]. http://blog.global-exchange.com/camino-de-la-muerte-bolivia/ [Accessed 11 March 2018].
- Verity, Rachel, (2016). From the gnarly to the near impossible could you handle any of these? 7 of the scariest bike trails in the world, 3 May 2016. [Online]. https://www.redbull.com/se-en/7-of-the-scariest-mountain-bike-trails-in-the-world, [Accessed 5 May 2016].
- Voda, M., (2013). The role of Geospatial Technologies, Geographic Information and ICT in promoting rural communities sustainable development in Transylvania. Acade. Sci. J. Geogr. Series, 3, 90– 95.
- Voda, M., Moldovan, L., Torpan, A., & Henning, A., (2014). Using GIS for mountain wild routes assessment in order to qualify them for tourism valorisation. *Geographia Technica*, 9, 101–108.
- Voda, M., & Negru, R., (2015). Geomedia role in Mures Valley Castles tourism development between Ogra and Brancovenesti. Acad. Sci. J. Geogr. Ser. 6, 63–70.
- Voda, M., Torpan, A., & Moldovan, L., (2017). Wild Carpathia Future Development: From Illegal Deforestation to ORV Sustainable Recreation. Sustainability, 9(2254), 1-11.
- Walter, J., (1982). Social limits to tourism, Leisure Studies, 1, 295-304.
- Wang, D., & Nicolau, J.L., (2017). Price determinants of sharing economy based accommodation rental: A study of listings from 33 cities on. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 62, 120-131.
- Webber, P., (2007). Managing mountain biking, IMBA's guide to providing great riding. Boulder, CO, USA: International Mountain Bicycling Association.
- Wescott, F., & Andrew, M.E., (2015). Spatial and environmental patterns of off-road vehicle recreation in a semi-arid woodland. *Appl. Geogr.*, 62, 79–106.
- Wheaton, M., Ardoin, N.M., Hunt, C., Schuh, J.S., Kresse, M., Menke, C., & Durham, W., (2016). Using web and mobile technology to motivate pro-environmental action after a nature-based tourism experience. J. Sustain. Tour., 24, 594–615.
- Wimpey, J., & Marion, J.L., (2011). A spatial exploration of informal trail networks within Great Falls Park, VA. J. Environ. Manag., 92, 1012–1022.
- Winters, M., Davidson, G., Kao, D., & Teschke, K., (2011). Motivators and deterrents of bicycling: Comparing influences on decisions to ride. *Transportation*, 38(1), 153–168.
- World Bank, (2018). The World Bank in Bolivia. [Online].http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/bolivia [Accessed 5 May 2018].
- Zheng, Y-T., Zha, Z-J., & Chua, T-S., (2010). Research and applications on georeferenced multimedia: a survey. Multimedia Tools Applications, 51, 77–98.

# Aims and Scope

**Geographia Technica** is a journal devoted to the publication of all papers on all aspects of the use of technical and quantitative methods in geographical research. It aims at presenting its readers with the latest developments in G.I.S technology, mathematical methods applicable to any field of geography, territorial micro-scalar and laboratory experiments, and the latest developments induced by the measurement techniques to the geographical research.

**Geographia Technica** is dedicated to all those who understand that nowadays every field of geography can only be described by specific numerical values, variables both oftime and space which require the sort of numerical analysis only possible with the aid of technical and quantitative methods offered by powerful computers and dedicated software.

Our understanding of *Geographia Technica* expands the concept of technical methods applied to geography to its broadest sense and for that, papers of different interests such as: G.I.S, Spatial Analysis, Remote Sensing, Cartography or Geostatistics as well as papers which, by promoting the above mentioned directions bring a technical approach in the fields of hydrology, climatology, geomorphology, human geography territorial planning are more than welcomed provided they are of sufficient wide interest and relevance.

## Targeted readers:

The publication intends to serve workers in academia, industry and government. Students, teachers, researchers and practitioners should benefit from the ideas in the journal.

## **Guide for Authors**

## Submission

Articles and proposals for articles are accepted for consideration on the understanding that they are not being submitted elsewhere.

The publication proposals that satisfy the conditions for originality, relevance for the new technical geography domain and editorial requirements, will be sent by email to the address editorial-secretary@technicalgeography.org.

This page can be accessed to see the requirements for editing an article, and also the articles from the journal archive found on www.technicalgeography.org can be used as a guide.

## Content

In addition to full-length research contributions, the journal also publishes Short Notes, Book reviews, Software Reviews, Letters of the Editor. However the editors wish to point out that the views expressed in the book reviews are the personal opinion of the reviewer and do not necessarily reflect the views of the publishers.

Each year two volumes are scheduled for publication. Papers in English or French are accepted. The articles are printed in full color. A part of the articles are available as full text on the www.technicalgeography.org website. The link between the author and reviewers is mediated by the Editor.

## **Peer Review Process**

The papers submitted for publication to the Editor undergo an anonymous peer review process, necessary for assessing the quality of scientific information, the relevance to the technical geography field and the publishing requirements of our journal.

The contents are reviewed by two members of the Editorial Board or other reviewers on a simple blind review system. The reviewer's comments for the improvement of the paper will be sent to the corresponding author by the editor. After the author changes the paper according to the comments, the article is published in the next number of the journal.

Eventual paper rejections will have solid arguments, but sending the paper only to receive the comments of the reviewers is discouraged. Authors are notified by e-mail about the status of the submitted articles and the whole process takes about 3-4 months from the date of the article submission.

Indexed by: CLARIVATE ANALYTICS SCOPUS GEOBASE EBSCO SJR CABELL

> ISSN: 1842 - 5135 (Print) ISSN: 2065 - 4421 (Online)



